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• Platinum sales of 726,918 ounces, PGM sales of 1,401,371 ounces

• Mine production of 732,125 ounces of Platinum and 1,376,645
ounces of total PGMs in concentrate

• Underlying EBIT* of $963 million, up 20.9% from 2007

• Underlying earnings per share* of 351.9c, up 18.9% from 2007

• Strong cash generation with free cash flow of $264 million

• Revenue of $2,231 million, up 14.9% from 2007

• Net debt reduced to $303 million

2008 Features

Underlying EBIT*
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Free cash flow

* Underlying EBIT and earnings is calculated on profit for the year excluding special items, as noted on page 63
of this Report

** Lost time injury frequency rate, as measured per million man hours worked, is a key safety performance indicator
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02 Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,
I am writing to you against a backdrop of extraordinary
conditions in both the credit and commodity markets,
which have created exceptional challenges for the
mining industry.

Market Overview
Along with other commodities, the pricing environment
for PGMs has changed dramatically during the year.

In the early part of the year, Platinum pricing
peaked at around US$2,200 in March 2008, mainly
as a result of supply side challenges arising from the
on-going power supply concerns and the growing
number of industry safety stoppages, alongside a
strong demand environment. However, the Platinum
price declined significantly from its peak to around
US$1,000 per ounce at the end of September 2008
and has since fallen to much lower levels. This steep
fall in prices was, we believe, mainly a result of the
increasingly negative outlook for the automotive sector
and the forced liquidation of investment holdings.
Whilst we expect the pricing environment to continue
to be unpredictable in the short term, we are confident
that the positive balance between supply and
demand in the PGM sector will return in due course.

The cost situation in South Africa continued to
worsen during the year, with inflation in the mining
sector for both operating costs and capital projects
continuing to accelerate. Lonmin remains one of the
lowest cost producers of PGMs and we are focusing
on both productivity and cost saving initiatives to
ensure we retain this low cost advantage against the
backdrop of short term weak metal prices.

Board Changes
At the end of the financial year, Ian Farmer was
appointed as Lonmin’s new Chief Executive Officer.
Ian has been with the Company for over 20 years and
has extensive knowledge of the Platinum industry, as
well as significant experience within the South African
environment. The Board is confident that Ian is the
right person to lead Lonmin through the next stage
of our development.

Ian has overseen an initial review of the operations
focusing on improving performance and maximising
value for Lonmin shareholders. This review has
identified a number of opportunities, which are being
energetically pursued, for reducing our cost base and
rationalising our operations. This will ensure that we
are only mining ounces which are profitable and that
our cost base is right-sized accordingly. Ian has also
streamlined our management structure to give greater
focus to the operational areas and ensure that the
operations have much greater control over and
accountability for central services. In his first Chief
Executive’s Review in this Annual Report, Ian has
outlined the actions he is taking to re-establish
Lonmin’s credibility through delivery of its production
commitments.

I would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to Brad Mills for his contribution to the
Company since 2004. During this period, we were
awarded our New Order Mining Licence for our
Marikana operations, we achieved and maintained a
world class safety record and significantly advanced
our sustainability credentials.

Xstrata plc
Towards the end of the financial year Xstrata plc
announced a proposed pre-conditional offer for
Lonmin. However, Xstrata later withdrew its proposal,
citing uncertainty in the financial markets. Consequently,
despite the material distraction caused to the business
as a result of this situation, no offer capable of
acceptance was put to Lonmin’s Board or shareholders.

Dividend
Although we have reported significant profits for
2008, our profitability and cash flows are highly
geared to PGM prices and we enter 2009 with prices
of PGMs considerably below those prevailing during
2008. As a result, our profitability and cash flows will
come under pressure despite the Company taking
immediate measures to address its cost base.

Our balance sheet remains strong and our lines
of credit are secure. Our confidence in the longer
term potential of Lonmin, the quality of its assets and
the excellent fundamentals of the PGM industry
remains unchanged.

The main focus of the Lonmin management team
has been on starting to address the operational
challenges which have impacted our ability to
deliver our targeted production.
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However, the Board has reviewed the final
dividend for the 2008 financial year and, given the
continuing difficulties in both the PGM and credit
markets, it is right that a conservative stance is taken.
In light of this and, despite our sound financial
position, a decision has been taken to pass the final
dividend. An interim dividend for 2008 of 59 cents per
share was paid on 8 August 2008 which, with no final
dividend, will become the total dividend for the year.

The Board will review this matter and will resume
dividend payments as soon as conditions allow.
Our policy remains that dividend distributions are
based on the reported earnings for the year, but
take into account the projected cash requirements
of the business.

Outlook
Recent unprecedented developments in world
financial and economic markets have had a
substantial impact on PGM and other commodity
prices and we expect these volatile conditions to
continue in the short term.

However, the Board is confident that Lonmin,
with its high quality asset base, low cost position
and strong balance sheet, will be able to withstand
these short term pressures. Our liquidity position is
sound, our gearing is 12% and our banking
relationships remain strong and secure. In addition,
the action plans we are implementing will ensure the
Company will be in a strong position when the PGM
markets recover.

The long term demand
fundamentals for Platinum and
other PGMs remain attractive
and the Board’s primary focus
continues to be on delivering
value for all our shareholders.

Sir John Craven
Chairman

For the 2009 financial year, we are targeting
Platinum sales to be broadly in line with that achieved
in the 2008 financial year. We are targeting our Rand-
based gross operating costs for the year to increase
at a rate well below South African inflation and capital
spend of $250 million for the financial year.

The long term demand fundamentals for Platinum
and other PGMs remain attractive and the Board’s
key priority continues to be delivering value for all our
shareholders, through improving our operational
performance and creating a culture of delivery.

Employees/Partners
I would like to thank the management and employees
of Lonmin for their hard work and dedication during
what has been an exceptionally challenging twelve
months.

Finally, we look forward to continuing to work
closely with Incwala Resources, our Black Economic
Empowerment partner, in which we hold a 24% stake.

Sir John Craven
Chairman

17 November 2008
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04 Chief Executive’s Review

Dear Shareholders,
It is a great privilege to be giving my first Review as
Chief Executive Officer of Lonmin. Lonmin is a unique
business with high quality long life assets. However, the
Company has struggled with a number of challenges
and has been performing below its potential.

2008 has been a difficult year with cost escalation
throughout the year and challenging market
conditions in the latter part of the year putting
pressure on our margins and cash generation.

With this in mind, I have conducted a review of
our operations, primarily focusing on improving
performance, reducing costs and maximising the
value of our assets.

In this letter, I will discuss the following:

• The Past: the internal and external issues
encountered during 2008;

• The Present: our immediate focus areas and the
action plans we are implementing to ensure Lonmin
delivers consistent, low cost production; and

• The Future: our long term potential includes a
range of growth options which can supplement
our core Marikana operations.

The Past – issues impacting 2008
Although we saw encouraging signs of operational
improvements towards the end of the year, overall
our production and cost performance in 2008 was
disappointing. This was the result of both internal and
external factors.

Our Mining business has suffered from a lack of
mine ore reserve development. This impacted our
production during the year and will continue to do so
in 2009, as we continue to accelerate ore reserve
development to address this issue. In addition, our
operating systems were poorly implemented, resulting
in weak planning, production control and forecasting.
Most importantly, productivity has been below our
expectations, primarily at our mechanised shafts.

Across the Process Division, there has been a
renewed focus on optimising recoveries which, in
recent years, have been below historical levels. We
have also struggled to release stock from the system.
This has been a key factor in our missed production
guidance and has adversely affected our working
capital. This will be an area of focus for us in 2009.

In addition, our organisational structure has
become overly complex with too many layers of
management and poorly implemented shared services
structure, which resulted in overhead duplication.

Lonmin, along with the rest of the mining industry,
was impacted during the year by the electricity supply
situation in South Africa, with an industry-wide
shutdown in January as well as a rationing of our
energy consumption to 95% of normal levels.
However, we have been successfully managing the
business at this level of energy consumption for
around five months now.

Another key external factor during the year was
the increased emphasis on mine safety by the
government, evidenced by the growing prevalence of
safety closures across the industry. We fully support
this renewed focus on safety by the government and
we expect this focus to be maintained in 2009. Safe
working practices remain a key priority for Lonmin and
we recorded another excellent safety performance in
2008, more details of which can be found in the
Review of Operations on page 7 of this Report.

Workforce-related issues were also prevalent
throughout the industry in South Africa. There were
three one day national strikes in the 2008 financial
year. The shortage of skilled workers in South Africa
has also been an issue, as international markets and
significant national infrastructure projects attract
resources.

The Present – immediate priorities and actions
We intend to take steps to entrench our low cost
position.

Short term market conditions will lead to structural
shifts within the Platinum industry
As outlined in the Chairman’s Review, cost inflation was
ever present in 2008, whilst the pricing environment
worsened towards the end of the financial year. PGM
prices are now some way below the cash cost of
production for a significant proportion of the industry
and the longer this situation prevails, the more
companies, including Lonmin, will need to take action
to protect their financial position. We anticipate a sharp
decline in investment in the industry in the short term,
which could include shaft closures and moth-balling,
resulting in reduction or deferment in the supply of
PGMs. This increases the possibility of a rebound in
pricing once sentiment and markets improve.

I have conducted a review of our operations,
primarily focusing on improving performance,
reducing costs and maximising the value of
our assets.
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With these structural shifts in mind, my first priority
has been to look for ways to improve our operational
performance, with an emphasis on consistent, low
cost production. I have therefore restructured key
parts of the business, with a view to aggressively
cutting and better managing costs, while at the same
time increasing management’s focus on delivery
against plans. Actions taken include the following:

• Eliminating non-value adding ounces: we have
reviewed the contribution from our underground
business on a shaft-by-shaft basis and we intend
to initiate consultations with our workforce and
the unions in relation to the future of operations
at our Limpopo property, which we believe are
uneconomic. Currently production from Limpopo
is included in our 2009 guidance. We have also
taken the decision to suspend production from
our opencast operations at Marikana with effect
from the end of the 2008 calendar year;

• Mechanisation strategy changed: we have failed
to significantly improve productivity from our two
fully mechanised shafts and, given the resultant
high cost of production, we have taken the
decision to change our approach. We are
switching to hybrid mining at Saffy shaft, where
we are introducing conventional stoping methods,
whilst maintaining mechanised development. This
change will be completed during the course of
2009 and is likely to cause an initial, short term
dip in output from this shaft. We have also
concluded that K4 shaft will be developed as a
hybrid mine when it comes into production in
2010. This is due to the nature of the ore body
and the experience gained from our investment in
mechanisation to date. Hossy shaft will continue to
be run as a fully mechanised shaft as we continue
to work hard to achieve satisfactory levels of
productivity. We will review the performance of
Hossy shaft in September 2009 if it becomes
apparent that we are not able to achieve
productivity of 1500 square metres per month
per suite of equipment;

• Reducing costs, managing cash and capital
rationing: a restructuring team, led by Mian Khalil,
Executive Vice President Capital Programmes,
has been established to review our cost structure.
We have implemented a series of initiatives to
restrict spending, including a freeze on all
recruitment. We have also taken the decision to
halve our exploration expenditure. This spend level
protects the value of our portfolio. We will continue
to work with our joint venture partners and we will
allocate less cost to our wholly-owned projects in
the short term. In addition, we have reviewed our
capital expenditure programmes throughout the
business. As a result, our capital expenditure
programme will be primarily focused on mine
development at Marikana and obligatory spend
at our Process Division. We have placed all other
growth projects on a care and maintenance basis;

• Simplified organisational structure with clear
accountability: we have simplified our organisational
structure to bring greater management focus and
to give the operations more ownership of the
functions required to ensure effective and efficient
delivery. To achieve this, we have re-allocated
responsibility for the Shared Business Service
functions to line managers within the Mining,
Process and Finance Divisions. This will simplify
our management structure and help remove any
duplication. Furthermore, to enable greater
accountability in each area of the business, I have
appointed Mahomed Seedat as our new Chief
Operating Officer with overall responsibility for the
operations in South Africa, reporting to me. Chris
Sheppard, Executive Vice President, Mining and
Theuns de Bruyn, Executive Vice President,
Process Division now report to Mahomed.
Together with Mahomed, Alan Ferguson, Chief
Financial Officer, and Albert Jamieson, Executive
Vice President, Commercial, make up my three
direct reports and divisional heads;

Our key priority is to focus
on our Marikana asset base,
thereby re-establishing it as
a strong platform which will
leave us well positioned to
exploit a rebound in the
market environment.

Ian Farmer
Chief Executive
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06 Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

• Management emphasis in South Africa: we
require greater management focus in South Africa
where all our operations are located. To achieve
this we are reducing the current headcount of the
London office by one third and transferring certain
functions to South Africa. In addition, it is crucial
that, as Chief Executive Officer, I am close to our
operations and I will therefore spend around half
of my time in South Africa.

The Future – building a sound base for growth,
supported by long term expansion options
Lonmin has excellent growth prospects at our core
operations at Marikana, supplemented by a range of
projects, which provide the Company with long term
growth options, to be accessed at the appropriate time.

Growing production from a solid base
Our key priority at the current time is to focus on our
Marikana asset base, thereby re-establishing it as a
strong, well controlled platform which will leave us
well positioned to exploit a rebound in the market
environment.

We expect to increase our production from
underground operations at Marikana in the 2009
financial year, which will compensate for the reduction
in opencast production, following our decision to
close those operations by the end of the 2008
calendar year. Consequently, we are targeting
Platinum sales guidance for the 2009 financial year
broadly in line with that achieved in the 2008 financial
year. This takes into account the restructuring of our
mechanised shafts and the development challenges
faced by the Mining operational management team.
In addition, the rebuild of the Number One furnace,
initiated earlier this month, will have an impact on
output during the first half of the 2009 financial year.
Further ahead, we remain confident that we can
achieve, and improve on, previous sales levels of over
900,000 Platinum ounces per annum.

Maintaining flexibility around longer term growth
To supplement Marikana, we have a number of
projects which provide us with options from which we
can deliver significant medium to long term growth.
However, given our focus on cash management and
the current state of the credit markets, we believe it
prudent to put these projects, including Akanani and
Limpopo, on a care and maintenance basis for the
short term.

We still firmly believe that the quality and the
unique average 18 metre width of the Akanani ore
body presents an outstanding opportunity for Lonmin.
This is supported by findings from a scoping study
carried out at Akanani during 2008, which indicated
an acceptable rate of return.

During the year, we completed a pre-feasibility
study at our Limpopo expansion project, which
indicated the combined property supports a mine
producing around 4.3 million tonnes per annum at full
production. Likewise, at Pandora, we successfully
completed a pre-feasibility study on a standalone
project looking at the development of a 2.9 million
tonnes per annum operation using a hybrid mining
method. The Pandora project will continue to be
progressed on a self-funded basis with our joint
venture partners.

We will continue to evaluate opportunities, as they
arise. This includes reviewing our strategy on Chrome,
a by-product of our mining and processing of UG2
ore, where we believe there is unexploited value.

Summary
With the decisive actions taken at the start of the
2009 financial year, I believe that we will be able to
address the issues that have impacted the business
in previous years. Furthermore, I am confident that
these actions will enable Lonmin to entrench our low
cost position.

Finally, I would like to thank Lonmin employees,
contractors and community members for their
support during what has been a period of great
uncertainty. The changes resulting from the
restructuring of the business and the increased focus
on reducing our cost base are essential for our future
and will, I believe, help to ensure that Lonmin is able
to weather market conditions and be in the best
shape possible to exploit the upturn when it occurs.
In these difficult circumstances, the support and hard
work of our employees, contractors and community
members is appreciated.

Ian Farmer
Chief Executive Officer

17 November 2008
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Safety
Our safety performance improved significantly in
2008, with a 42% improvement in our lost time injury
frequency rate (LTIFR) to 6.27 per million man hours
worked, the lowest level in the history of the
Company. It should be noted however that 3% of this
improvement corresponds to an adjustment of man-
hours in the Mining business, to include man-hours
from office personnel and some contractors which
were in error not previously included in calculations.

It is with regret that we report the death of three
of our employees as a result of industrial accidents
during 2008.

We continue to investigate rigorously incidents
through the Incident Cause Analysis Method and now
include near miss incidents. Findings from these
incidents are critical to our efforts in eliminating
fatalities and serious injuries and are communicated
across our operations.

In order to ensure safety production at our
operations, a large proportion of the safety
shutdowns at our operations during the year were
initiated by management as we continue our drive to
Zero Harm, in order to ensure safe production at our
operations. We remain supportive of the DME’s
renewed stance on safety in the mining industry,
which has been evidenced by an increased number
of inspections and ordered shaft closures related to
these inspections across the industry during the year.

Visible leadership is crucial and is a powerful aid
in creating an interdependent safety culture. All
managers undertake safe behaviour observations and
participate with the employees in their areas in daily
safety breaks.

During the year, we continued to complete the
implementation of our Laduma safety awareness
campaign, based on learning map technology, across
the business at Marikana. This campaign uses football
to communicate and promote safe behaviours and
procedures. Initial indications are that the campaign
has been well received and we will continue to raise
awareness and increase its visibility going forward.

Mining
At the beginning of the financial year we introduced
a new senior operational management team in the
Mining division under the leadership of Chris
Sheppard. Chris and his team were tasked with
implementing and executing improvement
programmes to increase productivity and consistency
of performance. These programmes are gaining
traction and the key focus areas to date include the
strengthening of the operational management team,
an increased focus on development, the upgrading of
management operating systems at shaft level, the
completion of a new mining extraction strategy, an
improvement in our labour management programmes
and a new approach to mechanisation.

Our initial, mine-wide, Mining Extraction Strategy
is now complete, including a review and analysis of
various key components of the Mining business,
including depth, ore type, stoping technique and
processing and commercial requirements. Completion
of the extraction strategy has played a significant part
in our long term planning and, to this end, we
completed our long term planning protocol towards
the end of the financial year. We expect to complete
site-specific extraction strategies by the start of the
second half of the 2009 financial year.

Review of Operations

Our safety performance improved significantly in 2008, with a
42% improvement in our lost time injury frequency rate to 6.27,

the lowest level in the
history of the company.
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08 Review of Operations (continued)



2008 Annual Report and Accounts / Lonmin Plc

www.lonmin.com

09

We have committed to completing a half-level
optimisation project by the middle of 2010, where we are
already starting to see initial benefits. Blue prints for all
half-levels have been completed and we remain on track
with this project.

We are also making progress in improving ore reserve
development at our shafts, evidenced by development
rates increasing 7.6% during the last quarter of the 2008
financial year, compared with the previous quarter.
However, improving development is not a quick fix and it
will take another 18 months before we are achieving
acceptable levels of immediately available ore reserves,
and higher extraction rates. As at 30 September 2008,
immediately available ore reserves were 11.4 months.

A key focus area in 2008 was labour management.
The Mining team introduced a Zero Tolerance approach
to absenteeism, which was extensively communicated
throughout the business, and focused on increasing
awareness that persistent absenteeism would result in
dismissal. To combat the shortage of skilled workers,
we implemented recruitment programmes to attract and
retain the necessary skills and we were successful in
reducing skilled labour turnover during the year.

Marikana
Our Marikana operations mined 11.5 million tonnes of
ore, a 10% decrease on the same period in 2007 with
underground operations contributing 10.2 million tonnes.
As previously reported, underground production was
principally impacted by safety related stoppages, the
Eskom four day power outage in January, available face
length constraints, which we are addressing through our
focus on accelerating ore reserve development, and high
levels of absenteeism particularly in the first half of the
financial year.

As planned, opencast tonnages were down year on
year with total tonnes mined in 2008 of 1.3 million tonnes
versus 1.6 million tonnes in 2007. Given the relatively high
cost of production from opencast operations, as well as
the low grade of opencast ore and its dilutive effect on
concentrator recoveries, we decided to suspend production
from this part of the business with effect from the end of
the 2008 calendar year.

Another key factor impacting production was the
slower than anticipated ramp up of our mechanised shafts
with our mechanised operations producing 1.2 million
tonnes in the year, significantly behind our plans, but a
substantial increase on the 0.6 million tonnes produced by
these shafts in the prior year. The change in our approach
to mechanisation will have some impact on production in
the 2009 financial year, given the logistical complexities,
including transferring crews and equipment between shafts,
re-organising scheduling and planning and re-training
managers and their teams. The transition to hybrid mining
at Saffy is expected to be completed by the end of the
2009 financial year.

Despite the year on year decline in production at
Marikana, we are seeing initial signs of improvement from
the operation and our underground operations will
continue to grow in 2009.

Costs at our conventional operations at Marikana for
the 2008 financial year were R390 per tonne, compared
to R430 per tonne at our opencast operations and R615
per tonne at our mechanised sections, hence the need
to address our mechanised shafts and our opencast
operations. Capital expenditure at our Marikana Mining
division was R1,459 million, the majority of which was
allocated to Hossy, Saffy and K4.

Limpopo
Our Limpopo Baobab shaft produced 523,000 tonnes
of ore in the year, a decline of 31% on 2007. Production
continued to be constrained by a shortage of available
ore caused by an Iron-Rich Ultramafic Pegmatoid
occurrence and a lack of ore reserve development.
Limpopo produced 22,017 saleable ounces of Platinum
in concentrate for the year, a decline of 38% on 2007
due to the lower throughput from the mine and a six
week shutdown of the Limpopo concentrator in 2008
to undertake repairs. Costs for the year at Limpopo
Mining were R622 per tonne and capital expenditure
was R217 million.

Our Limpopo Baobab shaft operations have always
been high cost. In recent years the mine has not
delivered and this situation cannot continue. We believe
the mine is uneconomic and intend to start discussions
with the workforce and unions regarding the future of
the operation.

Pandora
Our share of mined production from the Pandora Joint
Venture ground during the year was 400,000 tonnes
mined, a decline of 3% from 2007. Our underground
operations at Pandora produced 124,000 tonnes, a 3%
decline from 2007, and our opencast Pandora operations
produced 275,000 tonnes, a 4% decline from 2007.
Lonmin purchases 100% of the ore from the Pandora
Joint Venture and this ore contributed 48,743 saleable
ounces of Platinum in concentrate and 87,871 saleable
ounces of total PGMs in concentrate to our production.
The Pandora Joint Venture contributed $18.0 million
of profit after tax for our account in the financial year,
up 50% from the 2007 financial year.

At our Mining business, we are making good progress
to embed best practice operational discipline into our
operations and on increasing development to restore
the technical health of the mines.
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10 Review of Operations (continued)

Process Division
Process Division management continued to implement
a number of initiatives which have started to improve
efficiencies and recoveries across the value chain. At the
Smelter, a number of programmes were implemented
at the Number One furnace to improve process stability
and recoveries. These include the implementation of a
blending strategy to ensure standardised feed to the
furnace, manage temperature fluctuations and predict
slag chemistry. We also have a number of programmes in
place to improve concentrator recoveries, including better
management and scheduling of planned maintenance,
as well as the establishment of improved control systems,
which will allow us to better match particular ore types to
certain concentrators.

Costs for the year in the Process Division were
R1,447 per PGM ounce and capital expenditure was
R308 million.

Concentrators
The Concentrators produced a total of 732,125 saleable
ounces of Platinum in concentrate for the year down 16%
on 2007 reflecting the lower levels of throughput from the
mines and lower opencast grades. The improvement
programmes we have introduced in the Concentrators
during the year showed encouraging results with overall
recoveries improving to 79.2% from 77.3% in 2007 and
underground recoveries up to 81.7% versus 80.7% last
year.

Underground milled head grade was 4.66 grammes
per tonne (5PGE+Au), 4.5% lower than the prior year
partly as a result of ore mix issues including the increased
percentage of lower grade development ore from the
Marikana mechanised shafts.

Smelter
At the Smelter, we brought forward the planned
inspection and repair of the Number One furnace to
coincide with the Eskom power outage at the end of
January. We successfully completed the work on the
furnace and it returned to full operations on 2 March
2008. In June, the Number One furnace was powered
down for seven days due to a leak in one of the copper
cooling waffles on the side of the furnace, as a result of
a manufacturing fault. In July, the Merensky furnace was
shut down for around two months for repair, following a
matte run out through one of the tappe holes. These
were relatively minor incidents and the Smelter performed
well during the year, with Number One furnace availability
increasing to 86% in the 2008 financial year, from 61%
in 2007.

We have scheduled a rebuild of the Number One
furnace in November 2008. The furnace will be offline
until early January 2009 as we complete a redesign of
the vessel. During the rebuild we will install graphite tiles
for the upper waffle coolers, a third matte tappe hole to
increase tappe hole life, a redesigned refractory below
the waffle coolers and split waffle coolers for external
removal. The redesign will allow for hot repairs of the
furnace tappe holes, with quicker repairs of the copper
coolers. As a result, we expect to be able to increase the
availability and reliability of the furnace, so that it can
operate on a more continuous basis, with fewer planned
maintenance shut downs. During the Number One
furnace downtime we will be running our Merensky
furnace and the Pyromet furnaces to ensure the impact
is mitigated. This rebuild will however have an impact on
our production during the first half of the 2009 financial
year, and particularly in the first quarter of the year.
Accordingly, as in 2008, production during the 2009
financial year is expected to be weighted towards the
second half.

Refineries
Lonmin refined production was 699,942 ounces of
Platinum, up from 695,842 ounces of Platinum in 2007.
We are completing an upgrade of the Base Metal
Refinery to increase throughput to 37 tonnes per day and
we have completed various de-bottlenecking projects, as
well as upgrading the nickel sulphate crystallisers at the
plant. Final sales for the year were 726,918 ounces of
Platinum and 1,401,371 ounces of total PGMs, in line
with our revised guidance.

Reserves and Resources
During the year, Lonmin’s entire Mineral Resource and
Reserve has been thoroughly reviewed and certain areas
have been re-estimated where appropriate. The major
changes are as follows:
• Extensive remodelling of the Marikana Resource has

been completed using methodology that allows
greater sophistication in accounting for the PGE
grade variations across the property. This modelling
has confirmed the robustness of the UG2 Mineral
Resource estimates and revealed no significant
changes in the UG2 PGE grade overall. The re-
modelling of the Merensky Resource has resulted in
a lower overall Merensky Reef PGE grade, particularly
in the known lower grade and thicker eastern areas
of Marikana. It is worth noting that Lonmin does not
currently mine Merensky Reef from these lower grade
eastern areas but the impact has been to lower the
average grade of the overall Merensky Mineral
Resource. The overall Merensky Reef Mineral Reserve
grade is less affected.
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Mineral Resources (Total Measured, Indicated & Inferred)

30-Sep-2008 30-Sep-2007

Mt 3PGE+Aua Pt Mt 3PGE+Aua Pt
Area g/t Moz Moz g/t Moz Moz

Marikana 672.0 4.68 101.1 59.3 644.4 4.94 102.3 61.2
Limpopob 138.1 4.23 18.8 9.6 146.7 4.24 20.0 10.0
Limpopo Baobab shaft 28.6 4.00 3.7 1.9 32.1 3.96 4.1 2.1
Akanani 154.4 4.42 21.9 9.3 269.7 3.46 30.0 12.5
Pandora JVc 55.5 4.30 7.7 4.7 56.7 4.33 7.9 4.9
Loskop JVd 10.1 4.04 1.3 0.8 10.1 4.04 1.3 0.8

Total 1,058.8 4.54 154.5 85.6 1,159.7 4.44 165.6 91.6

Mineral Reserves (Total Proved & Probable)

30-Sep-2008 30-Sep-2007

Mt 3PGE+Aua Pt Mt 3PGE+Aua Pt
Area g/t Moz Moz g/t Moz Moz

Marikana 332.6 4.03 43.1 25.9 331.4 4.18 44.5 26.6
Limpopob 40.1 3.23 4.2 2.1 40.1 3.23 4.2 2.1
Limpopo Baobab shaft 9.4 3.16 1.0 0.5 24.2 3.32 2.6 1.3
Pandora JVc 0.46 4.28 0.06 0.04 0.30 4.55 0.04 0.03

Total 382.5 3.93 48.3 28.5 396.0 4.03 51.3 30.0

Notes on the Lonmin Platinum Mineral Resources and Reserves
The Lonmin Platinum Mineral Resources and Reserves information was prepared on the following basis:
a) 3PGE + Au = Pt+Pd+Rh+Au (Loskop JV3 excludes Rh due to insufficient assays).
b) Limpopo: includes Dwaalkop Joint Venture, in which Western Platinum Limited (82% owned by Lonmin) has an interest of 50%, but excludes

Baobab shaft.
c) Pandora Joint Venture: Eastern Platinum Limited (82% owned by Lonmin) has an attributable interest of 42.5% in the Pandora Joint Venture

together with Anglo Platinum, Mvelaphanda Resources and the Bapo Ba Mogale Mining Company.
d) Loskop Joint Venture: Western Platinum Limited (82% owned by Lonmin) has an attributable interest of 50% in the Loskop Joint Venture with

Boynton Investments.
e) Incwala Resources owns 18% of both Western Platinum Limited and Eastern Platinum Limited and 26% of Akanani.
f) All quoted Resources and Reserves includes Lonmin’s attributable portion only and the following percentages were applied to the total

Mineral Resource and Reserve for each property:
Limpopo – Limpopo – Doornvlei,

Area Marikana Dwaalkop JV Zebedelia, Baobab Akanani Pandora Loskop

Lonmin Attributable 82% 41% 82% 74% 34.85% 41%

g) All figures are reported as metric tonnes (millions), grammes per tonne, percent or troy ounces (millions).
h) Where Nickel (Ni) and Copper (Cu) grade estimates for the various Mineral Resources are considered compliant with SAMREC (2007) guidelines, they

are included in the Mineral Resource statements for the individual areas. These grades are reported in percent and represent acid soluble proportions.
i) All tabulated data have been rounded to one decimal place for tonnage and content and two decimal places for grades.
j) Mineral Resources are inclusive of Mineral Reserves.
k) Mineral Resources are reported as “in situ” tonnes and grade and allow for geological losses such as faults, dykes, potholes and Iron Rich

Ultramafic Pegmatite (IRUP).
l) Proved and Probable Mineral Reserves are reported as tonnes and grade expected to be delivered to the mill, are inclusive of diluting

materials and allow for losses that may occur when the material is mined.
m) Mine tailings dams are excluded from the above Mineral Resource summary.
n) For economic studies and the determination of pay limits, consideration was made of both short and long term revenue drivers. The following

long term assumptions were used: Pt $1500, Pd $500, Rh $3,000, Ru $450, Ir $410, Au $550 per ounce and Ni $15,400, Cu $2,860 per
tonne, using an average exchange rate of $1 to R8.

o) Dilutions are quoted as waste tonnes / waste + ore tonnes in percent.
p) Unless otherwise stated, the Lonmin Mineral Resources and Reserves estimates were prepared or supervised by various persons employed

by Lonmin.

• As announced at the Interim Results on 8 May 2008,
a review of the P2 and P1 reef type extents at Akanani
resulted in a marked increase in the Indicated
Resource and PGE grade in the main mineralised
zone (the P2). Additional drilling allowed Lonmin to
upgrade a portion of the P2 Inferred Resource to
Indicated Resource whilst other areas of lower grade
or less certain continuity have been removed from the
classification. The exclusion of large volumes of low
grade P1 mineralisation from the Mineral Resource
resulted in a significant increase in overall project
grade and a reduction in overall metal content.

• At Limpopo Baobab shaft, the Probable Mineral
Reserve has reduced as a result of a) a more
conservative view of some areas of the Merensky
Reef downgrading these to Inferred Resources

pending information from closer spaced drilling; and
b) changes made during the year to the Life of Mine
Plan taking account of a number of factors including
the need for an additional ventilation shaft and
refrigeration below 750 metres. The Mineral Reserves
in the relatively shallow Limpopo Phase 2 Project are
unchanged since 2007.

Consistent with 2007 reporting, the 2008 Lonmin
Mineral Resources and Reserves include Lonmin’s
attributable portion only. The percentage of each of the
areas attributable to Lonmin has not changed during
the year.

Full details of Lonmin’s Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves are included on our website – www.lonmin.com.
A summary is presented in the following tables:
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12 Financial Review

Introduction
The financial information presented has been prepared on
the same basis and using the same accounting policies
as those used to prepare the financial statements for the
year ended 30 September 2007.

Analysis of results
Income Statement
Underlying operating profit has increased by $167 million,
or 21%, to $963 million in the year to 30 September
2008. A comparison with the year to 30 September 2007
is set out below:

$m

FY07 reported operating profit 794
FY07 special items 2

FY07 underlying operating profit 796
PGM price 500
PGM volume (107)
PGM mix (35)
Base metals (68)
Cost changes (including foreign exchange impact) (123)

FY08 underlying operating profit 963
FY08 special items (199)

FY08 reported operating profit 764

PGM markets were strong for the first three quarters
of the year and saw increasing prices supported by
supply-side issues in the industry and longer term growth
concerns in light of potential power constraints in South
Africa. The last quarter saw significant declines in prices
reflecting the sudden worldwide economic downturn and,
in particular, the impact on the automotive sector. In
comparison to the prior year overall the average price per
PGM ounce increased 28% to $1,529 resulting in an
additional $500 million of profit generated. However, the
average price per PGM ounce in the month of September
2008 fell to $966, some 37% down on the average for the
year and some 49% below the peak month in May when
the PGM basket reached $1,907 per ounce. Conditions
in the early part of FY09 have continued to deteriorate.
However, we do not believe that current pricing levels
reflect longer term PGM fundamentals and expect that
some supply and demand corrections will occur.

The PGM sales volume for the year at 1,401,371
ounces was 6% below the prior year resulting in an
adverse operating profit impact of $107 million. The
factors contributing to the weaker performance are
discussed in the Review of Operations on pages 7 to 11.
Rhodium as a percentage of sales fell from 7.0% to 6.7%
giving rise to an adverse mix variance of $35 million.
The contribution from base metals fell by $68 million
with Nickel sales impacted by a 37% fall in volume and
a 15% fall in price.

Cost changes (increase) / decrease:

$m

Core productive costs (118)
Mechanised mining (62)

Opencast mining (23)
Incremental stock movement 64
Safety, health, environment and community (20)
Overheads (13)
Foreign exchange 58
Depreciation and amortisation (9)

(123)

Core productive costs have increased in the year
partly due to the very significant inflationary pressures in
South Africa in the mining sector, particularly in respect
of raw materials such as steel, chemicals, utilities and fuel.
The business has also continued to experience higher
levels of labour absenteeism which necessitated
increased staff numbers and additional use of contractors.
The Process Division has also been undertaking a major
enhancement of its plant maintenance programme which,
whilst increasing costs today, will improve the reliability of
our operations over time. As a result of these issues core
productive costs increased by $118 million which was
15% up on the prior year.

Since 2007 we have ramped-up our mechanised
operations and moved from a development to an
operational phase resulting in the recognition of operating
costs. The cost increase from these shafts is $62 million.
Given productivity levels were low this led to an
unacceptably high cost per tonne of R615. The cost of
opencast operations also increased significantly, due to
working at deeper levels and this resulted in an additional
spend of $23 million.

This level of cost increase is unsustainable in today’s
markets and the actions being taken to address this are
set out in the Chief Executive’s review.

We recognise the vital role we have in caring for our
employees both within the work environment and in the
wider community and have spent an incremental $20 million
in the year. Safety has remained a major area of focus
and we have invested in training programmes, improved
equipment and have extended our initiative to enhance
our roof-bolting to help prevent fall of ground incidents.

The increase in overheads arose in two main areas.
Firstly the Group completed pre-feasibility studies on the
Limpopo and Pandora expansion projects during the year
and the capital projects team was expanded to ensure
that we built the appropriate delivery capability for our
portfolio of projects. In addition costs of shared services
and other functions which support the business have also
increased and reflected a continuation of our efforts to
improve service delivery. We completed projects in the
year to optimise usage of our SAP system, to enhance
significantly our metallurgical tracking systems and to
improve our stock control.
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Reported profit before tax at $779 million has
increased by $74 million versus 2007. This has been
driven by the $30 million decline in reported operating
profit, the $114 million improvement in net finance costs,
a write-off on mark-to-market investments of $19 million
and an increase of $9 million in the Group’s share of profit
from associates and joint ventures. On an underlying
basis profit before tax was up $186 million, or 23%, to
$997 million.

The 2008 reported tax charge at $213 million was
substantially lower than the reported $297 million in 2007.
However, this comparison is materially distorted by the
impact of foreign currency retranslation differences which
are treated as special items. On an underlying basis the tax
rate remained relatively consistent at 32% (2007 – 31%).

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders
amounted to $455 million (2007 – $314 million) and
earnings per share were 291.1 cents compared with
205.1 cents in 2007. Underlying earnings per share,
being earnings excluding special items, amounted to
351.9 cents (2007 – 295.9 cents) an increase of 19%.

Balance sheet
A reconciliation of the movement in equity shareholders’
funds over the year to 30 September 2008 is given below.

$m

Equity shareholders’ funds as at
1 October 2007 1,968
Recognised income and expense 352
Dividends (186)
Share scheme related and other 13

Equity shareholders’ funds as at
30 September 2008 2,147

Equity shareholders’ funds were $2,147 million at
30 September 2008 compared with $1,968 million at
1 October 2007, an increase of $179 million. Equity
shareholder’s funds in the period increased by $352 million
through the recognition of attributable income, however,
this was partially offset by the payment of the final
dividend in respect of financial year 2007 of $94 million
and the interim dividend for 2008 of $92 million.

Net debt at $303 million has decreased by $72 million
in the year with a cash inflow of $70 million (as explained
below).

Gearing was 12% compared with 15% at
30 September 2007 calculated on net borrowings
attributable to the Group divided by those attributable
net borrowings and the equity interests outstanding at
the balance sheet date. This demonstrates the strength
of the balance sheet and leaves us well positioned going
into 2009.

Foreign exchange has been a positive factor for costs
with the Rand weakening against the US Dollar versus
the comparative period by 4%.

The Group C1 cost before by-product credits
increased by 29% to R5,408 per PGM ounce sold
reflecting not only these cost increases but also lower
than expected production. This compared to R5,003 at
the Interims, which was 24% up on the prior period. It
should be noted that stock levels at September 2007
were higher than usual and the Group benefited by selling
these cheaper ounces in the year.

The main reason for the C1 cost increase has been
the growth in mining cost per unit at Marikana which is up
by R1,574 per PGM ounce with costs up 41% and
production volume down 16%. Mechanised shafts and
opencast, which represent just over 21% of total Marikana
2008 volumes, were responsible for half of this 41% cost
increase. The C1 cost per ounce for mechanised was
R6,493 and for opencast was R7,523 which compare to
the conventional average of R3,421. Limpopo cost per
ounce mined rose by 43% to R6,363 per ounce. Further
details of unit costs analysis can be found in the operating
statistics table on page 114.

Whilst net special costs had a limited impact on
reported operating profits in 2007 there has been a
charge of $199 million in 2008. The key component of this
relates to Baobab shaft at Limpopo where a reduction in
mineral reserves, and the impact of the economic
downturn, significantly reduced the value of the assets.
The other major component related to the cost of bid
defence work. The reported operating profit has therefore
fallen from $794 million in the prior year to $764 million
this period.

Summary of net finance income / (costs):

FY08 FY07
$m $m

Net bank interest and fees (18) (29)
Capitalised interest 23 23
Movement in fair value of
embedded derivative of
convertible bonds – (104)
Other 2 3

Net finance income / (costs) 7 (107)

Net interest charges at $18 million were $11 million
below the prior period from a combination of lower
average net debt and lower interest rates. Capitalised
interest for the period was in line with the prior year. The
convertible bonds redeemed by the Company in financial
year 2007 had a significant impact on finance costs with
$104 million of fair value movements recognised in the
year. This change is the major factor in the $114 million
reported improvement in the year.
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14 Financial Review (continued)

As a result of the above free cash flow generated at
$264 million in 2008 was $116 million adverse to the
prior year with free cash flow per share falling from 248.2
cents to 168.9 cents. The equity dividend of $186 million
was $15 million higher than 2007. The overall cash inflow
for the year was $70 million which decreased net debt
accordingly.

Dividends
As dividends are accounted for on a cash basis under
IFRS the amount shown in the accounts represents the
2007 final dividend of 60.0 cents and 2008 interim
dividend of 59.0 cents making a total of 119.0 cents for
the year (2007 – 110.0 cents total for the year).

Financial risk management
The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to the
availability of funds to meet business needs (liquidity risk),
the risk of default by counterparties to financial
transactions (credit risk), fluctuations in interest and
foreign exchange rates and commodity prices.

Liquidity risk
The policy on overall liquidity is to ensure that the Group
has sufficient funds to facilitate all on-going operations.

As part of the annual budgeting and long term
planning process, the Group’s cash flow forecast is
reviewed and approved by the Board. The cash flow
forecast is amended for any material changes identified
during the year e.g. material acquisitions and disposals.
Where funding requirements are identified from the cash
flow forecast, appropriate measures are taken to ensure
these requirements can be satisfied. Factors taken into
consideration are:

• the size and nature of the requirement;

• preferred sources of finance applying key criteria of
cost, commitment, availability, security/covenant
conditions;

• recommended counterparties, fees and market
conditions; and,

• covenants, guarantees and other financial
commitments.

A range of committed facilities are currently in place
both in the UK and South Africa. These are sourced from
a diverse base of banking counterparties and are mostly
in US Dollars.

At the 2008 year end the Group had $975 million of
committed facilities in place of which $150 million matures
within 1 year, although this facility was undrawn at the
balance sheet date. Of the $975 million committed facilities
in place, $529 million was drawn down at the balance
sheet date, of which $229 million falls due within 1 to 2
years. The remainder falls due after more than 2 years.
More detail is given in note 22c to the financial statements.
Cash held at the year end amounted to $226 million.

Credit risk
Banking Counterparties
Banking counterparty credit risk is managed by spreading
financial transactions across an approved list of
counterparties of high credit quality. Banking counterparties
are approved by the Board.

Cash flow
The following table summarises the main components of
the cash flow during the year:

FY08 FY07
$m $m

Operating profit 764 794
Depreciation and amortisation 96 87
Change in working capital (84) 81
Impairment 174 –
Other (3) 21

Cash flow from operations 947 983
Interest and finance costs (12) (25)
Tax (229) (266)

Trading cash flow 706 692
Capital expenditure (378) (276)
Proceeds from disposal
of assets held for sale 1 5
Dividends paid to minority (65) (41)

Free cash flow 264 380
Disposals / (acquisitions) 3 (393)
Financial investments (17) (21)
Shares issued 6 68
Equity dividends paid (186) (171)

Cash inflow / (outflow) 70 (137)
Opening net debt (375) (458)
Bond conversion – 213
Foreign exchange 2 7

Closing net debt (303) (375)

Trading cash flow
(cents per share) 451.7c 452.0c

Free cash flow
(cents per share) 168.9c 248.2c

Cash flow generated from operations at $947 million
was $36 million down compared to the prior year. This
was largely due to an adverse movement of $165 million
in the working capital position. The working capital
position reversed in 2008 with inventories increasing by
$82 million more than the prior year. After interest and
finance costs of $12 million and tax payments of $229
million, trading cash flow for the 12 months amounted to
$706 million against $692 million in 2007, with trading
cash flow per share of 451.7 cents in 2008 against
452.0 cents in 2007.

Capital expenditure was up $102 million on the prior
year at $378 million. In Mining the spend was focused on
the exploration and evaluation work at Akanani,
development of the mechanised operations at Hossy and
Saffy, completion of shaft sinking and equipping at K4
and investment in sub declines at Rowland and K3. In the
Process Division we invested in both the Smelter and the
BMR during the year.

Dividends paid to minorities in the year at $65 million
were $24 million higher than the prior year reflecting a
timing difference on the payment of dividends from South
African subsidiaries.
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Trade Receivables
The Group is exposed to significant trade receivable
credit risk through the sale of PGM metals to a limited
group of customers.

This risk is managed as follows:

• aged analysis is performed on trade receivable
balances and reviewed on a monthly basis;

• credit ratings are obtained on any new customers
and the credit ratings of existing customers are
monitored on an on-going basis;

• credit limits are set for customers; and,

• trigger points and escalation procedures are clearly
defined.

A table showing the ageing profile totals of trade
receivables and the provision for doubtful debts for each
ageing band is disclosed in note 22b to the financial
statements.

Interest rate risk
Currently, all outstanding borrowings are in US Dollar and
at floating rates of interest. Given the relatively small net
debt position of the Group, this position is not considered
to be high risk at this point in time. This position is kept
under constant review in conjunction with the liquidity
policy outlined above and the future funding requirements
of the business.

Foreign currency risk
Most of the Group’s operations are based in South Africa
and the majority of the revenue stream is in US Dollars.
However the bulk of the Group’s operating costs and
taxes are paid in South African Rand. Most of the cash
received in South Africa is in US Dollars and is normally
remitted to the UK on a regular basis. Most of the
Group’s funding sources are in US Dollars.

The Group’s reporting currency remains the US Dollar
and the share capital of the Company is based in US
Dollars.

Our policy is not to hedge South African Rand/ US
Dollar currency exposures and therefore fluctuations in
the Rand to US Dollar exchange rate can have a
significant impact on the Group’s results. A strengthening
of the Rand against the US Dollar has an adverse effect
on profits due to the majority of operating costs being
paid in Rand. The approximate effect on the Group’s
results of a 10% movement in the Rand to US Dollar
2008 year average exchange rate would be as follows:

EBIT ± $125m
Profit for the year ± $74m
EPS (cents) ± 47.3c

These sensitivities are based on 2008 prices, costs
and volumes and assume all other variables remain
constant. They are estimated calculations only.

Commodity price risk
Our policy is not to hedge commodity price exposure on
PGM’s and therefore any change in prices will have a
direct effect on the Group’s trading results.

On base metals, which are by-products of PGM
production, hedging is undertaken where the Board
determines that it is in the Group’s interest to hedge a
proportion of future cash flows. Policy is to hedge up to
a maximum of 75% of the future cash flows from the sale
of Nickel and Copper looking forward over the next 12
to 24 months. The Group has undertaken a number of
hedging contracts on Nickel and Copper sales using
outright forward contracts. These are disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

The approximate effects on the Group’s results of a
10% movement in the 2008 financial year average market
prices for Platinum (Pt) ($1,655 per ounce) and Rhodium
(Rh) ($7,614 per ounce) would be as follows:

Pt Rh

EBIT ± $120m ± $72m
Profit for the year ± $71m ± $42m
EPS (cents) ± 45.5c ± 27.1c

The above sensitivities are based on 2008 volumes
and assume all other variables remain constant. They are
estimated calculations only.

Fiscal risk
During the course of 2009, the South African Government
will be introducing a new Mining Royalty. The Royalty Bill
has been approved by Parliament and is awaiting final
signature by the President of South Africa before it is
enacted. The Royalty will be introduced with effect from
1 May 2009 and will be calculated based on a percentage
of Gross Sales. The percentage is calculated using a
formula depending on whether the company sells
concentrate, ore or refined products. The Royalty formula
is subject to a minimum royalty rate of 0.5 %, which will
be applicable if the formula calculation results in a rate of
less than 0.5%.

The formula for refined products is:

% of Gross Sales = Adjusted EBIT* x100
Gross Sales x 12.5

* Adjusted EBIT for the purpose of the Royalty calculation is
statutory EBIT adjusted for, amongst other things, depreciation
and a capital deduction based on Mining Tax rules.

Alan Ferguson
Chief Financial Officer

17 November 2008
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16 Key Performance Indicators

Sales – platinum ounces sold
Platinum ounces sold. Platinum ounces sold are those ounces
we produce either as refined ounces, recoverable ounces sold
in concentrate or residues.

Underlying EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxation)
For any business the ultimate aim is to grow underlying EBIT and
deliver value to shareholders. We track our performance by
looking at our EBIT from continuing operations. Underlying EBIT
is calculated on profit for the year and excludes the effect of
one-off and non-trading items.

Free cash flow
We believe that a key metric of how successful we are as a
business is ultimately the amount of cash we generate before
dividends and acquisitions.
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Marikana Costs – C1 costs of own production before by
product credits
Cost per unit is key to allowing us to operate profitably for far
longer through any down cycle. C1 costs are defined as cash
operating costs per PGM ounce sold of own production before
by-product credits. By-product credits relate to our base metal
production.

Safety – Lost Time Injury Frequency rate per million man
hours worked
As a Company we are committed to Zero Harm to our
employees and contractors. We also regard safety
performance as a lead indicator of the health of any business.
Lost time injury frequency rate is measured per million man
hours worked and reflects all injuries sustained by employees
which mean that the injured party is unable to return to work
on the next shift.

Electricity usage
We continue to closely monitor and measure our electricity
usage, in MW Hr, across our operations. We are operating at
95% of normal consumption and, through a number of energy
efficiency initiatives, we expect to remain within this level for
the foreseeable future.
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18 Sustainable Development Review
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Sustainable Development Focus Areas in 2008
We are committed to reporting publicly our sustainable
development performance as we recognise that our
performance is of interest to a diverse range of both
national and international stakeholders, including our
employees and contractors. For the 2008 financial year,
we are publishing a Summary Sustainable Development
Report, as well as a more extensive web-based
Sustainable Development Report, giving detailed
information on our sustainable development performance
during the year. These reports can be found on our
website: www.lonmin.com.

We believe that sustainable development is
paramount to the future of the Company, our employees
and the communities where we operate. Contributing
to sustainable development helps to create value and
reduces operational and financial risk, thereby enabling
us to deliver a more consistent performance in the future.

Our sustainable development efforts continued to
focus on the following risk areas during the year:

• Eliminating fatalities and injuries;

• Supporting a skilled and diverse workforce;

• Eliminating Noise Induced Hearing Loss (NIHL);

• Managing HIV/AIDS in the workplace and community;

• Accessing and managing our energy and water
resources and minimising our impact on the business;

• Uniting with our communities.

Eliminating fatalities and injuries
Zero Harm is a core value of our business. We are
committed to the wellbeing of our employees and
contractors, and maintaining a culture of safe behaviour.
Fatalities and serious injuries at our operations resulting
from falls of ground and material handling remain our key
safety risks. Details of various safety improvement
programmes developed during the 2008 financial year
are included in the Operating Review on page 7.

Supporting a skilled and diverse workforce
We are committed to an appropriately skilled and diverse
workforce as a foundation to the success of our business.
As a result of the ever increasing demand and competing
interests for skilled recruits nationally and within the
international mining industry, our success is dependent
on our ability to support our existing employees. As at
30 September 2008, our workforce totaled 25,368 with
an additional 7,720 contractors working at our operations.

The development and training of our employees is
critical to the establishment of a competent workforce
and future leadership for the Company. We continued to
implement a number of training programmes and
initiatives during 2008 including Adult Basic Education
and Training (ABET), which assists people with literacy
and numeracy, the Lonmin Training Academy, which
develops people’s technical and safety skills, and a study
assistance programme for employees undergoing
independent, part time education. In 2008, 2,866 full time
employees, 193 community members and 795 part time
employees attended ABET courses, 118 participated in
the six week Lonmin Leadership Development
Programme, 188 employees and 592 community
members participated in the Lonmin training programme
and 90 supervisors completed the Front Line Supervisory
Development Programme.

As part of our commitment to empower HDSAs, we
have policies and procedures in place to retain and develop
HDSA employment in a non-discriminatory manner. At the
end of the 2008 financial year, 42.3% of our management
team comprised of HDSA employees, ahead of our 40%
target for the year. In terms of preferential procurement, our
total procurement spend in 2008 with HDSA suppliers was
56.5%, surpassing our target of 50% by 2009.

Eliminating Noise Induced hearing Loss (NIHL) and
Managing HIV/AIDS in the workplace and community
We are committed to honouring our health and safety
values and sustaining an environment that promotes the
health and wellbeing of our employees and contractors.
The HIV/AIDS epidemic has widespread social and
economic consequences with an estimated 23% of our
workforce HIV positive. Our strategic approach to
managing HIV/AIDS is based on prevention and treatment
of the disease. Our HIV/AIDS prevention and education
programmes have had a noticeable impact, with a 38%
reduction in HIV/AIDS related deaths since 2006 as a direct
result of early diagnosis and intervention, education and
effective treatment. Once the disease reaches a specific
stage, employees can benefit from the anti-retroviral
treatment programme. We are committed to ensuring free
anti-retroviral treatment for life for our employees. We
currently have 989 patients on anti-retroviral treatment,
an 18% increase from 2007. As a direct consequence of
enhanced participation in our Voluntary Counselling and
Testing (VCT) programme in 2008, enrolment increased in
our wellness programme with an additional 550 employees
joining taking the total participation to 1,150 employees.

We believe that sustainable development is paramount to the
future of the Company,

our employees and the communities
where we operate.
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We remain committed to promoting the sustainable
use of natural resources, particularly in light of the
growing demand for these resources in South Africa.

Sustainable Development Review (continued)

NIHL is the most significant, long term occupational
disability in the Platinum mining industry. In 2008, we
reduced our newly diagnosed NIHL cases by 62%
exceeding our target of a 20% reduction from our 2007
baseline year. We continue to focus on reducing noise
through equipment re-engineering and substitution,
mandatory use of personal protective equipment and
regular screening of employees to enable early detection
of hearing loss.

Accessing and managing our energy and water resources
and minimising our impact on the environment
We remain committed to promoting the sustainable use
of natural resources, particularly in light of the growing
demand for these resources in South Africa. Our success
in this area is dependant on our ability to secure access
to sufficient resources and to manage them in a
responsible and sustainable manner at our operations.

The availability and security of power in South Africa
remains a significant issue for the mining sector. From
February until April 2008, we were obliged to operate
within 90% of our normal consumption. Since then,
following agreement with Eskom, we have been operating
at 95% of normal consumption, and we expect to remain
at this level for the foreseeable future. During the year, we
introduced a number of energy-saving programmes,
including improved management of the energy efficiency
of our mines’ compressed air networks and running our
own internal electricity network on a more stringent basis.
In addition, we upgraded our electrical energy and
demand management monitoring and control systems in
order to effectively monitor our maximum demand and
consumption across the Company. Although in 2008, we
have improved our aggregate energy consumption by
4.6% per unit of production, we increased our
greenhouse gas emissions by 6.7% per unit of
production, mainly as a result of lower production.

Our approach to the management of water resources
is three-fold: to secure the availability of sufficient water
for our current and future mining operations; to reduce
our freshwater consumption by improving water use
efficiencies and water recycling; and to prevent the
contamination of ground and surface water resources in
the regions where we operate.

In 2008, we reduced our aggregate fresh water intake
by 15% per unit of production. We continue to implement
water management programmes and to maximise water
re-use and recycling to ensure sustainable resource
utilisation. In May 2008 we signed the memorandum of
agreement as a participant in the Olifants River Water
Resource Development Project between the Republic of
South Africa, the Joint Water Forum and other mining
industry peers to secure water for our future mining
operations at Akanani and Limpopo.

By their nature, the Group’s mining and processing
operations have an impact on the environment, the most
relevant of which are as follows:

• Greenhouse gases – South Africa’s dominant
electricity supplier, Eskom, uses coal or oil-fired
capacity for 90% of its power generation. In total,
87% of the Group’s energy consumption is derived
from South Africa’s national grid. The Group therefore
has an impact on global warming through these
indirect emissions of CO2. We are focusing on energy
management, and in particular improving energy
efficiency;

• Air quality – our Smelting operations result in the
controlled emission of SO2, under tightly-regulated
permits, at levels in line with equivalent smelters
outside the Group;

• Materials stewardship and waste and water
management – the Group’s operations generate a
number of waste materials and by-products, which
must be disposed of (by sale or otherwise) in an
environmentally-responsible manner.

The Group’s products are predominantly used in
catalysts fitted to the exhausts of road vehicles to reduce
the emissions of noxious gases. Significant quantities of
the Group’s Platinum, Palladium and Rhodium metal
sales are consumed by this application, thereby making
a material positive impact on air quality.
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Uniting with our communities
We are committed to empowering our host communities
and improving their quality of life by contributing to their
long term social, economic and institutional development
and promoting the beneficiation of our minerals. Our
community development initiatives are focused on our local
communities as well as our major labour sending areas in
the Eastern Cape. Our key focus areas are infrastructure
development, educational support, health support and
local business development, including commercial
agriculture. Projects are selected and developed in close
collaboration with local authorities and government to
ensure that we complement local development plans.

Our community engagement programmes are focused
on understanding community concerns, planning and
managing community development projects and
encouraging community self-reliance, governance and
skills development. This engagement takes the form of
area meetings and provides the opportunity for
community members to become part of projects in their
area. During 2008 we instituted a Development Forum
where local government, ward councilors, tribal councilors
and mining houses co-ordinate community development
projects. In 2008, we continued to assess through an
independent process, our relationship with communities
through a number of empirically verified social performance
indicators. This year our average combined ratings for
Marikana and Limpopo amounted to 48%.

Lonmin’s key policies
The Group has a Safety and Sustainable Development
Policy in place which is underpinned by a number of
discipline-specific policies, management standards and
guidelines, covering the areas of environmental
management, employment and social and community
issues, the most material of which are described in the
Summary Sustainable Development Report and on the
Company’s website, www.lonmin.com.

During the year under review the development,
performance or position of the Group in these areas was
satisfactory, and there were no significant issues identified.
To that extent, the Group’s policies are broadly effective.
However, these are evolving areas in terms of regulation
and/or enforcement and the Group will keep its policies
and their application under review.

As these matters are generally not significant in
relation to the development, performance or position of
the Group’s business as a whole, key performance
indicators have not (save for power consumption) been
included in those set out on pages 16 to 17. More
detailed performance indicators for 2008 are included
in the Summary Sustainable Development Report and
web-based report, both available from the Company’s
website, www.lonmin.com.

�

�

�

�

�

Sustainable Development highlights in 2008 – key achievements versus targets
We achieved a number of our sustainable development targets in 2008, particularly in the following key areas:

Issue Achieved Target

Safety We improved our Long Term Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) by 42% from 2007,
exceeding our target.

Health We achieved a number of health targets in 2008. By the end of the year, we had
989 patients with HIV on our anti-retroviral treatment programme, ahead of our
target of a minimum of 900 patients. In 2008, we reduced our newly diagnosed
NIHL cases by 62% therefore achieving our target of 20% reduction from our
2007 baseline year.

Management 42.3% of our senior and middle management employees are now HDSA, ahead
of our 2009 target to ensure that 40% of this level of management comprise of
HDSA employees.

Preferential procurement In terms of preferential procurement, our total procurement spend in 2008 with
HDSA suppliers was 56%, surpassing our target of 50% by 2009.

Environment We have reduced our aggregate fresh water intake by 15% per unit of production.
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22 Board of Directors

Ian Farmer (46) Chief Executive Officer
Appointed a director in 2001 and as Chief
Executive Officer in September 2008, following
seven years as Chief Strategic Officer. A chartered
accountant, he joined the company in 1986 and
transferred to a group company in Zambia in 1990.
In 1995 he was appointed Finance Director of
Lonmin Platinum in South Africa, which position he
relinquished upon his transfer to London in 2001.
Ian has both South African and British nationality.

Alan Ferguson (50) Chief Financial Officer
Appointed as Chief Financial Officer and a director in
June 2007. Prior to joining Lonmin, he was Group
Finance Director of The BOC Group (BOC) until late
2006, following the Linde Group’s acquisition of BOC.
Before joining BOC in 2005, he worked for Inchcape plc
for 22 years in a variety of roles including Group Finance
Director from 1999 until his departure. Alan is a
Chartered Accountant and is a British national.

Dr Sivi Gounden (50)
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director
in September 2005. An engineer by profession,
Sivi joined the South African Government in 1994
and in 1999 he was appointed Director-General
of the newly established Department of Public
Enterprises. He was previously the Chief Executive
Officer of Bateman NV, a global process
engineering company and a trustee of the
Deutsche Bank Africa Foundation. He also served
as a Non-executive Director of Anglo American
Corporation of South Africa and of Grindrod
Limited, a company listed on the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange. Sivi is a South African national.

Peter Godsoe (70)
A chartered accountant and banker with an MBA
from Harvard, he was appointed an independent
Non-executive Director in 2001. He is a member of
the Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the
Board. Formerly Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of The Bank of Nova Scotia and Non-executive Director
of Templeton Emerging Markets Investment Trust Plc.
He is currently a Non-executive Director of Barrick Gold,
Onex Corporation, Rogers Communications Inc. and
Ingersoll-Rand Company. Peter is a Canadian national.

Karen de Segundo (61)
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director
in April 2005 and a member of the Audit and Risk
Committee and the Safety and Sustainability Committee.
Formerly Chief Executive Officer of Shell International
Renewables and Chief Executive of Shell’s global gas
and power business. She is currently a member of
the supervisory board of Ahold NV and of E.on AG, a
Non-executive Director of British American Tobacco Plc,
BlackRock New Energy Investment Trust Plc, Ensus
Limited and a member of the board of Pöyry Oyj. Karen
is a Dutch national.

Sir John Craven (67) Chairman
Appointed as an independent Non-executive Director
and Chairman of the Board in 1997. He was previously
Chairman of Fleming Family and Partners Limited, an
independent, privately-owned investment house, and was
the group Chief Executive and Chairman of Morgan Grenfell
Group plc and a member of the Board of Managing
Directors of Deutsche Bank AG after that company’s
acquisition of Morgan Grenfell. Sir John is a director of
GEMS Oriental and General Funds II and III. He has held a
number of Non-executive Directorships, including Reuters
Holdings plc, and is a Non-executive Chairman of
Patagonia Gold Plc and a Non-executive director of The
Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust. Sir John holds both
British and Canadian nationality and was knighted for his
services to banking and the City.
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Roger Phillimore (59) Deputy Chairman
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director in
1997. Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committees, and a member of the Audit and Risk
Committee. Formerly joint managing director of
Minorco, he is currently a Non-executive Director of
Harry Winston Diamond Corporation. Roger holds both
South African and British nationality.

Michael Hartnall (66) Senior Independent Director
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director in
May 2003. He is the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Committee and is a member of the Remuneration
Committee, the Safety and Sustainability Committee
and, the Nomination Committee. A chartered
accountant and former finance director of Rexam Plc,
he is also a Non-executive Director of BAE Systems plc.
Michael is a British national.

Jim Sutcliffe (52)
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director in
August 2007. Formerly Chief Executive of Old Mutual
plc, a post which he assumed in November 2001 after
acting as Chief Executive of the Old Mutual Group’s life
assurance business since January 2000. Before joining
Old Mutual, Jim was Chief Executive UK of Prudential plc.
Jim is a British national.

David Munro (53)
Appointed an independent Non-executive Director in
August 2007. He is currently Executive Director,
Strategy of Kazakhmys plc, a post he has held since
October 2006. Before joining Kazakhmys, David was
Chief Executive Officer of RMC Group PLC from
January 2004 until RMC’s acquisition by Mexico’s
Cemex in 2005. From 1981 he held a variety of
positions with Gencor/Billiton and then BHP Billiton
including Chief Development Officer from 2003 to 2004,
Vice President, Strategy and Business Development
from 2002 to 2003 and Executive Director Aluminium
from 1997 to 2002. David was a Non-executive Director
of Wogen plc from 2005 to 2007 and Kazakhmys plc
from 2005 to 2006. David is a British national.
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Business Review
The Companies Act 2006, Section 417 requires the Directors to present a Business Review in this report. The information that fulfils this
requirement can be found in the sections set below and is incorporated by reference into this report:
• The Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 and 3;
• The Chief Executive’s Review (including discussion of the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance

and position of the Company’s business) on pages 4 to 6;
• The Review of Operations on pages 7 to 11;
• The Financial Review on pages 12 to 15;
• The key performance indicators on pages 16 and 17 together with the Operational Statistics on pages 114 to 116;
• The discussion of environmental matters, employees and social and community issues on pages 18 to 21; and
• The discussion of Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 34 to 36;
• The disclosure of contractual arrangements below.

This Business Review has been prepared to provide the Company’s shareholders with a fair review of the business of the Company
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing it. It may not be relied upon by anyone, including the Company’s
shareholders, for any other purpose.

This Business Review and other sections of this report contain forward looking statements. By their nature, forward looking
statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and future assumptions because they relate to events and/or depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future and could cause actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those
expressed in or implied by the forward looking statements. No assurance can be given that the forward looking statements in this
Business Review will be realised. Statements about the Directors’ expectations, beliefs, hopes, plans, intentions and strategies are
inherently subject to change and they are based on expectations and assumptions as to future events, circumstances and other factors
which are in some cases outside the Company’s control. The information contained in this Business Review has been prepared on the
basis of the knowledge and information available to Directors at the date of its preparation and the Company does not undertake any
obligation to update or revise this Business Review during the financial year ahead. It is believed that the expectations set out in these
forward looking statements are reasonable, but they may be affected by a wide range of variables which could cause actual results or
trends to differ materially. The forward looking statements should be read in particular in the context of the specific risk factors for the
Company identified in this Business Review. The Company’s shareholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward
looking statements. Shareholders should note that this Business Review has not been audited or otherwise independently verified.

Principal activities of the Group
The principal activities of the Group during the year continued to be mining, refining and marketing of Platinum Group Metals. Analyses
of revenue, operating profit, principal activities and geographical origins appear in note 2 to the accounts and a list of the principal
subsidiary undertakings, indicating their main activities, appears in note 34. This Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the
Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, Review of Operations and the Financial Review which, together, give a fair review of
historic and likely future developments in the business of the Company and the principal trading operations of the Group.

There were no material changes from 30 September 2008 to the date of this report.
Lonmin Plc operates in South Africa as a branch which is registered in that country as an overseas company, in addition to the

business conducted by its subsidiary undertakings.

Pre-conditional offer by Xstrata Plc (Xstrata)
On 6 August 2008, Xstrata announced an unsolicited, proposed pre-conditional offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company
at a price of £33 per share. Xstrata also announced that it had acquired 16,706,483 shares in the Company representing 10.68% of the
issued share capital. The Board considered that this proposed pre-conditional offer was inadequate and significantly undervalued
Lonmin’s business and subsequently advised shareholders that they should reject any offer at this price.

By agreement with the Takeover Panel, Xstrata was required by 2 October 2008 to either announce a firm intention to make an offer
for the Company or announce that it did not intend to make an offer.

On 1 October 2008, Xstrata announced that, in light of uncertainty in the financial markets and due to certain terms of their finance
arrangements, it would not proceed with an offer for the Company within the deadline set by the Takeover Panel.

Xstrata subsequently acquired an additional 22,232,940 shares in the Company which, together with those shares already held,
totals 38,939,421 shares and represents 24.9% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Dividends
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement on page 2, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend given the continuing
difficulties in both the PGM and credit markets. The total dividend for the year ended 30 September 2008 comprises the net interim
dividend of 59 US cents paid on 8 August 2008 (total dividend 2007 – 115 US cents).
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Directorate
The present Board of the Company and their biographical details are set out on pages 22 and 23. In addition, Brad Mills served as a
Director of the Company for the whole of the year under review. On 29 September 2008, the Board announced that Ian Farmer had been
appointed Chief Executive Officer with immediate effect and Brad Mills had stepped down as CEO by mutual consent. Mr Mills
subsequently resigned as a director of the Company on 9 October 2008.

A summary of the rules regarding the appointment and replacement of Directors can be found in the Corporate Governance report
on page 31.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Sir John Craven and Michael Hartnall retire by rotation, as does Roger Phillimore who
is now subject to annual re-election having already served three three-year terms as a Director. Being eligible, each offers himself for
re-election. The Board has carried out formal performance evaluations of all the non-executive Directors seeking re-election and has
concluded that each is effective and demonstrates commitment to his respective role. Further information on those seeking re-election is
contained in the Directors’ biographies and in the Annual General Meeting circular accompanying this document. Each of the Directors
seeking re-election is a non-executive Director and none is party to a service contract with the Company.

Directors’ responsibilities
Information about the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the preparation of financial statements is given in the Corporate Governance
section within this Annual Report and on page 62 of this document.

Directors’ interests
Contracts of significance: No Director had at any time during the year a material interest in any contract of significance in relation to the
Company’s business.

Share interests: The interests of the Directors who held office at the end of the year, and to the date of this report, are shown in the
Remuneration Committee Report on pages 52 and 53. No Director held any beneficial interests in the share capital of any other Group
company at any time during the year or at the year end.

Audit information
Statements in relation to the disclosure of information to the auditors and in relation to the going concern basis used in the preparation of
the accounts can be found in the Corporate Governance report on page 32.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Accounting policies
The Lonmin Group financial statements are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
EU. The Group adopted the US Dollar as its reporting currency in 1998.

Financial risk management
Details of the Group’s financial risk management are described in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 34 to 36 and Financial
Review on pages 14 to 15 of this report.

Employees
The Lonmin Group is committed to the principle of equal opportunity and equity by maintaining an appropriately skilled and diverse
workforce irrespective of age, colour, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, sex, mental or physical handicaps, marital status, sexual
orientation, religion or belief. The Group seeks to fulfil this commitment through the application of various policies and procedures, details
of which can be found in the Summary Sustainable Development Report for the year ended 30 September 2008 and which can be
downloaded from the Company’s website.

Employee engagement continues to be a key focus for the Group. Employees are kept well informed of the performance and
objectives of the Group through team briefings, consultation with union representatives, regular newsletters from the Chief Executive
(translated into the four key languages spoken by the vast majority of our South African employees), all of which is supplemented with
communications produced by the operations on a shaft specific basis. The Company has also recently introduced an internal television
network at the K3 shaft, reaching a target audience of approximately 5,000 of our employees and which has proved exceptionally popular.

O
verview

R
eview

ofO
perations

S
ustainable

D
evelopm

ent
R
eview

FinancialR
eview

G
overnance

A
ccounts

O
perating

S
tatistics



26 Directors’ Report

Charitable and political donations
No political donations were made during the year. Lonmin has an established policy of not making donations to any political party,
representative or candidate in any part of the world.

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year in the United Kingdom amounted to £33,083 ($65,470) (2007 – £23,223
($45,330)). During the year, the Group funded a number of long-term social welfare and community development projects. The Group’s
funding for these projects for the year amounted to R5.2 million ($0.7 million) (2007 – R27 million ($3.6 million)). These amounts are in
addition to amounts expensed by the Group as the normal costs of the operation of its corporate social responsibility programme.
A fuller explanation of this expenditure will be contained in Lonmin’s Summary Sustainable Development Report for the year ended
30 September 2008 which, can be downloaded from the Company’s website.

Research and development
Group companies continue to be actively involved in research and development projects in the areas of mineral extraction and refining.

Policy on the payment of creditors
The Company complies with, and has registered its support of, the Better Payment Practice Code, available from the Better Payment
Practice Group website, www.payontime.co.uk. The Company has a consistent policy and practice of paying its bills in accordance with
contracts by settling the terms of payment with its suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, either by accepting suppliers’
standard terms of payment or by proposing alternative terms but, in either case, then abiding by the agreed payment terms. Trade
creditors of the Company at 30 September 2008 represented 5 days (2007 – 6 days) of annual purchases.

Annual General Meeting
The 2009 Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00 a.m. on Thursday, 29 January 2009 at the QEII Conference Centre, Broad
Sanctuary, Westminster, London, SW1P 3EE. A separate circular containing the Notice of Meeting, together with an explanation of the
items of special business, is enclosed with this Annual Report.

Additional information
Share capital and reserves
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company at 30 September 2008 is set out in note 26 to the accounts. The rights and
obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares and the provisions relating to the transfer of the ordinary shares are governed by
law and the Company’s Articles of Association.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive all shareholder documents, to receive notice of any general meeting, to attend,
speak and exercise voting rights, either in person or by proxy and are entitled to participate in distribution of income or capital.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares or on the exercise of voting rights attached to them except where the Company
has exercised its rights to suspend voting rights or to prohibit transfer.

The share capital comprises 50,000 sterling deferred shares in addition to the ordinary shares. These shares were created in 2002
and issued to a nominee company by the capitalisation of reserves in order to comply with the requirement that a public limited company
must have a minimum share capital of £50,000 in sterling. These shares do not rank pari passu with the ordinary shares of the Company.
The holders of such shares are not entitled to receive notice of any general meeting or to attend, speak or vote at any general meeting.
They are also not entitled to participate in any distribution of income or capital.

The trustee of the Lonmin Employee Share Trust does not seek to exercise voting rights on the ordinary shares held in trust.
The total share capital and reserves attributable to the Group amounted to $2,147 million at 30 September 2008. This compares with

$1,968 million at 30 September 2007.
At the Annual General Meeting held on 24 January 2008, shareholders approved an authority for the Company to make market

purchases of its own shares, up to a maximum of 15,600,000 shares (being approximately 10% of the issued share capital) at prices not
less than the nominal value of each share (being $1) and not exceeding 105% of the average mid-market price for the preceding five
business days. The Company made no purchases of its own shares during the year and no shares were acquired by forfeiture or
surrender or made subject to a lien or charge.

During the year, the Company allotted 231,338 ordinary shares of $1 each, for cash, following the exercise of options granted under
the Company’s share schemes and to provide the Company’s employee benefit trust with sufficient shares to meet its obligations in
connection with employees’ share schemes.

Resolutions will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting seeking shareholders’ consent to the allotment of equity
securities, a limited dis-application of the statutory pre-emption rights and an authority for the Company to make market purchases of its
own shares. A special resolution will also be proposed seeking shareholders’ consent to amendment of the Articles of Association.
Further details of all of these matters are set out in the circular accompanying this document.
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Additional information (continued)
Substantial shareholdings
The Company had been notified pursuant to DTR5 of the following interests in 3% or more of the Company’s total voting rights up to
17 November 2008:

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of Number of total voting
shares voting rights rights1 Direct/Indirect

Xstrata Plc 38,939,421 38,939,421 24.90 Indirect
Prudential Plc and group companies 19,034,741 19,034,741 12.17 Direct
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Ltd 9,125,207 9,125,207 5.84 Direct
Ameripise Financial Inc and group companies2 7,677,367 7,677,367 4.91 Indirect
Capital Research and Management Company 7,291,700 7,291,700 4.72 Indirect
Legal & General Group Plc 6,381,318 6,381,318 4.08 Direct
Vanguard Precious Metals and Mining Fund 6,269,413 6,269,413 4.01 Direct
Tradewinds Global Investors LLC3 5,602,835 5,602,835 3.58 Direct

1 Percentages as at date of notification.

2 Comprises 4.74% held indirectly and 0.17% held directly.

3 Comprises 1.02% held indirectly and 2.56% held directly.

The rights attaching to the ordinary shares of the Company held by these shareholders are identical in all respects to the rights attaching
to all the ordinary shares of the Company.

Amendment of Articles of Association
The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a special resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders.

A special resolution proposing amendments to the Articles of Association to accommodate certain provisions within the Companies
Act 2006, primarily relating to Directors’ conflicts of interest will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. Further details are set out in
the circular accompanying the Annual Report.

Powers of the Directors
Subject to legislation, the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and any directions given by special resolution, the business
of the Company is managed by the Directors, who may exercise all powers of the Company including the power to authorise the issue and
buy back of the Company’s shares (subject to the authority being given to the Directors by shareholders in general meeting).

Essential contractual arrangements
Certain Group companies are party to contracts and other arrangements which the Board judges are essential to the business of the
Company.

For any mining company, its mineral rights and mining licences are of crucial importance and therefore the New Order Mining Licence
granted by the South African government’s Department of Minerals and Energy to certain Group companies in respect of the Marikana
operations falls into this category, as do the old order mining rights in respect of the Limpopo operations and the various prospecting
rights held by Group companies.

The remaining essential contractual arrangements can be summarised as follows:
• Contracts for the purchase of inputs – while most of the supplies needed to operate the Group’s mines and refining facilities are

secured through competitive tendering in the open market, the Group is heavily dependent on Eskom for the supply of electricity, and
Rand Water in respect of the supply of water. The Company does not believe that it has any debt facilities which could not be
replaced in the open market.

• Contracts relating to labour and services – the principal arrangements essential to our business are collective agreements with trade
unions representing the majority of the Group’s employees, most notably with the National Union of Mineworkers in South Africa

• Contracts for the sale of goods – certain Group companies are party to separate contracts with BASF and Mitsubishi under which
substantially the whole of the Group’s production of finished metal for the period under review was sold.

Significant Agreements – change of control
A number of agreements take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid, such as debt
facilities and employee share plans. None of these are deemed to be significant except for the Company’s banking facilities in the amount
of $975 million spread amongst five separate facilities with the counterparties generally being syndicates of different banks. Three of
these facilities contain provisions which, in the event new terms to continue the facility are not agreed within 45 days of a change of
control, the lender is entitled to give notice cancelling the facility and declaring all outstanding loans together with accrued interest to
become payable within 30 days of such notice. The remaining two facilities contain provisions entitling the lender to declare all
outstanding loans immediately due.
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Additional information (continued)
Significant Agreements – change of control (continued)
The Company does not have agreements with any Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover except that certain provisions in some of the Company’s share plans may be triggered. These are
briefly described below and further information on these plans and on the Directors’ service agreements can be found in the
Remuneration Committee report on pages 37 to 54.

Awards made under the Stay & Prosper Plan crystallise immediately following a change of control, although they vest and become
payable on their normal maturity date (three years from the date of grant) and subject generally to continued employment of the
participant. Directors of the Company are not permitted to hold awards under this Plan.

Awards under the remainder of the share plans will vest to the extent specified by the Remuneration Committee, who will generally
take into account the extent to which the performance targets have been met and such other factors as they believe to be relevant in line
with the rules of the relevant plans.

By order of the Board

Rob Bellhouse
Company Secretary

17 November 2008

Lonmin Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London SW1X 7YL
Registered in England
Number 103002
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The Combined Code
The Board is fully committed to the highest standards of corporate governance which, it believes, creates the basis of business integrity
needed to deliver robust and sustainable business results. This report, together with the Directors’ Report and the reports of the Audit
and Risk Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Safety and Sustainability Committee, has been prepared
by reference to The Combined Code on Corporate Governance published by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) in June 2006 and the
revised version of the Turnbull Guidance published in October 2005 available from the FRC website, www.frc.org.uk. During the year to
30 September 2008 and to the date of this report, the Company has in all respects complied with the provisions of section 1 of the
Combined Code.

The purpose of this report is to explain how the Company has applied the principles of good governance so far as these relate to
listed companies. These cover four subject areas:
• Directors;
• Directors’ remuneration;
• Accountability and audit; and
• Relations with shareholders.

Directors
The Board
The Company is led and controlled by the Board of Directors. The Board currently has ten members, comprising an independent non-
executive Chairman, seven Non-executive Directors, all of whom the Board judges to be independent, and two executive Directors.

Details of the individuals’ skills and experience are contained in the Directors’ biographies on pages 22 and 23.
The Board meets regularly, normally on six occasions during the year and more frequently as required, including two meetings in

South Africa. The Board provides the entrepreneurial leadership, direction and control of the Company; is the custodian of the Company’s
strategic aims, vision and values; and assesses whether the necessary financial and human resources are, and will continue to be, in
place to enable the Company to meet its objectives. It has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its decision, the most material of
which fall into the key areas listed below:
• Strategy and management;
• Financial reporting and control;
• Social, environmental and ethical matters;
• Contracts and financial commitments;
• External communications;
• Corporate governance;
• Remuneration; and
• Board composition and membership.

Whilst all Directors have equal responsibility in law for managing the Company’s affairs, it is the role of executive management to run
the business within the parameters laid down by the Board and to produce clear, accurate and timely reports to enable the Board to
monitor and assess management’s performance. The executives make full use of the expertise and experience that the Non-executive
Directors bring from their business careers. The Chairman routinely holds discussions with Non-executive Directors without the executive
Directors being present.

All Directors are free to express their views and may ask that these be recorded in the minutes where appropriate. The Company
maintains, at its expense, a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy to afford an indemnity in certain circumstances for the benefit
of Directors and other Group personnel. The insurance policy does not provide cover where the Director or officer has acted fraudulently
or dishonestly.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and to the extent permitted by law, indemnities were put in place in 2007
to protect all past, present and future Directors and officers of the Company from all costs and expenses incurred in the defence of any
civil or criminal proceedings in which judgement is given in their favour or the proceedings are otherwise disposed of without a finding of
fault or the successful application to court for relief from liability. Under the terms of the indemnities, the Company is permitted to advance
funds to meet a Director’s defence costs which, should the Director not be exonerated, would be repayable to the Company. The
indemnities are expressed to operate only to the extent that the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy fails to respond to a claim.

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 29 January 2009 shareholders will be asked to approve changes to the Articles of
Association including, inter alia, the implementation of those provisions of the Companies Act 2006 dealing with Directors’ conflicts of interest.

Chairman and Chief Executive
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are clearly separated and set out in writing. The Chairman, who is an independent Director,
is responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda, and for ensuring that there is effective
communication with all shareholders. The Chairman also facilitates the effective contribution of all Directors and ensures that there is a
constructive relationship between the executive and Non-executive Directors. The role of the Chief Executive is to provide leadership to
the executive team in running the business, to develop proposals for the Board to consider in all areas reserved for its judgement and
oversee the efficient and effective implementation of Board-approved actions.
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Directors (continued)
Board balance and independence
The Board believes that it has sufficient members to contain a balance of experience and skills and to manage succession issues but
without being so large as to be unwieldy. The quality of the individual Directors and the Board’s composition is a key contributor to the
Board’s effectiveness, with no one individual or group of individuals being able to dominate the decision-taking. The Board keeps the
membership of its Committees under review, to ensure gradual refreshing of skills and experience. It is satisfied that all Directors have
sufficient time to devote to their roles and that it is not placing undue reliance on key individuals.

All of the Non-executive Directors are regarded as independent by the Board. Sir John Craven and Roger Phillimore have each
served on the Board for a period of more than nine years. The Combined Code suggests (but does not explicitly state) that tenure
beyond nine years may be a relevant factor in the consideration of the independence of those individuals. The Board believes that
independence is a state of mind and is fully satisfied that both individuals demonstrate complete independence in character, judgement
and action in fulfilling their duties.

The Senior Independent Director, Michael Hartnall is available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal
channels has failed to resolve or for which such contact would be inappropriate.

The Company has previously implemented a Board performance evaluation process which is designed to identify whether the Board
possesses the relevant skills, knowledge and experience to fulfil its mandate, so enabling it to manage succession issues.

Appointments to the Board
To ensure a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to the Board, a Nomination Committee has
been empowered. Its work is more fully described in its report on page 58. Appointments are made on merit and against objective
criteria. In the case of candidates for Non-executive directorships, care is taken to ascertain whether they have sufficient time available to
meet their Board and, where relevant, Committee responsibilities. As part of this process, candidates disclose all other time commitments
and, on appointment, undertake to inform the Board of any changes. The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-executive
Directors are available for public inspection and a sample letter of appointment is provided on the Company’s website.

Board Committees
The Board has established four Committees and provides sufficient resources to enable them to undertake their duties. Membership of
these Committees during the year to 30 September 2008 and to the date of this report (except where stated otherwise) is shown below.

Safety and
Audit and Risk Nomination Remuneration Sustainability1

Non-executive directors
Sir John Craven Member
Karen de Segundo Member Member
Peter Godsoe Member Member
Sivi Gounden Chairman
Michael Hartnall Chairman Member Member Member2

David Munro Member Member
Roger Phillimore Member Chairman Chairman
Jim Sutcliffe Member

Executive director
Brad Mills Member3

1 The Committee comprises a number of senior executives in addition to those noted above.

2 Ceased 2 May 2008

3 Resigned 9 October 2008

Information and professional development
The Board is supplied with regular and timely information in a form and of a quality that enables it to discharge its duties. All Directors are
encouraged to make further enquiries as they feel appropriate of the executive Directors or management. The Chairman advocates that
all Directors continually update their skills and knowledge, and develop the familiarity with the Company’s operations needed to fulfil their
role. The Company provides the necessary resources for developing and updating all Directors’ knowledge and capabilities, both on
appointment and subsequently as necessary. This includes a full, formal and tailored induction programme, briefings on the legal,
regulatory, financial and competitive environments in which the Company operates and, when appropriate, the opportunity to meet a
range of major shareholders and external advisors. There is a procedure in place for Directors to take independent professional advice,
if they judge this to be necessary, at the Company’s expense. In addition, Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources, plus
the power to co-opt such additional support as they may require from time to time, to undertake their duties. All Directors have access to
the services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for information flows to the Board, facilitating induction and assisting with
professional development as required, ensuring compliance with Board procedure and applicable laws and regulation and advising the
Board on corporate governance matters. The appointment or removal of the Company Secretary is a Board decision.
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Directors (continued)
Performance evaluation
A comprehensive and formal evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board, the Board committees and of individual Directors was carried
out in May 2008. The review comprised a tailor made questionnaire which facilitated debate around a number of key issues including
strategy, Board process, Board composition, remit of the various committees and interaction with executives and senior managers within
the business. Whilst the evaluation did not identify any significant issues, the feedback indicated a strong desire for a greater degree of
interaction between Board members and key executives and senior managers, and also the need for additional opportunities for informal
discussions of key business issues between Board members.

Under the chairmanship of the Senior Independent Director and without the Chairman being present, the Board also assessed the
effectiveness of the Chairman. The unanimous conclusion was that the Chairman was fully committed to Lonmin and was effective in
the role.

Succession planning
The Board formally reviews succession plans for all key management roles including executive directorships, on an annual basis. The
purpose of this is twofold – firstly, to mitigate the risk of key roles not having one or more identified successors and secondly, to review
potential development opportunities and career plans for talented individuals.

Attendance at Board meetings
The Non-executive Directors make themselves available to management whenever required and there are numerous regular contacts
outside the Board meeting schedule. The Board met formally on nine occasions during the year. Attendance at these meetings was as
follows:

Number of
meetings held Number of
during time meetings

Director in office attended

Sir John Craven 9 9
Karen De Segundo 9 9
Ian Farmer 9 9
Peter Godsoe 9 9
Michael Hartnall 9 9
Brad Mills 9 9
Roger Phillimore 9 9
Sivi Gounden* 9 7
Alan Ferguson 9 9
David Munro 9 8
Jim Sutcliffe 9 8

* Sivi Gounden did not attend two Board meetings due to a conflict of interest.

In addition, a further ten ad hoc meetings of a committee of the Board were held to issue formal approvals or deal with other matters.

Re-election of Directors
All Directors are required by the Company’s Articles of Association to submit themselves to shareholders for re-election after first
appointment and thereafter by rotation at least once every three years. Where a Non-executive Director (save for the Chairman) has
served more than three three-year terms, they are obliged to submit themselves for re-election on an annual basis. Sufficient biographical
and other information (including, in the case of a Non-executive Director seeking re-election, a statement as to their continued
effectiveness and commitment) is provided to enable shareholders to make an informed decision.

Directors’ remuneration
While the Board is ultimately responsible for Directors’ remuneration, the Remuneration Committee, consisting solely of independent
Non-executive Directors, is responsible for determining the remuneration and conditions of employment of executive Directors and senior
executives. A report on Directors’ remuneration, including a more detailed description of the role and activities of the Remuneration
Committee is set out on pages 37 to 54.
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Accountability and audit
Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report (including a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate
Governance Statement) and the Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law, they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and
they have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the UK Accounting Standards and applicable
law forming UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position and the
performance of the Group; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part
of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.

The parent Company financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent Company.
In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;
• for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any

material departures disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the parent

Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration
Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

The Directors’ Responsibility Statement can be found on page 62.

Disclosure of information to auditors
As required under Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985, so far as each current Director is aware, there is no information relevant to
the audit of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as
a Director to make himself or herself aware of any such information and to ensure that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Directors’ approach
The Board’s objective is to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and prospects, particularly in
the Annual Report, Interim Report and other published documents and reports to regulators. The Board has established an Audit and
Risk Committee to assist with this obligation. A report from the Audit and Risk Committee describing its work fully is set out on pages
55 to 57.

Going concern
The Directors consider that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and that it is,
therefore, appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have satisfied themselves
that the Group is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities and can reasonably expect those
facilities to be available to meet the Group’s foreseeable cash requirements.
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Accountability and audit (continued)
Internal control and risk management
The Company has complied and continues to comply with the provisions of the Combined Code on internal controls and the relevant
parts of the Turnbull and Smith guidance. There is an ongoing process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant
risks facing the Group that has been in place throughout the year under review and to the date of approval of the accounts. This process
has been reviewed regularly by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board, and accords with the guidance appended to the Code.

The Company uses a standard risk management framework across the operation to assess risks. Each principal business unit across
the Group identifies risks that could impede the achievement of their business objectives and these are recorded in a business unit risk
register. This takes place at least once a year. For each risk, management identifies the risk, its causes and consequences. They then
assess the maximum exposure of the risk and look at the effectiveness of controls in place to mitigate the risk. A numerical scoring
matrix is used to derive a risk score and priority. Action plans are devised for the significant risks and progress against these plans is
monitored frequently.

Each business unit is supported by an Operational Risk Champion who co-ordinates all of the risk management activity in the
business unit, ensuring that actions are tracked and closed out appropriately.

This structure is supported by a small central risk management team, which provides expertise to the business units and provides
consolidated reports, including a consolidated Group risk register, to management and to the Audit and Risk Committee.

For the avoidance of doubt, while the Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control, management is
responsible for implementing agreed Board policies. Systems of internal control can only be designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives and cannot provide absolute assurance against material mis-statement or loss.
Historically, the Company has outsourced its internal audit function, but has recently appointed a Head of Internal Audit, based in South
Africa and intends to develop its own capabilities in this area. To ensure the Audit and Risk Committee has full oversight of the work of
the internal audit function and discharges its responsibilities effectively in this area, the Head of Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of
the Audit and Risk Committee, with a joint reporting line to the VP, Treasury and Risk.

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and systems for the identification and management of risk, and has (with the assistance of the Audit and Risk
Committee) undertaken such a review as part of the process of compiling this report. Whilst the Audit and Risk Committee routinely
meets with both the internal and external auditors and discusses matters of internal control, it also performed (on behalf of the Board)
a specific review of the internal control environment following the year end. This included reviewing management confirmation letters
completed by senior executives within the business and also reviewing the work of the numerous external assurance providers
responsible for assessing the business and its control environment and considering progress made by management in mitigating the key
risks facing the Group. These processes supplement all the other management reporting and discussion of risk and reports provided to
the Audit and Risk Committee by the external auditors and other specialist advisors by way of combined assurance on the Group’s risk
and control environments. Action has been, or is being, taken where necessary to remedy any significant failings and weaknesses
identified in the review of effectiveness of the internal control system.

Relations with shareholders
The Combined Code encourages dialogue with institutional shareholders based on the mutual understanding of objectives. The Directors
have regular discussions with institutional shareholders where they believe this to be in the interests of shareholders generally. Detailed
feedback from these visits is shared with the Board and a summary of the views expressed is presented to the next Board meeting. In
addition, the Chairman routinely offers key shareholders the opportunity of meetings with either himself, the Deputy Chairman or the
Senior Independent Director to discuss governance, strategy or any other matters shareholders wish to raise. Copies of analysts’ notes
on the Company are circulated to all Directors and senior executives, as are summaries of analysts’ opinions collected anonymously by
the Company’s financial PR advisors.

The Combined Code urges boards to use the Annual General Meeting to communicate with private investors and to encourage their
participation, as well as offering some detailed guidance on procedure in connection with Annual General Meetings. The Board has
followed these particular principles for many years. We give shareholders the opportunity to vote on every substantially different issue by
proposing separate resolutions and use electronic poll voting on all resolutions, with the results of those votes being announced to the
markets and displayed on our website. This enables the votes of all shareholders to be taken into account, whether they are able to
attend the meeting or not, as well as providing a more discreet and democratic method of voting at the meeting. In recognition of the
needs of private shareholders, the Company’s website contains a range of investor relations materials, including up-to-date information
on the Group’s activities, copies of all presentation materials given to institutional investors and further explanation of the matters
contained in the annual reporting documents.

This report was approved by the Board on 17 November 2008.
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34 Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Introduction
Risk is an inevitable facet of business and Lonmin faces many risks to the delivery of its intended business outcomes. Lonmin has a
formal process that identifies and reviews risks and devises mitigation plans to address the known risks with progress against these
action plans being reviewed regularly. The Company’s strategy takes into account these known risks, but risks will exist of which we are
currently unaware. As required by law, there is a discussion below of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group based on
our current understanding but readers should be aware that this is not an exhaustive list and new risks may emerge or the severity or
probability of the occurrence of known risks may change from time to time.

Strategic Risks
The Board of the Company has adopted its present strategy as it believes it is the one most likely to add the greatest value for
shareholders and other stakeholders. The strategy is a product of our current understanding of the balance between supply and demand
for Platinum Group Metals (PGMs), the implications of this for the pricing of the individual metals in the future, and the risk of successfully
executing the strategy. It is possible that, with time, factors become known that indicate that the strategy currently being pursued is not
the most efficacious and that alternative strategies may have been more appropriate.

Operational Risks
Skills Shortage: There is a significant shortage of skills in the mining industry and generally in South Africa and hence there is severe
competition to secure the best people. There is a risk that the Group may not be able to attract, retain and develop the skilled people
needed to execute the strategy. The Group has put in place reward schemes to attract and retain people in key roles.

Access to funding: The Group requires access to funding as its existing operations need continued expenditure to maintain and expand
above the current level of production. Access to funding is also required to meet all of its liabilities in full, including any contingent
liabilities. Whilst the Group enjoys excellent relationships with its lenders and is currently able to support the level of debt it plans to carry,
there is a risk that this could change in the future. This is particularly relevant given current world economic conditions where access to
liquidity may come at a premium or may not be possible at all. Further information about how the Group manages liquidity and interest
rate risk is included in the Financial Review.

Adequacy and quality of existing mineral reserves: In order to access the ore body, shafts need to be sunk and the underground
infrastructure built ahead of time. This work is generically referred to as ‘development’ and requires considerable capital investment. The
quality of mineral reserves is based on geological estimates. There is therefore risk associated with the variability in any ore body such as
the Bushveld Igneous Complex and while we have significant experience of our ore body and have the benefit of a relatively constant ore
body thickness and grade, there is no absolute assurance that we will not encounter variability in future. These risks also apply when the
Group acquires resources. The Group’s reserve estimates take into account actual exploration and production results, depletion, new
information on geology and fluctuations in production, operating and other costs and economic parameters such as platinum price. As a
control, the Group undertakes an annual audit of mineral reserves by a competent person working to globally accepted standards, with
independent confirmation occurring every year. These factors could result in reductions in mineral reserve and resource estimates which
could impact on our life of mine plans, the net present value of the Group and could negatively affect our reputation.

Rising costs: The threat of rising costs could undermine the competitiveness of mining and metals companies generally. This risk impacts
on the entire value chain from exploration through to metal refining and distribution of final product. The increasing cost of energy,
materials and labour could threaten new mines reaching planned production and existing production processes face increasing cost
pressure. The Group’s labour costs are incurred primarily in South Africa where inflation rates, and hence wage settlements, are
significantly higher than average. As mentioned in the CEO’s review, we are currently undertaking a major exercise to look at all our costs
and review our competitiveness.

Access to secure energy & water: Lonmin is highly dependent on electricity and water to mine and extract PGM’s. Whilst load shedding
by Eskom, our power supplier in SA, has now stopped and existing operations are being supplied by appropriate levels of power, there is
a risk that load shedding could return in the future. There is also a risk that new projects will not receive adequate power allocation from
Eskom and/or water supply is not readily available to service a project. There is a risk therefore that projects may have to be delayed or
cancelled altogether. Whilst Eskom is addressing the power demand issues, it could be some time before clarity over future supply of
power is obtained.

PGM Industry Risks
Demand side risks: Demand for Platinum, Palladium and Rhodium is primarily driven by the autocatalysis sector, with the main factors
being the emissions standards imposed by legislation, the global trend towards diesel engine vehicles (which predominantly use Platinum
as their catalyst) and the global demand for motor vehicles which has been impacted by the recent financial crisis. There is also some
effect on demand from the engine size of the vehicles being manufactured and there will be changes in demand for each of the individual
metals as the weightings used for catalysis alter with technological innovations. The Platinum jewellery sector tends to be price-sensitive
although, within this, the bridal jewellery market shows less sensitivity to price. In recent years, the price-led reduction in demand for
Platinum jewellery has led to the emergence of a market for Palladium jewellery, modestly increasing demand for that metal. The
remainder of the demand for PGMs comes from a variety of industrial applications, many of which are relatively new and for which the
demand sensitivity to price through the full commodity cycle has yet to be fully experienced and understood. Although the overall
demand for PGMs generally is forecast to remain strong, there is a risk as autocat manufacturers thrift and substitute. There is also a risk
of a technological breakthrough enabling the wholesale replacement of PGMs as the primary material for autocatalysis. Within the
jewellery sector, there is the risk of a reduction in demand for PGMs in general, and Platinum in particular, due to increased substitution
by other precious metals. We monitor exposure to market segments and periodically review this.
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PGM Industry Risks (continued)
Supply side risk: An oversupply of PGMs would have the same economic impact on commodity pricing as a reduction in the level of
market demand. The vast majority of the world’s PGM resources are in South Africa (which currently hosts over 75% of total worldwide
platinum production) although there are significant commercial PGM ore bodies in Zimbabwe, Russia, Canada and the USA. At the
macro-economic level, the relative levels of country risk associated with each jurisdiction may have an impact on the quantities of PGMs
produced in each year, with the risk that there may be fluctuations in the level of supply caused by local economic and regulatory
conditions. The decisions made by each of the major PGM producers will also have an effect on the overall level of market supply and,
although each of the industry majors has an aggressive growth profile and a number of smaller competitors have ambitious plans, there
must be significant uncertainty as to whether or not all of the projects currently planned by the PGM industry will ultimately be developed
to full production. There remains a degree of risk that a major new ore body will be discovered that would fundamentally alter the balance
between supply and demand and, therefore, the long-term price of PGMs in general and platinum in particular.

Commodity price risk: the market price for PGMs can fluctuate widely, both from the impact of the normal supply and demand factors
but also as a consequence of speculation in the individual metals. There is a risk that the price of any given metal may fall and that
speculation may accentuate this trend. The price of PGMs may also be affected by various other uncertain market factors such as
financial market expectations regarding interest and inflation rates and movements in the relative worth of currencies. Further information
about how the Group manages commodity price risk is included in the Financial Review.

Mining Sector Risks
Industry consolidation: The key drivers for mergers and acquisitions in the sector have been high commodity prices, resource security,
delays in completing new projects and risk diversification. Merger and acquisition transactions originating from entities in Brazil, Russia,
India and China (the BRIC countries) have increased dramatically driven by lack of sufficient natural resources to maintain current growth
rates and entities seeking greater access to raw materials outside of these countries. There is increasing pressure on companies
including Lonmin to either transact or grow.

Increased Regulation: Mining companies globally are subject to a variety of local industry-specific laws and regulations. As these laws
and regulations increase in complexity and reporting requirements become more burdensome, the cost to the Group increases along
with the risk of unintentional non-compliance. This may lead to regulatory fines/litigation, loss of operating licence and/or loss of reputation.

Risks of disruption to production: Mining is susceptible to numerous events that may have an adverse impact on the performance of the
Group, either by causing severe damage to capital assets, or by necessitating the suspension or even termination of operations. These
events include, but are not limited to, the availability of critical inputs (including power and water), environmental hazards, industrial
accidents, underground fires, labour disputes, encountering unexpected geological formations, unanticipated ground and water
conditions, accidents in underground operations, failure of mining pit slopes and tailings dam walls, legal and regulatory restrictions and
changes to such restrictions, seismic activity; and other natural phenomena, such as floods or inclement weather conditions.

Employee-related risks: Mining operations in South Africa are highly unionised and, in Lonmin’s case, a single union represents the vast
majority of the Group’s workers. There is, therefore, a risk that strikes or other types of conflict with unions or employees may occur
which, if material, could have an adverse effect on the Group’s performance and its financial condition. HIV/AIDS remains the major
healthcare challenge faced by the Group’s operations, with a 2003 epidemiological survey (one of the largest ever undertaken in South
Africa) suggesting that 23% of our employees are HIV positive. In response, the Group has initiated a programme of anti-retroviral drugs
for those whom it might benefit, backed up by appropriate encouragement to undertake an HIV test through a voluntary counselling and
testing programme. While the results of this have been very encouraging, with the vast majority of those who may benefit now on ART
and generally back at work, HIV/AIDS will pose an ongoing and conceivably increasing risk for the foreseeable future. The other principal
challenges facing the Group are tuberculosis and other occupational lung diseases, particularly among those who have previously worked
in South Africa’s gold mines, whilst there always remains a risk that another health pandemic could affect our workforce.

Safety and Sustainability: Lonmin is committed to Zero Harm to our employees, to the environment and to the communities in which we
operate. This is one of Lonmin’s key values in which we invest significant time, effort and money. However, whatever effort we put into
these areas, there is a risk of injury, environmental discharge or negative impact on the community arising from our operations. Any
breach of regulations or non-compliance with Lonmin’s own best practice standards in health & safety, environmental performance &
community relations may damage our reputation and, as a result, our licence to operate. Lonmin actively manages these risks by
monitoring trends and engaging others in our goals but there is a risk that isolated incidents could lead to adverse consequences
including production disruption and reputational damage.

Land claims: Due to historical factors, the ownership of land in South Africa can be subject to challenge from those alleging wrongful
dispossession. In common with the rest of the industry, the Group faces a number of such claims. Successful land claims on property
falling within the Group’s mining licence areas could increase the Group’s cost base as compensation would be payable to land owners
for any loss or damage suffered by them as a result of prospecting or mining operations conducted by the Group on their property.
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36 Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Macro-economic factors
Risks associated with the countries in which we operate: The Group operates in six countries with some activities being conducted
through joint venture arrangements. In each jurisdiction, the legal and regulatory regimes will continue to evolve in response to external
events and the Group must address the obligations and responsibilities that this creates. While the Group does and would lobby for
change where appropriate, any such changes are ultimately driven by the governments of those countries and are outside the Group’s
control. There is, therefore, a risk that change may be introduced which materially disadvantages the Group and with which it must
comply. In South Africa the Government has been drafting and debating a Royalty Bill which will come into effect on 1 May 2009. More
detail on how this Royalty will impact Lonmin is included in the Financial Review under Fiscal Risk.

Foreign exchange risk: The Group faces the risk of fluctuations in profitability caused by movements in foreign exchange rates and is
particularly sensitive to movements in US Dollar/South African Rand currency pair. Most of the Group’s operations are in South Africa and
so incur costs in Rand while the revenue stream is almost wholly denominated in US Dollars. Further information about how the Group
manages foreign exchange risk is included in the Financial Review.

World economic conditions: Demand for the Group’s products is a factor of world economic conditions. For example, during a consumer
boom, more automobiles will be sold, creating greater demand for PGMs. However, during a world economic slowdown or recession, it
is possible that demand for all products, including those containing, or made in processes requiring the use of, PGMs would reduce and
commodity prices generally would fall. As a consequence, the Group’s prosperity is intricately linked to general economic conditions and
there is a risk of material deterioration in the Group’s performance and finances during such macro-economic events.
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The report below has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board. KPMG Audit Plc have audited the
following items stipulated in law for their review:
• The table of Directors’ remuneration and associated footnotes on page 41, and the disclosure of the items comprising the Directors’

benefits in kind.
• The disclosure of Directors’ defined contribution pension arrangements on page 43.
• The tables of Directors’ share options and awards and associated footnotes on pages 52 and 53.

Remuneration Committee
Role of the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is a formal committee of the Board and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of Association. Its
remit is set out in terms of reference formally adopted by the Board which were last reviewed in November 2005. A copy of the terms of
reference is available on the Company’s website (under Our business/Executive Management). The primary purposes of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in its terms of reference and are:
• To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s framework of executive remuneration;
• To determine individual remuneration packages within that framework for the executive Directors and certain senior executives;
• To oversee the administration of the Company’s incentive schemes;
• To review Directors’ expenses; and
• To oversee the Company’s executive pension arrangements,
all of which it carries out on behalf of the Board.

The Committee is authorised to seek information from any Director or employee of the Group and co-opt any resources (including
external professional assistance) it sees fit in order to fulfil its duties. Minutes of Committee meetings are circulated to all Directors and
supplemented by a verbal update from the Committee Chairman at the next Board meeting, identifying any material matters which arose
from the Committee’s work. The Committee presents a summary of its activities to shareholders and other interested parties by means of
this report and the Committee Chairman attends the Annual General Meeting to answer any questions on the Committee’s activities.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee
All independent Directors, with the exception of the Chairman of the Board, are eligible to become members of the Committee. The
Board is empowered to appoint or remove members. Any two members of the Committee form a quorum. The Committee comprised
the following members during the year and to the date of this report:
• Roger Phillimore: an independent Director who has been a member of the Remuneration Committee and its Chairman since

September 2002.
• Peter Godsoe: an independent Director who has been a member of the Remuneration Committee since September 2002.
• Michael Hartnall: an independent Director who has been a member of the Remuneration Committee since May 2003.
• David Munro: an independent Director who has been a member of the Remuneration Committee since September 2007.

Given their diverse backgrounds and experience, the Board believes that the Committee members are able to offer a balanced view on
executive remuneration issues. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee.

Meetings of the Committee are attended by the Chief Executive, the HR Director and the Company Secretary, none of whom do so
as of right and who do not attend when their own remuneration is being discussed.

Advisors to the Remuneration Committee
Throughout the year, the Committee was assisted in its work by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of remuneration
consultants who were appointed by, and report to, the Committee but who also supported management in developing and implementing
remuneration proposals. PricewaterhouseCoopers have also provided IFRS2 valuations for the company during the year. Other than the
above remuneration advice and IFRS2 valuation work, no other services were provided to the Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

In making its decisions, the Committee consults with the Chief Executive and HR Director in relation to remuneration of executive
Directors and senior executives.

In addition, the following advisors have been retained on behalf of the Company, and provide information to the Committee on
relevant matters being considered by the Committee:
Herbert Smith LLP – legal services in respect of employment law and company share schemes.
Allen and Overy LLP – legal services in respect of employment law, company share schemes and pensions advice.
AIBJerseytrust Limited and Killik Employee Share Services – respectively, trustee services and administrative support on various share
schemes.
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Activities of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee normally meets four times annually and reports its material findings to the next Board meeting. The principal business of
these meetings was:
• November: approval or review of changes to or affecting those within the Committee’s purview, approval of payment of short-term

incentives for the prior year, consideration of detailed design of the short-term incentive plan for the current year, approval of offer of
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABP) awards including settling the performance condition, review of status of performance conditions
attaching to outstanding awards, approval of the Remuneration Committee Report and any relevant Annual General Meeting
business, review of Directors’ expenses for the quarter to end September.

• March: approval or review of changes to or affecting those within the Committee’s purview, review of projected short-term incentives
for the current year, review of status of performance conditions attaching to outstanding awards, review of Directors’ expenses for the
quarter to end December, consideration of final proposal for the revision of the Company’s remuneration strategy.

• July: approval or review of changes to or affecting those within the Committee’s purview, review of projected short-term incentives for
the current year, approval of awards to be made under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and Stay & Prosper Plan, review of status
of performance conditions attaching to outstanding awards, review of Directors’ expenses for the quarter to end March.

• September: approval or review of changes to or affecting those within the Committee’s purview, salary review for executive Directors
and senior executives based on performance appraisal data, external salary benchmarking review, review of projected short-term
incentives for the current year, review of initial design of the short-term incentive plan for the new financial year, review of status of
performance conditions attaching to outstanding awards, review of Directors’ expenses for the quarter to end June, review of the
effectiveness of the Committee and its Chairman.

In addition to the routine business described above, the Committee also undertook the following activities during the year and in the
period to the date of this report in discharging its responsibilities:
• Consideration and approval of a special award under the Stay & Prosper Plan in March 2008;
• Approval of the vesting of the 2004 DABP awards;
• Approval of the vesting of the 2005 LTIP and Stay & Prosper awards;
• Consideration of Brad Mills’ severance arrangements.

The Committee met six times during the year. Attendance at these meetings was as follows:
Number of

meetings attended

Peter Godsoe 6
Michael Hartnall 5
David Munro 5
Roger Phillimore 6

The Combined Code
The Directors consider that the Company has, throughout the year, complied with all of the provisions relating to Directors’ remuneration
set out in the Combined Code.

Relations with shareholders
The Committee is strongly committed to open and transparent dialogue with shareholders on remuneration matters. The Committee
consults extensively with key institutional investors and various representative bodies to obtain their views on, and support for, proposed
changes to the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior executives.

Remuneration policy and practice
Non-executive Directors
The Board, with the benefit of independent professional advice, determines the fees of the Non-executive Directors. When deciding an
appropriate level of fee for the responsibilities taken on by the Non-executive Directors, the Board considers the responsibility and time
commitment required to fulfil the role, taking into account the number of meetings required to be attended, the time required for reading
Board and other papers, the duties associated with membership or chairmanship of Board Committees or (in the case of Sir John
Craven) chairmanship of the Board, and the significant overseas travel required of all Non-executive Directors by the Company.
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Remuneration policy and practice (continued)
Executive Directors and senior executives
The Committee’s remuneration policy is geared towards providing a level of remuneration which attracts, retains and motivates Directors
and senior executives of a suitable calibre to execute the Company’s strategic plans but, at the same time, ensures remuneration is
consistent with best practice and aligned with the interests of the Company’s shareholders. Importantly, no Director plays any part in
setting his own remuneration.

In setting remuneration within this framework, the Committee seeks to give the individuals every encouragement to enhance the
Company’s performance whilst ensuring that they are fairly, but responsibly, rewarded for their personal contributions. It also takes into
account levels of pay and rates of annual increase elsewhere in the Group. The Committee’s strategy is a carefully balanced blend of
fixed and performance-related pay geared to deliver over the short, medium and long term. The Committee also has regard to the
significant level of competition for experienced, talented managers in the mining industry, both globally and specifically within South
Africa, and the need to ensure that the Company maintains an adequate ‘retention hold’ over its key executives. The structure of the
remuneration offered to the executive Directors and senior executives and the underlying principles on which the package is predicated
are detailed below.

Element Purpose Basis of delivery

Base salary • Reflects market median levels based on role and • Base salary is benchmarked against other UK listed
individual skill and experience companies of comparable size and (only where

• Pay is linked to performance as measured in the appropriate) a peer group of international companies in
annual performance review (APR) process the mining sector

• Individual performance and contribution recognised
through APR process to ensure market competitiveness

Pension • Provides a market competitive level of provision with • Defined contribution funding or cash-settled salary
good flexibility while minimising risk to the Company supplement at executive’s choice

Annual bonus • Incentivises achievement of annual objectives • Balanced scorecard based on combination of corporate
consistent with the short to medium term strategic and personal objectives (further details on page 44)
needs of the business

DABP • Incentivises stretch performance • Half of award subject to demanding EBIT targets
• Forces alignment with shareholders’ interests by • Half of award subject to demanding RTSR targets

requiring executives to put value at risk through (further details on page 45)
mandatory deferral • Measured over a 3 year period

• Strong retention incentive • Maximum reward will only occur for upper quartile
performance

LTIP • Incentivises long term value creation • Half of award subject to demanding EBIT targets
• Alignment with shareholder interests through • Half of award subject to demanding RTSR targets

delivery in shares (further details on page 47)
• Strong retention incentive • Measured over a 3 year period
• Upper quartile performance should lead to potential • Maximum reward will only occur for top decile

upper quartile total reward performance

The same basic remuneration principles will apply for 2009. However, for the coming year, in order to support a focus on crucial short-
term operating imperatives, the annual bonus opportunity will be increased, coupled with a higher mandatory deferral into shares.
Executives will not be eligible to earn any matching shares on their deferred bonus, in order to ensure that there is no increase in the
overall incentive opportunity. LTIP awards for executive Directors will be unchanged.

Benchmarking methodology
The Committee routinely analyses remuneration practices in two groups of comparable companies, the first being UK listed businesses
of comparable size and scope to Lonmin, the second being direct international peers in the mining sector with whom the Company is in
direct competition in the recruitment of experienced executive talent. The aim of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure that our
remuneration framework is competitive with the latter without being out of step with the former. In this way, the Committee aims to avoid
generating excessive reward for Lonmin’s Directors and senior executives whilst ensuring that the Company’s reward structures are
capable of reaching top quartile levels, where justified by performance.

Full details of each element of the Directors’ remuneration packages are set out on page 41 together with an analysis on page 42
showing the various elements of remuneration as a percentage of base salary.
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Performance graphs
The primary role of the Directors is to deliver value to shareholders and it is against this backdrop that their remuneration must be
assessed. The graphs below show the value, at 30 September 2008, of £100 invested in Lonmin’s shares five years previously,
compared with the current value of the same amount invested at the same date in the FTSE Mining Sector, the FTSE All Share index and
the FTSE 100 index, assuming dividends are reinvested in each case. The Company is a constituent of all these indices (the FTSE 100
since June 2006) and the Board believes that these comparisons most fairly illustrate the Company’s performance in delivering value to
shareholders relative to both the market as a whole and its UK listed peers.
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Directors’ remuneration
The following table shows an analysis of remuneration settled in cash or at a cash cost of the individual Directors for the year ended
30 September 2008. In addition, the executive Directors participated in pension arrangements and received long-term share incentives as
detailed elsewhere in this report. A reconciliation of total remuneration for each executive Director serving at the end of the year is shown
in the charts on the following page.

Pension/cash Total for Total for
Salary Benefits payment in lieu Short term year to year to
or fees in kind of pension incentives Other 30.09.08 30.09.07

Directors £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Executive Directors
Brad Mills 624,000 78,743 249,600 386,880 562,472 1,901,695 1,369,007
Ian Farmer 351,538 28,563 103,900 213,990 811,910 1,509,901 564,907
Alan Ferguson 422,500 16,845 126,750 366,344 932,439 214,876

Non-Executive Directors
Sir John Craven 207,500 207,500 206,875
Karen de Segundo 67,500 67,500 64,510
Peter Godsoe 67,500 67,500 65,625
Sivi Gounden 62,500 62,500 61,106
Michael Hartnall 89,433 89,433 83,923
David Munro 67,500 67,500 7,327
Roger Phillimore 125,000 125,000 121,250
Jim Sutcliffe 60,000 60,000 7,154

Total 5,090,968 2,766,560

1 Except for Brad Mills, the figures disclosed relate to cash payments made in lieu of participation in the Company’s defined benefit pension scheme. The payment
in respect of Brad Mills relates to the Company’s contribution in to the defined contribution pension scheme.

2 The Directors’ total emoluments for the year do not include any fair value share option/award charges.

3 Although the Group’s reporting currency is US Dollars, these figures are stated in Sterling as the Directors’ emoluments are paid in this currency.

4 Benefits in kind comprise cars, fuel, healthcare, medical and, in the case of Brad Mills, accommodation (for the period 1 October 2007 to 25 March 2008) and
unapproved life assurance on his salary in excess of the cap.

5 Other comprises gross proceeds following vesting of share awards and options and also dividend equivalents.

6 No Director received any expense allowances or any compensation for loss of office during the year.

7 Brad Mills’ employment was terminated on 7 October 2008 and he received a termination payment consistent with his service agreement, and full details are
disclosed on page 54.

Non-executive Directors’ fees
The fees payable to the Non-executive Directors are set by the Board and are designed to ensure the Company attracts and retains
individuals of the highest calibre and is in line with recognised best practice. The Board commissions an independent review of Non-
executive Directors’ fees every two years, the most recent of which was conducted in January 2007. Following the 2007 review, no
change was made to the Non-executive Directors’ base fees but chairmanship and committee membership fees were increased. A
detailed breakdown of the fees paid to Non-executive Directors during the year is provided below:

Chairmanship Audit Safety and
Non-Executive Directors Directorship fee Remuneration and Risk Nomination Sustainability Total fees

Sir John Craven 50,000 C 150,000 M 7,500 207,500
Karen de Segundo 50,000 M 10,000 M 7,500 67,500
Peter Godsoe 50,000 M 10,000 M 7,500 67,500
Sivi Gounden 50,000 C 12,500 62,500
Michael Hartnall 50,000 M 10,000 C 17,500 M 7,500 M 4,433 89,433
David Munro 50,000 M 10,000 M 7,500 67,500
Roger Phillimore 50,000 D 35,000 C 17,500 M 10,000 C 12,500 125,000
Jim Sutcliffe 50,000 M 10,000 60,000

Key: C = Chairman, D = Deputy Chairman, M = Member
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Make up of executive Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration attributable to each of the three executive Directors serving at the year end in respect of the year was comprised of the
following broad elements:

1 Benefits in kind are stated at their taxable value or the cost incurred by the Company where not taxable.

2 The cash bonus amount is the pre-tax amount payable in respect of the year and is stated before partial deferral into the DABP.

3 The DABP Matched Award is the matching award in respect of the bonus deferred relating to year ended 30 September 2007 and is stated at the fair value in a
manner consistent with IFRS. However, if the threshold conditions noted elsewhere in this report are not obtained, no payment will be made.

4 The valuation of the LTIP award made during the year has followed the same principles as the DABP Matched Award and is similarly at risk.

5 Pension is cash amounts paid either to the executive or (at their option) into a defined contribution pension scheme.

Fixed pay for executive Directors and senior executives
Base salary
Whilst the Remuneration Committee tends to have regard to total compensation, including performance-related elements, individuals
inevitably focus on headline basic pay, especially at the point of recruitment, as this forms the major part of the guaranteed reward. For
this reason, the Company needs to offer salaries at around median market levels so that it is able to attract and retain suitable directors
and executives but without paying more than is necessary.

Salaries are reviewed once annually, as at 1 October, taking into account annual performance review data. The year-on-year changes
in salaries were +4% in the case of Brad Mills and Ian Farmer. Ian Farmer’s salary was, following his appointment as CEO, subsequently
increased by 57% with effect from 28 September 2008. Alan Ferguson’s salary was increased by 2.5% at 1 October 2007 and was
subsequently increased by 12% with effect from 1 July 2008. Increases in salaries of the senior executives and individuals in the United
Kingdom increased by 4%. The salaries of our general workforce in South Africa increased by 10%.

Senior executives and managers based in South Africa are offered a wage equating to the market norm of ‘total cost to company’,
with all benefits in kind converted into a cash allowance within this structure. Participation in short and long term incentive schemes is in
addition to the basic wage.

Not including the executive Directors, the remuneration of 26 other senior executives, the majority of whom are employed in South
Africa, fall within the purview of the Remuneration Committee. The base salaries of those individuals based in the United Kingdom and
the total cost to company remuneration of individuals employed in South Africa fall within the following bands:

Salary band Number of executives

up to £50,000 0
£50,001 to £100,000 1
£100,001 to £150,000 18
£150,001 to £200,000 4
£200,001 to £250,000 2
£250,001 to £300,000 1

22%

4%

36%

14%

18%

6%

Benefits-in-kind £78,743

Pension £249,600

Long-term incentive plan £320,138

Deferred annual bonus match £106,463

Annual bonus £386,880

Base salary £624,000

Brad Mills

14%

1%

38%

11%

3%

33%

Benefits-in-kind £16,845

Pension £126,750

Long-term incentive plan £157,335

Deferred annual bonus match £35,481

Annual bonus £366,344

Base salary £422,500

Alan Ferguson

14%

3%

40%

12%

6%

25%

Benefits-in-kind £28,563

Pension £103,900

Long-term incentive plan £119,704

Deferred annual bonus match £20,110

Annual bonus £213,990

Base salary £351,538

Ian Farmer
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Benefits in kind
Benefits in kind for the executive Directors variously comprise the provision of a fully-expensed car, the provision of annual health checks
and private medical insurance for the individual and his dependants. All executive Directors and senior executives are provided with a
limited amount of independent financial planning and tax advice, and life assurance. Mr Mills was also provided with a contribution
towards his accommodation costs in London for the period ended 25 March 2008. Finally, the Company purchases income continuance
insurance in respect of all employees in the London office, including the UK-based executive Directors.

Pensions
Pensions in context of total compensation
The Committee wishes to provide executives with access to market-competitive pension products, without exposing the Company to the
potentially open-ended obligations associated with defined benefit pension provision. Since the closure to future accrual of benefits of the
UK final salary pension plan, the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme (the Scheme) on 1 July 2007, UK-based executives have been
provided with a pension supplement, expressed as a percentage of their basic pay, which may be paid at the executive’s choice as a
pension contribution or an additional taxable cash payment.

Ian Farmer and Alan Ferguson have elected for their entitlements of 20% (30% from 28 September 2008) and 30% of base salary
respectively to be paid in cash. Brad Mills elected to have his entitlement of 40% of base salary paid as a contribution to the Company’s
defined contribution pension scheme.

All employees with a final salary link in force at the date of closure of the Scheme have been provided with a non-bonusable salary
supplement for five years from that date, in partial compensation for the loss of the link to future salary growth for their accrued benefits.
Ian Farmer is affected by this provision and receives a non-pensionable and non-bonusable salary supplement of £33,900 per annum.
The contractual lump sum death in service cover has been increased from four times salary to eight times salary for this group, to reflect
the loss of value associated with the removal of the previous spouse’s pension, and income continuance insurance was extended to all
employees in recognition of the withdrawal of the facility to claim an ill-health early retirement pension.

All members of the Scheme were offered transfer values during August 2007. Under an agreement reached between the Company
and the trustees, the Company offered to enhance the standard level of transfer value offered by the trustees to an amount equal to the
level of funding carried in the Scheme in respect of that member’s benefits. This offer was accepted by Ian Farmer and by John
Robinson, a former Director who also retained a deferred pension entitlement in the Scheme and payments to their receiving pension
vehicles were made in November 2007.

All uninsured member benefits were secured with an insurance company in April 2008 and the Scheme commenced winding-up on
11 July 2008, with all member benefits being augmented by a flat 15% through a distribution of surplus. The winding-up is substantially
complete and is expected to be finalised during 2009.

Defined contribution arrangements
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme, the Lonmin Retirement Plan, for the benefit of all its UK employees. This
is a registered arrangement structured as a group personal pension scheme. As noted above, Brad Mills was a member of this scheme
and the Company contributed £249,600 into this scheme as an employer contribution during the year ended 30 September 2008.

Pensions generally
No element of any Director’s remuneration other than basic salary is pensionable. Except as disclosed above, the Company has given no
undertakings to arrange or bear the cost of any other pension benefits for any Director. No former Director enjoys pension benefits in
excess of those provided, in accordance with the provisions of the trust deeds and rules, to all members of the relevant scheme.

Life assurance
From 1 July 2007, as a former member of the UK defined benefit pension scheme, Ian Farmer has been provided with life assurance
benefits of eight times salary, as noted above, as a contractual benefit. Brad Mills was and Alan Ferguson is entitled to life assurance
benefits of four times annual salary under their contracts of employment. The Company has secured all of these benefits through life
assurance policies written as excepted life arrangements.
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Performance-related pay for executive Directors and senior executives
Short-term incentive arrangements
The Committee believes that participation in a short-term incentive scheme enhances the focus of the executive Directors and key senior
executives by providing a meaningful incentive to outperform and ensures that the management team is appropriately focused on
business-critical outcomes. The Company provides the opportunity to earn an annual cash bonus through a balanced scorecard
approach, assessing performance under four broad headings, being as follows (the weighting generally attaching to each component is
quoted as a percentage of overall bonus opportunity):

Executive Directors

Percentage of bonus Actual payment
opportunity on offer for for the year

target performance (% of bonus opportunity)

SHEC (15.00%)
• Safety – number of fatalities at Marikana 2.50% 3.75%
• Safety – improvement in lost time injury frequency rate 2.50% 3.75%
• Community – score in annual baseline survey 5.00% Nil
• Environment 5.00% Nil

Shareholder alignment (17.50%)
Audited underlying EBIT 17.50% 26.25%

Production and growth (27.50%)
Platinum sales 10.00% Nil
Capital Projects Index 7.50% 3.39%
Operating Costs (ex D&A) 10.00% Nil

Personal objectives (40.00%)
Delivery of key projects 40.00% 30.46%1

Total 100.00% 67.60%

1 Average for Ian Farmer, Alan Ferguson and Brad Mills.

As explained earlier in this report, the Company’s remuneration policy is designed to provide a robust link between reward and performance.
This is clearly demonstrated by the corporate balanced scorecard result of 37.14%. The bonus elements and relative weightings detailed
above were selected as these best captured the steps needing to be taken to improve the delivery of value to shareholders and all were
capable of objective measurement and independent verification.

The Directors and senior executives also had the opportunity to earn bonus from achievement of personal objectives (comprising
40% of the total bonus opportunity). The average total bonus pay-out for Brad Mills, Ian Farmer and Alan Ferguson was 67.60% of target.

For each individual element, three levels of attainment were set:
Threshold: the minimum level of attainment for which the Committee felt payment could be warranted, with generally 75% of the ‘target’
amount for that element being payable.

Target: based on the Company’s budget, at which 100% of the bonus for that element becomes payable.

Stretch: representing a significant level of outperformance and also acting as a cap on the bonus due for that element, with 150% of the
‘target’ amount for that element being payable.

The scheme design provides for payment for the year ending 30 September 2008 of 100% of base salary to executive Directors for
overall performance at the target level with the bonus, therefore, being capped at the stretch level of 150% of base salary. All results have
been independently reviewed (including, where appropriate, scrutiny by the external auditors) and the Committee has subjected the
scorecard to a detailed assessment before authorising payment. Of the bonus resulting, two-thirds is usually settled in cash and a
minimum of one-third (on an after-tax basis) invested in the Company’s Deferred Annual Bonus Plan on behalf of the executive
concerned. For bonuses in respect of the year ending 30 September 2008, as a result of the potential bid for the Company, relevant
employees were informed that it was unlikely that the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan could be operated. As a result of that potential bid not
progressing, the Remuneration Committee considers that it would be appropriate to offer participation in the Deferred Annual Bonus
Plan, on the basis of the retention opportunity that it offers to the Company, and so selected senior management (including the executive
Directors) are being offered the opportunity to defer a proportion of their after-tax bonus and invest it in Lonmin shares under the
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan.

Of necessity, the design of bonus plans will evolve from year to year, in line with the Company’s strategic needs. The Committee
monitors the competitive environment and will devise amended or new plans in future years to ensure that the Company can continue to
recruit, retain and motivate the most able senior executives, and that they are given the clearest possible incentive to deliver exceptional
value to shareholders.
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Performance-related pay for executive Directors and senior executives (continued)
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABP)
As noted above, executive Directors are being offered the opportunity to participate in the DABP, pursuant to which a minimum of one-
third of the net cash bonus due to each executive could be invested in the DABP, with the ability to elect to invest any greater amount up
to the whole of their net bonus. The funds invested are used to buy Lonmin shares in the open market via the Company’s employee
benefit trust. At the date the shares are purchased, the trustees make a ‘Matched Award’ to the executive which, subject to the
attainment of performance conditions, could enable matching of the number of shares bought by the executive of up to one for one, on
an after tax basis. The purpose of the Plan is, therefore, to provide Directors and executives with a direct personal stake in the delivery of
value to shareholders, and to ensure that the interests of management and shareholders are demonstrably and fully aligned.

The awards made in December 2004 were subject solely to a Relative Total Shareholder Return (RTSR) performance condition. The
awards made in December 2005 and December 2006 are subject to performance conditions comprising two independent components
with three levels of attainment (threshold, target and stretch and straight-line interpolation between these points). The two measures are
RTSR and Earnings before Interest and Tax (EBIT). These measures were chosen because the Committee felt they best reflected both
the key imperative on management and the delivery of operating profit and also provided an equal focus on the delivery of value to
shareholders over the longer term. Further discussion of how the Committee implements the EBIT performance condition is given on
page 49.

The performance conditions are summarised below:
% of component

Year of award Basis of performance conditions Performance conditions Performance of award released

2004 100% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 50%
13 comparator companies Target (60th percentile) 75%

Stretch (75th percentile) 100%

2005 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 50%
15 comparator companies Target (60th percentile) 75%

Stretch (75th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: growth targets (%) Threshold 50%
FY2005-2008 Target 75%

Stretch 100%

2006 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 50%
20 comparator companies Target (62.5th percentile) 75%

Stretch (75th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: audited profit for FY2009 Threshold 50%
Target 75%
Stretch 100%

2007 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 20%
20 comparator companies Target (75th percentile) 70%

Stretch (90th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: audited profit for FY2010 Threshold 20%
Target 60%
Stretch 100%

Following the 2007 Annual General Meeting, to improve the retention characteristics of the Plan, a mandatory bonus deferral of bonuses
was introduced, commencing with those paid in November 2007. Where there is a mandatory bonus deferral, such an amount is
forfeitable should the executive leave during the three year performance period, other than for ‘good leaver’ reasons. In return, the
Matched Award is made on the basis of two shares for each Invested Share acquired. Half of the shares subject to the Matched Award
will normally vest at the end of the performance period, subject to the employee remaining with the Group and to the extent that the
related Invested Shares are retained. One quarter of the shares subject to a Matched Award will vest subject also to satisfaction of a total
shareholder return performance condition and a further quarter subject to a profit target. The employee will also be able to apply the
remainder of their bonus to acquire Invested Shares (without risk of forfeiture) that will be matched on a 1:1 basis, subject to satisfaction
of the performance conditions. As reported above, for bonuses in respect of the year ending 30 September 2008, the Remuneration
Committee has determined that the DABP would be operated based solely on a voluntary deferral on the terms set out above, save that
the Committee determined that the EBIT target would be substituted for an absolute share price target.

The Committee does not disclose the EBIT targets, where applicable, for reasons of commercial sensitivity and because of regulatory
constraints but will do so retrospectively at the conclusion of the relevant performance period. It believes the profit growth targets and the
new share price target to be stretching, yet realistic.

On 5 December 2007, awards were made under this Plan to the executive Directors and to a number of senior executives. The mid-
market closing share price on that date was 3258p. Details of the awards are included in the table of Directors’ interests.

On 27 December 2007, 60% of the Matched Awards granted in December 2004 vested.
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Performance-related pay for executive Directors and senior executives (continued)
Co-Investment Plan (CIP)
The Committee is keen to ensure that it maintains a level of outstanding incentive awards for senior executives that it judges adequate to
retain their services in the face of strong global competition. A CIP was therefore initially entered into with Brad Mills shortly after he joined
the Company in 2004 and which vested in May 2007.

A new CIP was adopted by shareholders at the 2007 Annual General Meeting. In essence, this arrangement permits the Committee
to invite selected executives to invest up to 200% of salary (or, in the case of Mr Mills, in May 2007, £2.5m with net of tax investments
included at their grossed-up value) in Lonmin shares in return for the grant of a Matched Award over twice the number of Invested
Shares. Matched Awards will normally vest at the end of a three year performance period, subject to the executive remaining with the
Group and to the extent that the related Invested Shares are retained and the applicable performance targets are met.

Should a participant leave employment before the end of the performance period due to injury, disability, ill health or death, the
participant’s Invested Shares will be released and the shares comprising the Matched Award will vest at the discretion of the Committee,
who will have regard to the proportion of the vesting period that has elapsed and to the extent that any applicable performance targets
have been satisfied at that time. If a participant leaves for any other reason, their Invested Shares will be released and the Matched
Award will lapse, unless the Committee decides to vest or continue part or all of it, on such terms as it sees fit.

For the initial operation of the new CIP, Mr Mills was the only executive invited to participate. He elected to invest 95,505 shares
(being a rollover of the shares resulting from the previous Matched Award) in the new CIP. In line with the commitment given to
shareholders, the Committee capped the number of shares ranking for a Matched Award at 63,180 shares, having a market value of
approximately £2.5 million, and the Company made a Matched Award over 126,360 shares on 21 May 2007. One-sixth of the shares
subject to the Matched Award were to vest subject to continued service. The remainder of the shares were subject to the same TSR and
EBIT targets that apply in the 2007 LTIP as summarised below but with 75% of those shares subject to the TSR target and 25% subject to
the EBIT target. These targets were chosen by the Committee to emphasise the need for the longer term delivery of value to shareholders.
Half of the shares comprising the Matched Award (including the shares subject solely to continued service) would vest for threshold TSR
and EBIT performance and all of the shares would vest for maximum performance, with straight-line vesting between these points. As
Mr Mills ceased employment on 7 October 2008, his CIP award is no longer subsisting. Further details in relation to Mr Mills’ severance
arrangements are set out on page 54.

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
This Plan is designed to ensure that the Company can offer long-term incentives to executive Directors and senior executives that do not
rely solely on share price appreciation to deliver the desired benefit, as is the case with traditional share option schemes. The Committee
believes that it is vital to be able to offer such incentives to ensure that those best placed to deliver value for shareholders have a direct
personal interest in so doing. The annual granting of LTIP awards provides participants with the opportunity to earn sufficient reward, by
delivering value to shareholders, that they are motivated to stay in the Group’s employment. An award under this Plan entitles the
recipient to receive shares at no cost, subject to attainment of stretching performance conditions which are detailed further below.
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Performance-related pay for executive Directors and senior executives (continued)
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) (continued)
Awards have been made under this Plan since May 2004. The 2005 award was subject to a performance condition that relied solely
on RTSR. Since 2006, the RTSR condition has applied to 50% of the award with the balance subject to an EBIT performance condition,
being the attainment of an absolute level of audited EBIT for the relevant financial year, fully reflecting the impact of metal prices and
foreign exchange. The Committee believes that the two components of the performance condition provide an appropriate incentive to
focus on the short and longer term drivers of shareholder value. As with the DABP EBIT performance condition, the Committee feels
unable to publish the targets, however, it is satisfied that they should prove stretching, yet realistic, and there will be full retrospective
disclosure, including that of the market forecast range and consensus at the time the targets were set. Further discussion of how the
Committee implements the EBIT performance condition is given on page 49. The performance conditions are summarised below:

% of component
Year of award Basis of performance conditions Performance conditions Performance of award released

2005 100% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 35%
15 comparator companies Target (70th percentile) 50%

Stretch (90th percentile) 100%

2006 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 35%
20 comparator companies Target (75th percentile) 60%

Stretch (90th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: audited profit for FY2008 Threshold 35%
Target 63%
Stretch 100%

2007 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 20%
20 comparator companies Target (75th percentile) 70%

Stretch (90th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: audited profit for FY2009 Threshold 20%
Target 60%
Stretch 100%

2008 50% RTSR TSR relative to a group of Threshold (median) 20%
20 comparator companies Target (75th percentile) 70%

Stretch (90th percentile) 100%

50% EBIT EBIT: audited profit for FY2010 Threshold 0%
Stretch 100%

Awards were made to the executive Directors and a number of senior executives on 29 July 2008 when the closing mid-market share
price was 2392p. The award made to Mr Mills was equivalent to 150% of his annual base salary and Ian Farmer and Alan Ferguson both
received awards equivalent to 100% of their annual base salaries. Details of the awards are included in the table of Directors’ interests.

Awards were also made to certain senior new hires on 1 February 2008 and 8 May 2008. The closing mid-market share price on
those dates was 3046p and 3408p respectively.

On 30 September 2008, awards made under the LTIP in September 2005 vested. Lonmin finished 8th in the comparator group of
16 companies and therefore 38% of the award vested.
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Performance-related pay for executive Directors and senior executives (continued)
Stay & Prosper Plan
The Committee regularly reviews the incentive arrangements offered to managers, particularly in South Africa where there is severe
competition for talent in the mining sector, to ensure the Group is able to provide an appropriate level of reward and incentive whilst
remaining consistent with current best practice. Following such a review in 2005, the Committee concluded that the existing share
schemes did not adequately meet the requirements for this category of employees and, therefore, a cash based incentive plan was
implemented for the Group’s South African employees, the purpose of which was to provide a significant retention tool whilst also
providing sufficient incentive opportunity to align the interests of managers with those of shareholders.

The executive Directors are not permitted to participate in this Plan.
When first introduced in 2005, the Plan consisted of two components. 75% of the award, called the performance award, was subject

to a RTSR performance condition whilst the remaining 25% retention award was subject to a continued employment condition. Following
a further review in 2006, the Committee determined that a more significant retention incentive was necessary in view of the increasingly
competitive global market for skilled and experienced individuals. The weighting of the Plan was changed to a 50% retention award and
a 50% performance award using the same EBIT performance condition as that applicable to the 2006 LTIP award and a similar vesting
schedule. There are no good leaver provisions attached to the retention award and vesting of the performance award in good leaver
situations is subject to the discretion of the Committee. Awards are linked to a notional number of shares which are awarded at nil cost
and participants receive cash after tax at the end of three years based on the prevailing market value of that proportion of the total award
that vests.

The main award was made on 29 July 2008 to senior managers based in South Africa on terms substantially unchanged from those
of the prior year. Awards were also made on 1 February 2008 to senior managers who had joined Lonmin in South Africa since the
August 2007 award date.

In addition, a special award under the Plan was made to 272 senior managers, all of whom are based in South Africa on 28 March
2008. The need for the special award arose due to continuing recruitment and retention issues in South Africa in a highly competitive
global market for mining talent. The weighting of the special award was a 50% retention award and a 50% performance award using a
matrix based on production (Pt ounce target) and cost (unit cost per Platinum ounce).

% of performance
Year of award Retention/performance Performance condition Performance award released

2005 25%/75% RTSR Threshold (median) 35%
Target (70th percentile) 50%
Stretch (92nd percentile) 100%

2006 50%/50% EBIT: audited profit for FY2008 Threshold 20%
Target 54%
Stretch 100%

2007 50%/50% EBIT: audited profit for FY2009 Threshold 20%
Target 60%
Stretch 100%

2008 – February 50%/50% EBIT: audited profit for FY2009 Threshold 20%
Target 60%
Stretch 100%

2008 – March 50%/50% Matrix based on saleable platinum
ounces and direct unit cost per 0% – 100%
platinum ounce for FY2010

2008 – July 50%/50% EBIT: audited profit for FY2010 Threshold 0%
Stretch 100%

On 30 September 2008, awards made under the Stay & Prosper Plan in September 2005 vested. Lonmin finished 8th in the comparator
group of 16 companies and therefore 38% of the Performance award vested which together with the retention award gave an overall
vesting of 54% of the total award.

To strengthen the alignment between participants in this Plan and Shareholders, a resolution will be proposed at the January 2009
AGM to enable awards to be made on a share-settled basis.



2008 Annual Report and Accounts / Lonmin Plc

49

O
verview

R
eview

ofO
perations

S
ustainable

D
evelopm

ent
R
eview

FinancialR
eview

Remuneration Committee Report
for the year ended 30 September 2008

Scarce Skills Retention Plan
One of the key findings resulting from the 2006 review referred to earlier was that many of the individuals who had been identified as
having rare and valuable skills necessary to the Company’s future vision were at significant risk of poaching by our global competitors.
In order to mitigate this risk and at the same time encourage loyalty, the Committee implemented a bespoke retention plan, the Lonmin
Scarce Skills Retention Plan. This was a one-off award made to 74 senior managers, the vast majority of whom are based in South
Africa. The executive Directors did not participate in this Plan. Awards made under this Plan comprise a notional share-based award
which is settled in cash provided the individual is still employed by the Company three years after the award. There is no performance
condition and there are no good leaver provisions. Since its implementation in 2006, there have not been, and the Committee does not
envisage that there will be, any further awards made under this Plan.

Performance condition philosophy
The Committee considers the appropriateness of each performance condition prior to approving the grant of each award.

With the exception of awards made under the Stay & Prosper and the Scarce Skills Retention Plans, each of the Plans mentioned
above uses relative total shareholder return as part or the whole of the performance condition. The Committee believes that this measure
links the actual returns delivered to shareholders with the executive remuneration earned through the successful delivery of our strategy.
In addition, the Committee believes that this test provides a measurable and objective reflection of true performance for shareholders in
light of the variability introduced into reported results by metal prices and exchange rates (particularly between the South African Rand
and the US Dollar).

The Committee also recognises that the underlying financial performance of the business is an important driver of shareholder value
and, in order to provide an effective and robust link between the business’ needs and the remuneration of the Company’s executives and
managers, the EBIT test was introduced for awards made under the CIP, DABP, LTIP and the Stay & Prosper Plan. The Committee
believes that growth in EBIT is independent of stock market conditions and is a key operational metric by which the business is
measured. The EBIT targets used are based on audited numbers shown in the published accounts of the Company and so provide total
transparency and a link between performance and pay.

Where the Group acquires new businesses, the EBIT impact would normally be excluded from the assessment of performance
conditions by the Committee, unless the targets had previously been adjusted specifically to include acquired profits or losses. The
Committee would also have regard to the cost of capital associated with such acquisitions, to ensure that shareholder value was properly
taken into account in this context.

Performance conditions are assessed using independently verified data. Relative TSR is assessed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
acting on behalf of the Committee, using data normalised into US Dollars sourced from Datastream or other independent providers. EBIT
assessment utilises the audited financial results of the Company.
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The comparator group of companies
The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews the comparator group used for the Company’s long-term incentive arrangements to
ensure that it remains relevant to the Company’s stated strategy and therefore aligns executives appropriately with shareholders. For
awards made from 2006 onwards, the Committee decided to broaden the group to twenty comparator companies to provide a more
statistically sound and relevant comparator group.

2005 LTIP
2005 DABP 2006 LTIP 2007 LTIP 2008 LTIP Nature of company/
2005 Stay & Prosper 2006 DABP 2007 DABP 2008 DABP reason for change

Anglo American plc Anglo American plc Anglo American plc Anglo American plc FTSE 100 mining company/
SA exposure

Anglo Gold Anglo Gold Anglo Gold Anglo Gold SA mining company
Ashanti Limited Ashanti Limited Ashanti Limited Ashanti Limited

Anglo Platinum Ltd Anglo Platinum Ltd Anglo Platinum Ltd Anglo Platinum Ltd SA PGM producer

– Antofagasta plc Antofagasta plc Antofagasta plc FTSE 100 mining company

Aquarius Platinum Aquarius Platinum Aquarius Platinum Aquarius Platinum SA PGM producer

– ARM Platinum ARM Platinum ARM Platinum SA PGM producer

BHP Billiton plc BHP Billiton plc BHP Billiton plc BHP Billiton plc FTSE 100 mining company

– CVRD CVRD Vale (previously CVRD) Major global mining company

Engelhard Corp – – – Acquired by BASF

– – First Quantum First Quantum African mining company
Minerals Minerals

– Gold Corp Gold Corp Gold Corp Precious metals mining
company

Gold Fields Limited Gold Fields Limited Gold Fields Limited Gold Fields Limited SA mining company

Impala Platinum Impala Platinum Impala Platinum Impala Platinum SA PGM producer
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited Holdings Limited Holdings Limited

Inco Limited – – – Acquired by CVRD

Johnson Matthey plc Johnson Matthey plc Johnson Matthey plc Johnson Matthey plc PGM processor

JSC MMC Norilsk JSC MMC Norilsk JSC MMC Norilsk JSC MMC Norilsk PGM mining company
Nickel Nickel Nickel Nickel

Kumba Resources Kumba Resources Kumba Resources Kumba Resources SA mining company
Limited Limited Limited Limited

– Lion Ore – – Acquired by JSC MMC
Norilsk Nickel

Northam Platinum – – – SA PGM producer
Limited

Rio Tinto plc Rio Tinto plc Rio Tinto plc Rio Tinto plc FTSE 100 mining company

Stillwater Mining Stillwater Mining Stillwater Mining Stillwater Mining North American PGM
Company Company Company Company producer

– Teck Cominco Teck Cominco Teck Cominco North American mining
company

– Umicore Umicore Umicore PGM processor

Xstrata plc Xstrata plc Xstrata plc Xstrata plc FTSE 100 mining company

15 companies 20 companies 20 companies 20 companies
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Executive Share Option Schemes (ESOS)
No options were granted during the year. The legacy schemes expired in March 2007 and, although an ESOS is contained within the
rules of the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan, the Committee has not made any grants under that scheme.

The purpose of the legacy schemes was to align Directors’ and employees’ interests with those of shareholders. Since 1994, this has
been achieved by making the exercise of options by all participants subject to stretching but realistic performance conditions relating to
the delivery of value to shareholders, which must be met before the option can be exercised. Details of these for the Company’s various
tranches of executive share options that remain outstanding are as follows:

Options granted in or after 1998 but before 2002: exercise is subject to attainment of a performance condition that the total return to
shareholders over a consecutive thirty-six month period must be greater than the total return on the Mining Sector of the FTSE Actuaries
Share Indices.

Options granted in or after 2002: whilst exercise remains subject to achievement of total shareholder return greater than that on the
Mining Sector of the FTSE Actuaries Share Indices, this must be achieved in one of the periods of three, four, five or six years following
the date of grant, in each case relative to a fixed base year.

The performance conditions attaching to all outstanding options have been attained and these options duly became exercisable.

Sharesave
The Company historically offered an Inland Revenue approved Savings Related Share Option Scheme to all UK-remunerated employees,
including the executive Directors. Under this Scheme, the participant enters into a savings contract and in return is granted an option
over the Company’s shares to be funded by the balance on their savings account at the end of the contractual savings period. The
option price may, at the Committee’s discretion, be at a discount of up to 20% to the prevailing mid-market price at the date of invitation.
With the exception of the 2005 award, the Company has historically granted all such options with a 20% discount, including those held
by Ian Farmer. The Sharesave Scheme expired in March 2007.

Share schemes generally
Except under the Sharesave Scheme, no options have been granted that have an exercise price at a discount to the market price at the
time the exercise price was set. No options or awards of any kind have been granted to Non-executive Directors. Directors are strongly
encouraged to hold the shares issued to them upon the exercise of options and awards.

Dilution
Options granted under ESOS and Sharesave (with the exception of the December 2005 award) are satisfied with new-issued shares.
Awards under the CIP, LTIP or DABP are satisfied either with shares purchased in the market by the Company’s offshore employee
benefit trust or the issue of new shares. Awards under the Scarce Skills Retention Plan and current awards under the Stay & Prosper
Plan are cash settled.

The table below shows the Company’s current commitment to issue new shares in respect of its long-term incentive schemes
assuming all performance conditions are met and all award holders remain in employment to the vesting date:

%age %age
of issued of issued

30.09.07 share capital 30.09.08 share capital

Undiluted issued share capital (refer to note 26 to the accounts) 156,151,895 156,383,233
The Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme 523,077 0.33 249,736 0.16
The Lonmin Share Option Scheme 27,034 0.02 12,834 0.01
The Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994 24,973 0.02 19,696 0.01
Co-Investment Plan Matched Award 126,360 0.08 126,360 0.08
Co-Investment Plan Invested Shares 95,505 0.06 95,505 0.06
Long Term Incentive Plan 448,098 0.29 499,972 0.32
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 109,872 0.07 73,193 0.05

Total 1,354,919 0.87 1,077,296 0.69

Directors’ shareholding obligation
Ultimately, the Committee believes that the most powerful way to ensure that the actions of the Directors are best aligned with
shareholders’ interests is for the Directors to build up and retain personally significant holdings of the Company’s shares. As a matter of
policy, the Board expects all Directors to maintain a shareholding (including vested but unexercised share incentives) equal in value to
100% of their basic pay (or, in the case of Non-executive Directors, fees) and 150% in the case of the Chief Executive. In this way,
shareholder value becomes a paramount principle underlying all Board decisions, since real personal wealth will be at stake. Failure to
achieve these targets may result in exclusion from participation in some or all of the incentive schemes that the Company operates.
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Directors’ shareholdings
The beneficial interests of the Directors in office during the year are shown below:

30.09.08 30.09.07

Executive Directors
Brad Mills¹ 260,596 238,087
Ian Farmer 35,821 25,699
Alan Ferguson 5,790 –

Non-Executive Directors
Sir John Craven 30,000 93,808
Karen de Segundo 1,725 1,725
Peter Godsoe 3,360 3,360
Sivi Gounden 6,860 –
Michael Hartnall 4,000 4,000
David Munro 6,300 6,300
Roger Phillimore 3,614 18,826
Jim Sutcliffe 3,712 –

Notes

1. Mr Mills’ holding includes 95,505 shares which rolled over from the 2004 Co-Investment Plan Matched Award and formed the Invested Shares for the 2007 Co-
Investment Plan. No risk of forfeiture attaches to these shares. It also includes 10,000 shares which are held in the form of ADRs.

2. There were no changes in the serving directors’ interests from 30 September 2008 to the date of this report.

Directors’ options and awards
The options and awards held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company are set out in the table below:

During year Date from Market
which price at Notional Market

Exercise exercisable/ Date of date of pre-tax value
Performance Date of Price As at Exercised/ As at vesting Expiry exercise/ exercise gain as at

Scheme Condition grant (p) 30.09.07 Granted Vested Lapsed 30.09.08 date date vesting (p) (£) 1 30.09.082

Executive Directors
Brad Mills3

CIP MA (g) 21.05.07 – 126,360 – – – 126,360 21.05.10 21.05.10 – – – 2,873,426

DABP MA (c) 20.12.04 – 28,210 – 16,926 11,284 – 20.12.07 20.12.07 28.12.07 3,061.00 518,105 –

DABP MA (d) 15.12.05 – 17,897 – – – 17,897 15.12.08 15.12.08 – – – 406,978

DABP MA (e) 22.12.06 – 16,690 – – – 16,690 22.12.09 22.12.09 – – – 379,531

DABP MA (f) 05.12.07 – – 5,153 – – 5,153 05.12.10 05.12.10 – – – 117,179

LTIP4 (c) 30.09.05 – 67,500 – – – 67,500 30.09.08 18.11.08 – – – 1,534,950

LTIP (e) 17.08.06 – 44,100 – – – 44,100 17.08.09 17.08.09 – – – 1,002,834

LTIP (e) 22.08.07 – 24,429 – – – 24,429 22.08.10 22.08.10 – – – 555,515

LTIP (e) 29.07.08 – – 29,095 – – 29,095 29.07.11 29.07.11 – – – 661,620

Ian Farmer
ESOS (a) 01.07.02 1,150.00 27,000 – 27,000 – – 01.07.05 01.07.12 11.01.08 3,600.00 661,500 –

SAYE (b) 05.01.05 705.00 2,343 – – – 2,343 01.02.10 01.08.10 – – – 36,762

DABP MA (c) 20.12.04 – 8,433 – 5,059 3,374 – 20.12.07 20.12.07 28.12.07 3,061.00 154,856 –

DABP MA (d) 15.12.05 – 2,273 – – – 2,273 15.12.08 15.12.08 – – – 51,688

DABP MA (e) 22.12.06 – 2,152 – – – 2,152 22.12.09 22.12.09 – – – 48,936

DABP MA (f) 05.12.07 – – 2,076 – – 2,076 05.12.10 05.12.10 – – – 47,208

LTIP4 (c) 30.09.05 – 23,000 – – – 23,000 30.09.08 18.11.08 – – – 523,020

LTIP (e) 17.08.06 – 12,200 – – – 12,200 17.08.09 17.08.09 – – – 277,428

LTIP (e) 22.08.07 – 9,106 – – – 9,106 22.08.10 22.08.10 – – – 207,070

LTIP (e) 29.07.08 – – 10,879 – – 10,879 05.12.10 05.12.10 – – – 247,388

Alan Ferguson –

LTIP (e) 22.08.07 – 10,857 – – – 10,857 22.08.10 22.08.10 – – – 246,888

LTIP (e) 29.07.08 – – 14,299 – – 14,299 29.07.11 29.07.11 – – – 325,159

DABP MA (f) 05.12.07 – – 1,783 – – 1,783 05.12.10 05.12.10 – – – 40,545

Rows that are highlighted indicate that options/awards have vested and are capable of exercise/release subject to dealing restrictions
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Directors’ shareholdings (continued)
1 The notional pre-tax gain is the taxable value based on the number of shares under award that vested and the market price on the date of vesting, regardless of

whether the shares were actually sold on that date or not. The total notional pre-tax gains made by Directors who had options/awards which vested during the
year was £1,334,461.

2 The value is calculated using the closing middle market quotation for Lonmin shares at 30 September 2008 (2274p) and is stated (where relevant) net of exercise costs.

3 Mr Mills resigned as a Director of the Company on 7 October 2008. There were no changes in the serving Directors’ interests from 30 September 2008 to the date
of this report.

4 Due to Model Code restrictions, the vesting of this award is deferred until the Company is not in a close or otherwise prohibited period.

5 The closing middle market quotation for the Company’s ordinary shares, as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, was 2274p on 30 September
2008, and the price ranged between 3718p and 2108p during the financial year.

The schemes under which these awards/options were granted are:

ESOS – Options granted under the Lonmin Executive Share Option Plans (Inland Revenue approved and unapproved)
SAYE – Options granted under the Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme
DABP MA – Deferred Annual Bonus Plan Matched Awards made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan
LTIP – Long Term Incentive Plan Awards made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan
CIP MA (new) – Co-Investment Plan Matched Award 2007 made under the Shareholder Value Incentive Plan

The performance conditions are fully explained in earlier narrative, but are briefly:

(a) TSR exceeds that achieved on the FTSE mining sector over 3, 4, 5 or 6 years.

(b) No performance condition is attached to SAYE options.

(c) TSR exceeds TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedules as described.

(d) 50% of awards linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedule as described and remaining 50% of award linked to
growth in EBIT.

(e) 50% of award linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies with vesting schedule as described and remaining 50% of award linked to EBIT
performance.

(f) One for one performance award of which 50% is linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies with vesting schedule as described and remaining 50%
of award linked to EBIT performance. There is also a one for one retention award on the first 1/3rd of the deferred bonus as described earlier.

(g) 75% of 5/6 of award linked to TSR exceeding TSR of comparator companies over 3 years with vesting schedule as described and remaining 25% of 5/6 of award
linked to EBIT.

Value at risk
Based on the shares and share options and awards held at 30 September 2008 (assuming full vesting and having accounted for any
relevant exercise costs), the following table illustrates the value each executive Director has at risk and how this component of personal
wealth has fluctuated during the year, using the lowest, highest and closing share prices for the year of 2108p, 3718p and 2274p
respectively, for illustrative purposes:

Number of
Executive Director shares Low (£) High (£) Closing (£)

Brad Mills 260,596 5,493,364 9,688,959 5,925,953
Ian Farmer 35,821 755,107 1,331,825 814,570
Alan Ferguson 5,790 122,053 215,272 131,665

Number of
Executive Director options/awards Low (£) High (£) Closing (£)

Brad Mills 331,224 6,982,202 12,314,908 7,532,034
Ian Farmer1 64,029 1,333,213 2,364,080 1,439,501
Alan Ferguson 26,939 567,874 1,001,592 612,593

1 Ian Farmer’s interests comprise 2,343 shares at an exercise price of 705p

Non-Group directorships
Save as noted below, no executive Director holds any executive directorship or appointment outside the Group. It is both the Company’s
policy and generally a requirement of the individual’s contract of employment that no executive Director may take up such an
appointment without the approval of the Board. The Board believes that, in the right circumstances, the holding of non-executive
directorships and similar appointments by executive Directors can be useful and appropriate if they help those involved gain additional
skills and experience or promote the interests of the Group and do not necessitate an excessive time commitment.
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Non-Group directorships (continued)
The Board would not normally agree to an executive Director taking on more than one non-executive directorship of a FTSE 100

company or the chairmanship of such a company. Whilst it would be considered on a case-by-case basis, any individual holding such a
role outside the Group would generally be permitted to retain any fees or other payments relating to that appointment.

Ian Farmer was a non-executive director of Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited for the year under review and is a director and former
president of the International Platinum Association. Brad Mills was appointed Chairman of the International Council on Mining and Metals
in October 2007. Neither Mr Mills or Mr Farmer received any remuneration in respect of their services to these organisations.

Service contracts
The Company complies fully with the provisions of the Combined Code relating to service contracts. The Remuneration Committee is
responsible for settling any payment to be made when an executive Director’s employment ends and has full regard to the provisions of
the Combined Code and other components of best practice in this area.

Severance arrangements
Brad Mills’ employment with the Company terminated on 7 October 2008 and he ceased to be a Director on 9 October 2008. Under the
termination provisions of his contract of employment, Mr Mills received a payment of £1,365,491 (less legally required deductions) on the
termination of his employment and a further payment of £386,880 (less legally required deductions) in respect of bonus for the financial year
ended 30 September 2008. These payments were made in lieu of those which would have been received by Mr Mills during his contractual
notice period and, as such, the Company was bound to make these payments without reduction.

Mr Mills also participated in a number of share-settled incentive and retention schemes. Following extensive discussions, and taking into
account the performance of the Company and the length of time that awards had been held, the Remuneration Committee resolved that
Mr Mills would receive 165,000 shares in the Company and a cash payment of £191,000, in each case subject to applicable taxation and
other deductions. These amounts represented the vesting proportions applied to each of Mr Mills’ awards and a cash payment in respect
of dividend equivalents on the shares which vested and other cash-settled matters. Mr Mills requested, and the Remuneration Committee
agreed, that the cash sum in lieu of dividends be reduced and the number of shares increased by an equivalent amount, and these
variations are included in the figures above. The agreed vesting levels resulted in Mr Mills forfeiting over half of the awards which had been
made to him under the incentive and retention schemes. Full details of Mr Mills’ share awards are set out in the table on page 52.

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment

Director Date of contract/letter Unexpired term Termination arrangements

Executive Directors
Brad Mills 4 February 2004 Rolling contract Contract terminable on expiry of 12 months’ notice

(amended 19 November 2004) from the Company and 6 months’ notice from
Brad Mills. The contract also contained provisions
for ‘gardening leave’ and payment in lieu of notice
(being salary and benefits for one year at the rate
then in force plus an estimate of any bonus due for
that year) at the discretion of the Company.

Ian Farmer 6 April 2006 Rolling contract Contract terminable on 364 days’ prior written
Alan Ferguson 20 February 2007 Rolling contract notice given by either the Company or the individual

(182 days in the case of notice given by Mr Ferguson)
except for gross misconduct or in certain other
circumstances which may result in dismissal. In the
event that employment is terminated by the Company
without notice and not for reasons of gross
misconduct, the Directors are entitled to receive a
payment equivalent to the value of the annual basic
salary and contractual benefits which would have
been earned during this unworked notice period.

Non-executive Directors
Sir John Craven 24 January 2007 Letters of appointment generally provide for a fixed
Karen de Segundo 22 April 2005 term to the first AGM following appointment, and
Peter Godsoe 28 June 2005 then (subject to re-election by shareholders) a term
Sivi Gounden 28 September 2005 running until the AGM three years from that date,
Michael Hartnall 12 January 2007 subject to the Company’s Articles of Association.
David Munro 19 August 2007 No compensation is payable to non-executive
Roger Phillimore 23 January 2007 Directors for loss of office.
Jim Sutcliffe 11 August 2007

This report was approved by the Board on 17 November 2008.

Roger Phillimore
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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Role of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee is a formal Committee of the Board and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of Association.
Its terms of reference were reviewed by the Board in January 2007 and are compliant with the provisions of the Combined Code.

A copy of the terms of reference is available on the Company’s website (under Our business/Executive Management) and sets out
the primary purposes of the Audit and Risk Committee, which are:
• To monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and announcements relating to its financial performance and reviewing

significant financial reporting judgements;
• To keep under review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management systems;
• To monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function and review its material findings; and
• To oversee the relationship with the external auditors, including agreeing their remuneration and terms of engagement, monitoring

their independence, objectivity and effectiveness and ensuring that policy surrounding their engagement to provide non-audit services
is appropriately applied.

The Committee is authorised to investigate any matters within its terms of reference, access all Group documents and information,
seek information from any Director or employee of the Group and co-opt any resources (including external professional assistance) it sees
fit in order to fulfil its duties. However, the Committee has no executive function and its primary objective is to review and challenge rather
than assume responsibility for any matters within its remit. Minutes of all meetings of the Committee (save those recording private
discussions with either the internal or external auditors) are circulated to all Directors and supplemented by a written or verbal update
from the Committee Chairman at the next Board meeting, identifying any matters in respect of which action or improvement is required
and making recommendations where appropriate. The Committee presents a summary of its activities to shareholders and other
interested parties by means of this report and the Committee Chairman attends all general meetings of the Company’s shareholders to
answer any questions on the Committee’s activities.

The Committee assessed its effectiveness at a meeting in September 2008. To do so, a tailor-made questionnaire was circulated to
members of the Committee, the internal and external auditors and members of the management team who assist the Audit and Risk
Committee in their work, which then formed the basis of a discussion. The questionnaire focused on the effectiveness of the Committee,
the flow of information, relationships with management and advisors, appropriateness of the terms of reference and the composition of
the Committee. All of these views were summarised into a formal report to the Board by the Chairman. The Committee separately
discussed the effectiveness of the Chairman of the Committee (in his absence) which also formed part of the report to the Board.

Composition of the Audit and Risk Committee
All independent Directors, with the exception of the Chairman of the Board, are eligible to become members of the Committee.
The Committee comprised the following members during the year and, to the date of this report, any two of whom form a quorum.
All members of the Committee must be financially literate.

Michael Hartnall: an independent Director and a chartered accountant, Mr Hartnall was for 16 years until 2003 the finance director of
Rexam plc, a multinational manufacturer of consumer packaging where his responsibilities included finance, internal control, risk
management and corporate governance. He was also a member of the Hampel Committee which produced the first version of the
Combined Code in 1998. The Board has judged that he has the significant, recent and relevant financial experience necessary to chair
the Committee.

Roger Phillimore: an independent Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee since May 1998.

Karen de Segundo: an independent Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee since April 2005.

Jim Sutcliffe: an independent Director who joined the Board in August 2007 and was appointed to the Audit and Risk Committee in
September 2007.

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 22 and 23 of this document. Each member receives an annual fee of £10,000
for serving as a member of the Committee and the Chairman of the Committee receives an annual fee of £17,500. These fees are
included in the table of Directors’ remuneration on page 41. All members of the Committee are provided with appropriate induction into
the role of the Committee and the operation of its terms of reference on appointment. Access to training is provided on an ongoing basis
to ensure that members are able to discharge their duties.

Meetings of the Committee are attended by the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the VP – Finance, the VP – Treasury and
Risk, the Head of Internal Audit and the Assistant Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee), none of whom do so as
of right. The external auditors attend all Committee meetings and a private meeting is routinely held with them to afford the opportunity of
discussions without the presence of management. The internal auditors attend two of the four scheduled Committee meetings each year,
usually in South Africa and are similarly afforded private meetings with the Committee.
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Internal audit
In July 2008, a Head of Internal Audit, based in South Africa, was appointed to manage the outsourced internal audit function provided
by Ernst & Young and to develop the Group’s own capabilities in this area. This post reports to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Committee, with a joint reporting line to the VP, Treasury and Risk. A total of 42 assignments were undertaken during the year across a
broad cross-section of activities identified by both management and the Committee. Internal audit reports are reviewed with operational
management and then delivered to the executive management team, including the Chief Financial Officer, with material findings and
recommendations then summarised to the Committee, who receive regular updates on progress in addressing the matters raised by
internal audits.

A comprehensive review of the internal audit function was carried out during the year by the recently appointed Head of Internal Audit
which supplemented the Committee’s annual review of the effectiveness of the internal auditors.

External audit
KPMG Audit plc acted as the external auditors to the Lonmin Group throughout the year. The lead audit partner is based in London and
supported by a second audit partner based in Johannesburg. The external auditors may not be engaged on any material non-audit work
without the prior approval of the Audit and Risk Committee who are responsible for the annual work plan and fee budget for the auditors.
As policy, the Committee would not allow the external auditors to perform any work that they may subsequently need to audit or which
might otherwise either create a conflict of interests or affect the auditor’s objectivity and independence. The Committee also monitors the
balance between audit and non-audit related spend to ensure that auditor independence can be shown to be maintained. The Chief
Financial Officer is permitted to engage the external auditors on matters that do not create such conflicts or otherwise compromise the
audit firm subject to an annual fee ceiling of $100,000 per assignment.

Non-audit fees incurred during the year amounted to $1.5 million (2007 – $1.6 million) and relate primarily to the provision of taxation
advisory services, IT assurance services, sustainability assurance, advice on accounting practice, and work carried out in relation to the
pre-conditional offer from Xstrata plc. The Committee is satisfied that the overall level of non-audit fees is not material relative to the
income of the audit offices and firm as a whole, and that the nature of the services provided are appropriate and in line with the
Company’s policies in this area.

The Audit and Risk Committee appraised the independence and objectivity of KPMG and also reviewed their effectiveness as external
auditors before reaching the recommendation to the Board that their re-election should be proposed to shareholders. In arriving at its
decision, consideration was also given to the expertise, resources and the professional standing of KPMG within the market.

Activities of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Committee normally meets four times annually and reports its material findings to the Board. The principal business of these
meetings was:
• November: consideration of the letter of representation from management to the external auditors relating to the accounts; receipt of

a report from the external auditors following their review of the full year accounts; assessment of any material exercises of judgement
by management; consideration of the ‘going concern’ statement; review of the annual reporting documents (including the accounts)
and consideration of whether to recommend the same to the Board; review of the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
external auditors and formulation of a recommendation to the Board as to whether or not their reappointment should be proposed to
shareholders; review of the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems during the year prepared by management
including a review of outstanding external and internal audit actions; review of a report on the internal controls environment prepared
by the external auditors; review of non audit services provided by the external auditors during the year and approval of the fees for
the year; private meeting with the external auditors.

• March (in South Africa): review of matters arising from the prior year audit; approval of scope of the external auditors’ proposed
review of the interim accounts and the fees to be charged; approval of the plan for the external audit of the full year accounts; review
of non-audit services to be provided by the external auditors; approval of the terms of the external auditors’ engagement letter;
review of the work of the internal auditors in the year to date and their principal findings; private meeting with the internal auditors;
review of risk management report; review of progress report of annual ‘bottom up’ risk review; review of outstanding internal and
external audit points.

• May: consideration of the letter of representation from management to the external auditors relating to the interim accounts; receipt of
a report from the external auditors following their review of the interim accounts; assessment of any material exercises of judgement
by management; review of the interim report (including the accounts) and consideration of whether to recommend the same to the
Board; private meeting with the external auditors; review of risk management report; review of outstanding internal and external audit
points; review of non audit services provided by the external auditors year to date, .

• September (usually in South Africa but in UK this year): review of the effectiveness of the internal auditors; review of the work of the
internal auditors and their principal findings; approval of the scope and focus of the internal audit programme and internal audit fees
for the forthcoming financial year; further review and final confirmation of the external auditors’ plan for the year end audit; review of
outstanding internal and external audit points; review of risk management report including key risks facing the Group following ‘top
down’ and ‘bottom up’ risk reviews; review of the renewal terms and scope of cover of the Group’s insurance programme; review of
investigations report; review of treasury update..
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Activities of the Audit and Risk Committee (continued)
A further two scheduled meetings were held to approve the quarterly and half year production reports and interim management
statements.

In addition to the routine business described above, the Committee also undertook the following activities during the year and in the
period to the date of this report in discharging its responsibilities:
• Review of relevant changes to the legal and regulatory regimes in the United Kingdom and South Africa;
• Review of provisions under the Companies Act 2006 in connection with auditor liability agreements;
• Review progress of post-investment appraisals in relation to various capital projects and acquisitions;
• Review of matters reported to the external whistle-blowing hotline;
• Review of the internal audit structure; and
• Review of the process by which confirmations and assurance is provided by line management at the year end.

The Committee met six times during the year. Attendance at these meetings was as follows:

Number of meetings Number of
Director held during time in office meetings attended

Karen de Segundo 6 4
Michael Hartnall 6 6
Roger Phillimore 6 6
Jim Sutcliffe 6 6

This report was approved by the Board on 17 November 2008.

Michael Hartnall
Committee Chairman
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Role of the Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is a formal Committee of the Board and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of Association. Its remit
is set out in terms of reference that were formally adopted by the Board in November 2006. These are available from the Company and
are displayed on its website (under Our business/Executive Management).

The primary purposes of the Committee are:
• To ensure a regular, rigorous and objective evaluation of the structure, size, composition, balance of skills, knowledge and experience

of the Board is undertaken;
• In consultation with the Chairman, recommend any proposed changes to the composition of the Board and to instigate and manage

the recruitment process;
• To ensure the Company’s adherence to applicable legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the above; and
• To oversee compliance with the Combined Code and other applicable corporate governance regulation.

Composition of the Nomination Committee
The Committee comprises Roger Phillimore (Chairman), Sir John Craven, Peter Godsoe and Michael Hartnall. The quorum for a meeting
of the Committee is two members. All four members are Non-executive Directors whom the Board considers to be wholly independent.
Given their diverse backgrounds and experience, the Board believes that the Committee members are able to offer a balanced view on
the Committee’s business. Each member receives an annual fee of £7,500 and the Chairman of the Committee receives a fee of
£12,500. These fees are included in the table of Directors’ remuneration on page 41 and a detailed breakdown is also provided on page
42. Biographical details of each Director are set out on page 22 and 23 of this document.

The Committee is supported by the services of the Company Secretary who acts as secretary to the Committee and it has full
access to the Chief Executive. It is also empowered to appoint search consultants, legal, tax and other professional advisors as it sees fit
to assist with its work and to co-opt such resources as it requires to fulfil its duties.

Appointments to the Board
All recommendations for Board appointments are made on merit and against objective criteria. A job specification is drawn up which
includes, in the case of non-executive appointments, an estimate of the time commitment required. Generally, the Committee will engage
executive search consultants to assist in ensuring a comprehensive listing of potential candidates for the Committee’s consideration.

Activities of the Nomination Committee
The Company’s Articles of Association require directors appointed during the year to seek re-election at the next Annual General Meeting
and thereafter by rotation at least once every three years. At a meeting in November 2007, the Committee reviewed the effectiveness of
David Munro and Jim Sutcliffe and an executive Director, Alan Ferguson, all of whom had been appointed during the year. The
effectiveness of Sivi Gounden and Karen de Segundo, both of whom were seeking re-appointment following retirement by rotation, was
also considered. All of the Directors were found to be able, committed and effective in their roles. None of the Directors played any part
in the discussions concerning themselves.

The effectiveness of Roger Phillimore, having served three three-year terms, was also carefully and rigorously considered by the
Committee at the November 2007 meeting. The Committee concluded that Mr Phillimore was fully effective, demonstrated commitment to
his role and retained independent judgement in all respects. Mr Phillimore did not participate in the discussions concerning his evaluation.

The Committee also reviewed its report to be contained in the 2007 Report & Accounts, which it agreed to recommend to the Board
and it assessed its effectiveness and, in his absence, that of the Chairman of the Committee. The views expressed were summarised to
the Board and there were no matters arising which the Committee or the Board felt necessitated change.

During the year, Mr Godsoe’s second term of office expired and, after due and careful consideration at the January 2008 meeting, the
Committee invited Mr Godsoe to serve a third term of office expiring at the conclusion of the 2010 Annual General Meeting. In arriving at
this decision, the Committee took into account that Mr Godsoe was independent in character and judgement and his experience, skills
and knowledge contributed positively to the overall balance of the Board.

At the July 2008 meeting, the Committee undertook a detailed evaluation of the composition of the Board in light of the skills,
experience and diversity of the Directors, and while no actions were felt necessary, the Committee agreed to keep this matter under review.

The terms and conditions of appointment of the non executive directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered
office and will be available for inspection at the Annual General Meeting.

The Committee met three times during the year. Attendance at these meetings was as follows:

Number of meetings held Number of
Director during time in office meetings attended

Sir John Craven 3 3
Peter Godsoe 3 3
Michael Hartnall 3 3
Roger Phillimore 3 3

This report was approved by the Board on 17 November 2008.

Roger Phillimore
Committee Chairman
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Role of the Safety and Sustainability Committee
The Safety and Sustainability Committee is a formal committee of the Board and has powers delegated to it under the Articles of
Association. Its terms of reference were most recently reviewed by the Board in March 2008 and are available on the Company’s website
(under Our business/Executive Management).

The primary purposes of the Committee are:
• To have oversight of and provide advice to the Board and, as necessary to the Audit and Risk Committee, on safety and sustainability

including health, environment and community matters, and particularly as pertaining to the risk and management of these issues
within the Group;

• To have oversight of and provide advice to the Board on the Group’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements
associated with safety and sustainability;

• To assess the effectiveness of management’s attitudes and approach towards, and activities in, managing safety and sustainability
related risk;

• To periodically assess the effectiveness of the Group’s policies, standards and systems for identifying and managing safety and
sustainability related risk;

• To review significant safety and environmental incidents and consider causative factors, consequences and actions including the
impact on employees and third parties and reputational risk;

• To review the Group’s performance indicators in connection to safety and sustainability matters; and
• To report to the Board on developments, trends and/or forthcoming significant legislation on safety and sustainability matters which

may be relevant to the Group’s operations, its assets or employees.

The Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, seek any relevant information that it
requires from any Director or employee of the Group and co-opt any resources it may require to undertake its duties. The Committee is
also authorised to obtain independent legal or other professional advice if it considers this necessary.

In line with the other Committees of the Board, the Safety and Sustainability Committee does not have any executive power and the
Directors and operational managers retain their full responsibility and accountability for the management of safety and sustainability
matters in the Group.

Minutes of all meetings of the Committee are circulated to all Directors and supplemented by a verbal update from the Committee’s
chairman at the next Board meeting, identifying any material matters which arose from the Committee’s work.

The Committee presents a summary of its activities to shareholders and other interested parties by means of this report. More
detailed information concerning the Group’s sustainability related activities are available on the Company’s website and will also be
available in the 2008 Summary Sustainable Development Report.

The Committee assessed its effectiveness at the September 2008 meeting. To do this, a tailor-made questionnaire was circulated to
the Committee and those senior executives who regularly attended meetings of the Committee. The Committee and the Board concluded
that there were no matters arising which necessitated change.

Composition of the Safety and Sustainability Committee
The terms of reference for this Committee require a minimum of two independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom shall be the
Chairman of the Committee, and one executive Director. The Board may, on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, appoint
or remove members of the Committee, subject to there being at least three members at all times. At the request of the Committee’s
Chairman, certain senior executives attend all meetings of the Committee.

The Committee comprised the following members during the year and to the date of this report, except where stated otherwise:

Sivi Gounden: an independent Director who has been a member of the Committee and its Chairman since November 2006. Dr Gounden,
a South African national resident in that country, is an engineer by formal training and has experience of both the private sector (being a
former CEO of a listed company and currently running his own business) and public sector (having been Director General of a government
department). In his business career, he has significant experience of the mining industry globally, and in South Africa in particular.

Karen de Segundo: an independent Director who has been a member of the Committee since January 2007. Formerly Chief Executive
Officer of Shell International Renewables and Chief Executive of Shell’s global gas and power business, Ms de Segundo currently holds a
number of non executive directorships with a variety of international companies.

David Munro: an independent Director who joined the Board in August 2007 and was appointed to the Safety and Sustainability Committee on
21 September 2007. Mr Munro is a mining engineer with significant experience of the mining sector, both internationally and in South Africa.

Brad Mills: an executive Director and Chief Executive of the Company who has been a member of the Committee since its inception in
September 2004. Mr Mills ceased to be a member of the Committee on 9 October 2008.

Michael Hartnall: an independent Director, who joined the Committee at its inception in September 2004 retired from membership of the
Committee on 2 May 2008.
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Composition of the Safety and Sustainability Committee (continued)
Biographical details of each of the Directors are set out on pages 22 and 23 of the Report & Accounts. Each of the Non-executive

Directors on this Committee receives an annual fee of £7,500 for serving as a member or, in the case of the Chairman, £12,500. These
fees are included in the table of Directors’ remuneration on page 41 of this document.

All members of the Committee are provided with appropriate induction into the role of the Committee and the operation of its terms
of reference on appointment. Members are also offered opportunities to visit the operations and community projects with which the
Company is involved.

Activities of the Safety and Sustainability Committee
The Committee usually meets four times a year and reports its material findings to the next Board meeting. The principal business of
these meetings was:

November: review of safety statistics and trend analysis; review of quarterly progress report from the International Finance Corporation
(IFC) on joint IFC/Lonmin projects and review of other community development projects undertaken by Lonmin; approval of the Safety
& Sustainability Committee report contained within the 2007 Annual Report and recommendation of the same to the Board.

March (South Africa): review of safety statistics and trend analysis; review of quarterly progress report from the IFC on joint IFC/Lonmin
projects; review results of the annual stakeholder perception survey and consideration of the Company’s action plan; review of report on
environmental performance;.

July: review of safety statistics and trend analysis; review of quarterly progress report from the IFC on joint IFC/Lonmin projects; review
of external auditors’ management letter following audit of 2007 Sustainability Development Report (SDR); approval of the 2007 SDR;
consideration of the revised Terms of Reference for the Committee and recommendation of the same to the Board

September (usually in South Africa but in UK this year): review of safety statistics and trend analysis; review of quarterly progress report
from the IFC on joint IFC/Lonmin projects; .

In addition to the routine business described above, the Committee also undertook the following activities during the year and in the
period to the date of this report in discharging its responsibilities:
• Reviews of ICAM reports on all serious incidents, including fatalities (being a detailed analysis of factors contributing to these

incidents and the corrective and preventative measures that were taken to prevent recurrence) presented by the executive
responsible for the relevant parts of the Group’s business;

• Review of progress report on Community Development and Human Capital, Training and Procurement in connection with the Social
and Labour Plan submitted to the South African government as part of the application for a New Order Mining Licence at Marikana;

• Review of a report on changes to the environmental and regulatory regime in connection to air emissions and the Group’s proposed
response to these issues;

• Review of industry benchmarking on safety-related statistical reporting.

The Committee met four times during the year. Attendance at these meetings was as follows:

Number of meetings Number of
Director held during time in office meetings attended

Brad Mills1 4 4
Michael Hartnall2 2 2
Sivi Gounden 4 2
Karen de Segundo 4 2
David Munro 4 4

Senior Executives
President3 1 1
VP Sustainability 4 4
VP Exploration & Business Development 4 3
VP Risk & Treasury4 2 1
VP Safety5 3 2

1 Ceased 9 October 2008.
2 Ceased 2 May 2008.
3 Joined 2 July 2008.
4 Ceased 5 May 2008.
5 Joined 1 December 2007.

This report was approved by the Board on 17 November 2008.

Sivi Gounden

Committee Chairman
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Lonmin Plc

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Lonmin Plc for the year ended
30 September 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the
Remuneration Committee Report that is described as having been audited on page 37.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and for preparing the parent company financial statements
and the Remuneration Committee Report in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 62.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report
includes that specific information presented in the Financial Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies
with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Committee Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Committee Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s

affairs as at 30 September 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended;
• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation;
• the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,

of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 September 2008;
• the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Committee Report to be audited have been properly

prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
London

17 November 2008
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62 Responsibility Statement of the Directors in
respect of the Annual Report and Accounts

We confirm on behalf of the Board that to the best of our knowledge:

(a) the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

(b) the management report (entitled “Business Review”) includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

For and on behalf of the Board

Sir John Craven Alan Ferguson

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

17 November 2008
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for the year ended 30 September

Special Special
2008 items 2008 2007 items 2007

Underlying i (note 3) Total Underlying i (note 3) Total
Continuing operations Note $m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue 2 2,231 – 2,231 1,941 – 1,941

EBITDAii 1,059 (25) 1,034 883 (2) 881
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (96) (174) (270) (87) – (87)

Operating profit / (loss)iii 4 963 (199) 764 796 (2) 794
Impairment of available for sale financial assets 14 – (19) (19) – – –
Finance income 6 13 – 13 25 – 25
Finance expenses 6 (6) – (6) (28) (104) (132)
Share of profit of associate and joint venture 13 27 – 27 18 – 18

Profit / (loss) before taxation 997 (218) 779 811 (106) 705
Income tax expenseiv 7 (322) 109 (213) (255) (42) (297)

Profit / (loss) for the year 675 (109) 566 556 (148) 408

Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 550 (95) 455 453 (139) 314
– Minority interest 125 (14) 111 103 (9) 94

Earnings per share 8 351.9c 291.1c 295.9c 205.1c

Diluted earnings per sharev 8 350.7c 290.2c 293.4c 203.3c

Dividends paid per share 9 119.0c 110.0c

Consolidated statement of recognised
income and expense
for the year ended 30 September

2008 2007
Total Total

Note $m $m

Profit for the year 566 408
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets 14 (127) 111
Net changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 16 (8)
Losses / (gains) on settled cash flow hedges released to the income statement (4) 20
Foreign exchange on retranslation of associate 13 5 –
Deferred tax on items taken directly to the statement of recognised income and expense 16 (32)
Actuarial losses on post retirement benefit plan 15 – (11)

Total recognised income for the year 472 488

Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 28 352 392
– Minority interest 28 120 96

28 472 488

i Underlying earnings are calculated on profit for the year excluding pension scheme payments relating to scheme settlements, profit on disposal of subsidiaries,
revaluations and impairment of assets, takeover bid defence costs, foreign exchange on tax balances and effects of changes in corporate tax rates. For the prior
period, special items also included profit on the sale of Marikana houses, pension scheme net refunds relating to scheme settlements and movements in the fair
value of the embedded derivative associated with the convertible bonds as disclosed in note 3 to the accounts.

ii EBITDA is operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment.
iii Operating profit is defined as revenue less operating expenses before impairment of available for sale financial assets, net finance costs and share of profit of

associate and joint venture.
iv The income tax expense substantially relates to overseas taxation and includes exchange gains of $88 million (2007 – exchange losses of $51 million) as disclosed

in note 7.
v In the prior year the calculation of diluted EPS included consideration of the movement in fair value of the embedded derivative within the convertible bonds subject

to the limitation under IAS 33 – Earnings Per Share, that this cannot thereby create a figure exceeding basic EPS.
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64 Consolidated balance sheet
as at 30 September

2008 2007
Note $m $m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 113 186
Intangible assets 11 949 936
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,893 1,673
Investment in associate and joint venture 13 163 131
Available for sale financial assets 14 96 226
Other receivables 14 19 22

3,233 3,174

Current assets
Inventories 16 319 186
Trade and other receivables 17 326 338
Assets held for sale 18 6 7
Tax recoverable 5 3
Derivative financial instruments 21 20 8
Cash and cash equivalents 32 226 222

902 764

Current liabilities
Overdraft 32 – (1)
Trade and other payables 19 (346) (286)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 – (237)
Tax payable (55) (40)

(401) (564)

Net current assets 501 200

Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits 15 (21) (24)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 (529) (359)
Deferred tax liabilities 23 (540) (585)
Provisions 24 (50) (46)

(1,140) (1,014)

Net assets 2,594 2,360

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 156 156
Share premium 28 305 299
Other reserves 28 100 96
Retained earnings 28 1,586 1,417

Attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 28 2,147 1,968
Attributable to minority interest 28 447 392

Total equity 28 2,594 2,360

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 November 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir John Craven Alan Ferguson

Chairman Chief Financial Officer
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65Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 September

2008 2007
Note $m $m

Profit for the year 566 408
Taxation 7 213 297
Share of profit after tax of associate and joint venture 13 (27) (18)
Finance income 6 (13) (25)
Finance expenses 6 6 132
Impairment of available for sale financial assets 3 19 –
Depreciation and amortisation 96 87
Other impairment 3 174 –
Change in inventories (133) (51)
Change in trade and other receivables 12 58
Change in trade and other payables 37 70
Change in provisions – 4
Profit on sale of assets held for sale – (1)
Profit on sale of subsidiary (2) –
Share-based payments 6 24
Other non cash charges (7) (2)

Cash flow from operations 947 983
Interest received 11 16
Interest paid (23) (41)
Tax paid (229) (266)

Cash flow from operating activities 706 692

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 33 – (393)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 3 –
Purchase of intangible assets (24) (6)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (354) (270)
Proceeds from disposal of available for sale financial assets – 51
Purchase of available for sale financial assets (17) (72)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale 1 5

Cash used in investing activities (391) (685)

Cash flow from financing activities
Equity dividends paid to Lonmin shareholders 28 (186) (171)
Dividends paid to minority 28 (65) (41)
Proceeds from current borrowings 32 – 237
Repayment of current borrowings 32 (237) –
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 32 170 71
Issue of ordinary share capital 6 68

Cash used in financing activities (312) 164

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 171
Opening cash and cash equivalents 32 221 43
Effect of exchange rate changes 32 2 7

Closing cash and cash equivalents 32 226 221
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66 Notes to the accounts

1 Statement on accounting policies
Reporting entity
Lonmin Plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the UK. The address of the Company’s registered office is 4 Grosvenor
Place, London, SW1X 7YL. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 September 2008
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly
controlled entities.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance
The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (adopted IFRSs). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial
statements in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 106 to 113. The parent company financial statements
present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 November 2008.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
• Available for sale assets are measured at fair value.
• Liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value.
• Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

No changes in the accounting policies have had any effect on the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense.

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and its principal
operations.

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with adopted IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The primary areas in which estimates and judgements are applied are as follows:
The carrying value of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment for which the key assumptions, and

management approach for determining these, is described in the policy on Impairment.
Reserves and resources are determined by Competent Persons and audited bi-annually according to the South African code for

the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC). The determination of resources and
reserves requires a wide variety of assessments regarding the geology of the ore body, the mining plans and economic viability which
are all subject to inherent uncertainties.

Inventory is held in a wide variety of forms across the value chain reflecting the stage of refinement. Prior to production as final
metal the inventory is always contained within a carrier material. As such inventory is typically sampled and assays taken to determine
the metal content and how this is split by metal. Measurement and sampling accuracy can vary quite significantly depending on the
nature of the vessels and the state of the material. Management judgement, therefore, is also applied.

The Group holds a 22% interest in Platmin Limited but has accounted for the entity as an available for sale financial asset as the
Group has no entitlement to, or actual, representation on the Board of Directors of Platmin Limited and is unable to exert significant
influence on the company.

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
Group financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity in order to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable are taken into account.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition at which
date control commences or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate, at which date control ceases. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to bring the accounting policies used
into line with those used by the Group.

Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group has an equity interest and over which it has the ability to exercise significant influence
but not control over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. Associates are accounted for using the equity method and are initially measured
at cost. The Group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any impairment losses. The consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of any associates, after adjustments to
align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that
significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying
amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Joint ventures
The Group undertakes a number of business activities through joint ventures. Joint ventures are established through contractual
arrangements which result in the strategic, financial and operating policies of the venture being jointly controlled. Such joint ventures
are treated as jointly controlled entities and are accounted for using the equity method.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and joint
ventures are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group entities using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the historic rate.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available for sale financial assets which are recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Revenue
Revenue is derived from the sale of metal inventories and is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, after
deducting discounts, volume rebates, value added tax and other sales taxes. A sale is recognised when: the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer (this is generally when title and insurance risk have passed to the customer, and the
goods have been delivered to a contractually agreed location); recovery of the consideration is probable; the associated costs and
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably; there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably.

All third-party metal sales are recognised as revenue. The Group does not credit capitalised development costs with income
arising from production in development phases but rather recognises such metal as inventory (see Inventories policy).
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68 Notes to the accounts

1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest on funds invested (including available for sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the
disposal of available for sale financial assets net of costs of disposal, expected returns on pension scheme assets, and gains on
hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principle outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive payment have been established.
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank fees (which are capitalised and amortised over the life of the

facility), unwinding of discount on provisions, interest costs of pension scheme liabilities, and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement.

All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method except for borrowing costs which
are directly attributable to the acquisition, or construction of an asset. Such costs are capitalised to property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets during the period of construction provided that future economic benefit is considered probable. Capitalised interest
is shown as interest paid in the consolidated cash flow statement.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in respect of goods and services received.

Research and development
Research expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.

Development expenditure which meets the recognition criteria for an intangible asset under IAS 38 – Intangible Assets, is
capitalised and then amortised over the useful economic life of the developed asset, otherwise it is charged to the income statement
as incurred. Borrowing costs related to the development of qualifying assets are capitalised.

Capitalised development expenditure is recognised at cost, and subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses, where it can be demonstrated that the expenditure will result in completion of an asset which, when available for use or sale,
will result in future economic benefit arising for the Group.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration for and evaluation of potential mineral reserves
and includes costs relating to the following: acquisition of exploration rights; conducting geological studies; exploratory drilling and
sampling; and evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource.

Expenditure incurred on activities that precede exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources, being all expenditure incurred
prior to securing the legal rights to explore an area, is expensed immediately.

Expenditure towards in-house exploration for and evaluation of potential mineral reserves for each area of interest is expensed
until it is considered probable that future economic benefit will arise through further exploration and subsequent development of the
area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale.

Pre-feasibility studies involve the review of one or more potential development options with the aim of moving forward to the more
detailed feasibility study stage. Expenditure related to such studies is expensed in full as there is insufficient certainty that future
economic benefit will be generated at this stage of a project.

Expenditure relating to feasibility studies which support the technical feasibility and commercial viability of an area is capitalised
under exploration and evaluation assets.

Where a feasibility study reaches a favourable conclusion accumulated exploration and evaluation costs are transferred to mineral
rights within intangibles or capital work in progress within property, plant and equipment as appropriate on commencement of the
development phase of the related project. Where the feasibility study reaches an adverse conclusion, any previously capitalised
exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off immediately.

Expenditure on purchased exploration and evaluation assets is capitalised at fair value at the time of purchase. Subsequent
expenditure may be capitalised at cost. Carrying values are subject to impairment reviews as per the Group’s policy.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is classified as property, plant and equipment or intangible depending on the nature of the
expenditure. Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is a class of assets which are not available for use. Therefore
amortisation is not provided on such assets.

Mineral mining rights, which are obtained following the completion of a feasibility study, are not included within exploration and
evaluation expenditure. They are capitalised at cost under IAS 38 – Intangible Assets and are amortised on a units of production
basis over the life of the mine.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payment
From the grant date the fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to
payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are
recognised as a personnel expense in the income statement.

The fair value of each option or share appreciation right is determined using either a Black-Scholes option pricing model or a
Monte Carlo projection model, depending on the type of the award. Market-related performance conditions are reflected in the fair
value of the share. Non-market related performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of
awards expected to vest; the final charge made reflects the numbers actually vested on the basis that non-market conditions are met.

Business combinations and goodwill
At the date of acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking, associate or joint venture fair values are attributed to the acquired identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any provisional fair values are finalised within twelve months of the acquisition date.
Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of the purchase consideration and the acquired interest in the fair values of
those net assets. Goodwill is initially recognised at fair value. Any negative goodwill is credited to the income statement in the year of
acquisition. If an undertaking is subsequently sold, the amount of goodwill carried on the balance sheet at the date of disposal is
charged to the income statement in the period of disposal as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill in respect of subsidiaries and joint ventures which are equity accounted for is included within the Group’s investments.
Goodwill relating to associates is included within the carrying value of the associate.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, acquired by the Group have finite useful lives and are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Where amortisation is charged on these assets, the expense is taken to the
income statement through operating costs.

Amortisation of mineral rights is provided on a units of production basis over the remaining life of mine to residual value
(20 to 40 years).

All other intangible assets are amortised over their useful economic lives subject to a maximum of 20 years and are tested for
impairment at each reporting date when there is an indication of a possible impairment.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is included in the balance sheet at cost and subsequently less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes
the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use, and any other costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Cost
may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property,
plant and equipment. Borrowing costs incurred on the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised to the cost
of the asset.

Gains and losses on disposals of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds on
disposal with the carrying value of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net in the income statement.

Componentisation
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised upon replacement. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement as incurred.
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70 Notes to the accounts

1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Capital work in progress
Development costs are capitalised and transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when available for use.

Capitalised development costs include expenditure incurred to develop new operations and to expand existing capacity. Costs
include interest capitalised during the period up to the level that the qualifying assets permit.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line or units of production basis as appropriate over their expected useful lives or the remaining
life of mine, if shorter, to residual value. The life of mine is based on proven and probable reserves. The expected useful lives of the
major categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Method Rate

Shafts and underground Units of production 2.5% – 5.0% per annum (20 – 40 years)
Metallurgical Straight line 2.5% – 7.1% per annum (14 – 40 years)
Infrastructure Straight line 2.5% – 2.9% per annum (35 – 40 years)
Other plant and equipment Straight line 2.5% – 50.0% per annum (2 – 40 years)

No depreciation is provided on surface mining land which has a continuing value and capital work in progress.
Residual values and useful lives are re-assessed annually and if necessary changes are accounted for prospectively.

Impairment
The Group’s principal assets are property, plant and equipment, intangibles and goodwill associated with exploration and evaluation,
mining and processing activities. For the purpose of assessing recoverable amount, these assets are grouped into cash generating
units (“CGUs”).

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. At each balance sheet date, the Group
assesses whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment (if any).

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually regardless of whether an indication of
impairment exists.

Items of property, plant and equipment that are not in use are reviewed annually for impairment on a fair value less costs to
sell basis.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense.

Value in use
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows, based on the most up to date business forecasts, are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the assets for which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

The key assumptions contained within the business forecasts and management’s approach to determine appropriate values is set
out below:

Key Assumption Management Approach

PGM prices Projections are determined through a combination of the views of the Directors, market
estimates and forecasts and other sector information.

Production volume Projections are based on the capacity and expected operational capabilities of the mines,
the grade of the ore, and the efficiencies of processing and refining operations.

Production costs Projections are based on current cost adjusted for expected cost changes as well as
giving consideration to specific issues, such as the difficulty in mining particular sections of
the reef and the mining method employed.

Capital expenditure requirements Projections are based on the operational plan, which sets out the long term plan of the
business and is approved by the Board.

Foreign currency exchange rates Projections are made using external sources of information.
Reserves and resources of the CGU Projections are determined through surveys performed by competent persons and the

views of the Directors of the Company.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Impairment (continued)
Value in use (continued)

Management uses past experience and assessment of future conditions, together with external sources of information in order to
assign values to the key assumptions.

Management has projected cash flows over the life of the relevant mining operation which is significantly greater than 5 years.
Projecting cash flows over a period longer than 5 years is in line with industry practice and is supported by the Group's history of the
resources expected to be found being proven to exist. Management does not apply a growth rate because a detailed life of mine
plan is used to forecast future production volumes.

For each CGU a risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate based on the weighted average cost of capital for Group is used for
impairment testing. The key factors affecting the risk premium applied are the relevant stage of the development of the asset in the
CGU (extensions to existing operations having significantly lower risk than evaluation projects for example), the level of knowledge
and consistency of the ore body and sovereign risk. The real weighted average cost of capital applied to goodwill in the Marikana
CGU was 8%.

Fair value less costs to sell
Fair value less costs to sell has been determined by reference to the best information available to reflect the amount that the Group
could receive for the CGU in an arm’s length transaction.

When comparable market transactions or public valuations of similar assets exist these are used as a source of evidence.
However, the Group believes that mining CGUs tend to be unique and have their value determined largely by the nature of the
underlying ore body. The fair value therefore is typically determined by calculating the value of the CGU using an appropriate valuation
methodology such as calculating the post-tax net present value using a discounted cash flow forecast (as described in value in use).

This approach has been used in determining the value of the Akanani CGU based on the most up to date detailed mine and
operating plans, modified as appropriate to meet the requirements of IAS 36.

The resources at Akanani include the exploration and evaluation asset, a deferred tax liability and tax goodwill. The exploration
and evaluation asset includes an amount for tax amortisation benefit. A deferred tax liability was created on acquisition but because
deferred tax liabilities are not discounted and the tax amortisation benefits are, a ‘tax goodwill’ balance was created. This tax
goodwill balance represents the effect of not discounting the deferred tax liability. This is reviewed for impairment as required under
IAS 36 as well as under IFRS 6.

In preparing the financial statements, management has considered whether a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs would cause the units’ carrying
amounts to exceed their recoverable amounts. For the Marikana CGU, because of the forecast for long-term PGM prices and the
very significant reserves and resources in the ground, management do not believe that a reasonably possible change in any of the
key assumptions would lead to impairment. For the Akanani CGU management’s assessment of mineral resources and reserves is
higher than that at acquisition and there has been limited change in anticipated long-term metal prices since this time. For the
Akanani CGU management do not believe there are relevant market transactions which can be used to consider the asset on a fair
value less costs to sell basis. Management do not believe there are any current indicators of impairment. Given the Akanani CGU is at
the exploration and evaluation stage it is reasonably possible that the completion of that stage will result in changes to indicated and
inferred reserves of PGM ounces and the quantity of reserves is also sensitive to the long term metal prices. Adverse changes in
reserves and resources or long term metal prices might cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of the CGU.
Any adverse impact on the Akanani exploration and evaluation asset could have a direct impact on the carrying value of the tax
goodwill which has to be assessed under IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets. As the PGM ounces are only indicated and inferred, and
plans for the extraction of the mineral resource are not that far advanced, it is considered impracticable to provide quantified
sensitivities and an estimate of what headroom, if any, exists.

Goodwill
The recoverable amount of goodwill, as allocated to relevant CGUs, has been tested for impairment annually, or when such events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.
Impairment losses within a CGU are allocated first to goodwill and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the

unit on a pro rata basis.

Exploration and evaluation assets
Under IFRS 6 exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amount. When this occurs, any impairment loss is immediately charged to the
income statement.

Reversal of impairment
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a previously recognised impairment loss has
reversed. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, had the impairment not been made. A reversal of impairment is
recognised as income immediately.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of the present value of
the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased asset as determined at the inception of the lease. The obligations relating
to finance leases, net of finance charges in respect of future periods, are included within bank loans and other borrowings, with the
amount payable within 12 months included in bank overdrafts and loans within short-term liabilities. The interest element of the rental
obligation is allocated to accounting periods during the lease term to reflect the constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the obligation for each accounting period. Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis.

Assets held for sale
When an asset’s carrying value will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, to take place within twelve months of the
balance sheet date, rather than through continuing use it is classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying value and
fair value less costs to sell. No depreciation is charged in respect of non-current assets classified as held for sale. Immediately prior
to sale the assets are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies .

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (which includes the applicable proportion of production overheads) and net realisable value.

Platinum Group Metals (PGMs) inventory is valued by allocating costs, based on the joint cost of production, apportioned
according to the relative sales value of each of the three main metals produced.

By-product metals are valued at the incremental cost of production from the point of split-off from the PGM processing stream.
In the process of initially developing the ore reserve it is common that metal is produced, although not at normal operating levels.

Development is split into different phases according to the mining method used with differing levels of production expected in each
phase. The Group recognises the metal produced in each development phase in inventory with an appropriate proportion of cost as
operating costs. This allocation is calculated by reference to the produced volumes in relation to the total volumes expected from the
development.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions, which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original maturity
of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as the bank overdraft is repayable on demand and forms an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes overseas in accordance with local regulations. A defined contribution
plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate legal entity and has no legal
or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised
as an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due.

The Group operated two types of pension schemes in the United Kingdom. Firstly, there was a defined benefit retirement scheme
for which the amount recognised in the balance sheet in respect of net assets or liabilities represented the present value of the
obligations offset by the fair value of the plan assets. Any recognised asset was limited to the net total of any unrecognised past
service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reduction in future contributions to the plan. The cost of
providing for the scheme was charged to the income statement over the periods relating to the employees’ service. Actuarial gains
and losses were recognised in full in the period in which they occurred. They were recognised outside of the income statement in
retained earnings and presented in the statement of recognised income and expense. This scheme has been closed to new entrants
with effect from 6 April 2006, closed to further accrual on 30 June 2007 and was settled in 2008. Secondly, for current UK
employees, the Group either makes payments on behalf of employees into a defined contribution scheme which the Group has set
up, or makes direct payments to the employees who may then make their own arrangements.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax to be paid or recovered on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date during the periods being reported upon, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of
previous years. Current tax also includes secondary tax charges on dividends remitted which are recognised upon the declaration of
relevant dividends.

Deferred tax as directed by IAS 12 – Income Taxes is recognised in respect of certain temporary differences identified at the
balance sheet date. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of the Group’s assets and liabilities and their
tax base.

A deferred tax liability is recognised in a business combination in respect of any identified intangible asset representing the
difference between the fair value of the acquired asset and its tax base. Recognition of a deferred tax liability in respect of such a
difference gives rise to a corresponding increase in goodwill recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets within the same taxable entity or qualifying local tax Group where the
entities have the right to settle current tax liabilities net. Any remaining deferred tax asset is recognised only when, on the basis of all
available evidence, it can be regarded as probable that there will be suitable taxable profits, within the same jurisdiction, in the
foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising in relation to investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and
associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax relating to the secondary tax charges on the remittance of overseas earnings is provided to the extent that such
remittance of earnings can reasonably be foreseen.

Rehabilitation costs
Rehabilitation costs are provided in full based on estimates of the future costs to be incurred, calculated on a discounted basis.
As the provision is recognised, it is either capitalised as part of the cost of the related mine or written off to the income statement if
utilised within one year. Where costs are capitalised the impact of such costs on the income statement is spread over the life of mine
through the accretion of the discount of the provision and the depreciation over a units of production basis of the increased costs of
the mining assets.

Provisions
Provision is made when a present or legal obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the
obligation can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, available for sale financial assets, trade and
other receivables, listed convertible bonds, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and short-term deposits.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through the income
statement, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are
measured as described below.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. These also comprise bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand, for the purpose of the cash flow statement only.

Investments are classified into loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available for sale. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired, the nature of the investments and whether the investment is quoted or not. The
classification of investments is determined at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables and investments classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortised cost and gains or losses are recognised
in the income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Available for sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available for sale financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at fair value and any changes are recognised directly in equity except when
market value has fallen below original cost when the losses are taken to the income statement together with any foreign exchange
gains or losses arising whilst the asset is impaired. When an investment is written off or sold, any cumulative gains or losses in equity
are recycled into the income statement. Fair value is determined by using the market price at the balance sheet date where this is
available. Where market price is not available the Directors’ best estimates of market value are used.
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1 Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Convertible bonds
The Group had raised debt through the issue of convertible bonds. These bonds incorporated two key elements. Firstly, there was
the financial liability in respect of the debt element. This was measured at net present value of future cash flows. Secondly, the bonds
allowed for conversion to equity at the option of the bond holder. This represented an equity embedded derivative. However, as the
Group had retained a cash settlement option this equity conversion feature was shown as a financial liability if the fair value was
greater than the net present value of the debt. This embedded derivative was fair valued at each reporting period end with changes
in fair value being taken through the income statement. The convertible bonds were fully redeemed during 2007.

Bank loans
Bank loans are recorded at amortised cost, net of transaction costs incurred, and are adjusted to amortise transaction costs over the
term of the loan.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group to manage exposure to market risks from treasury operations and commodity
price risks on by-products. The principal derivative instruments used are foreign currency swaps, interest rate swaps, forward foreign
exchange contracts and forward price agreements on by-products. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. Attributable costs are recognised in profit
or loss when occurred and then remeasured at subsequent reporting dates to fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain
or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
Hedging derivatives are classified on inception as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is recognised directly in equity if
effective. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
income statement.

Segmental reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in either providing products or services (business segment),
or is providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment) which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based on business
segments. The business segments are determined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets other than goodwill, and any capitalised interest.

New standards and amendments in the year
With effect from the 1 October 2007 the Group has adopted IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures. This introduces new disclosures
for financial instruments (see note 22) but does not have any impact on the consolidated income statement or balance sheet.

There were no other new standards, interpretations or amendments to standards issued and effective for the period which
materially impacted the Group’s financial statements.

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 30 September
2008, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:
• IFRS 8 – Operating Segments introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting. IFRS 8, which becomes mandatory

for the Group’s 2009 financial statements, will require the disclosure of segment information based on the internal reports
regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to assess each segment’s performance and to allocate
resources to them.

• Revised IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity capitalises
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of the
asset. The revised IAS 23 will become mandatory for the Group’s 2009 financial statements. Currently, the Group has elected to
capitalise all permitted borrowing cost to the cost of the asset and therefore the change will not impact on the Group financial
statements.
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2 Segmental analysis
The Group’s primary operating segment is the mining of Platinum Group Metals. The majority of the Group’s operations are based in
South Africa.

2008

Platinum Corporateii Exploration Total
Analysis by business group $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales 2,231 – – 2,231
Operating profit / (loss) 892 (101) (27) 764
Segment total assets 3,369 25 741 4,135
Segment total liabilities (1,100) (267) (174) (1,541)
Capital expenditurei 389 – 36 425
Depreciation and amortisation 96 – – 96
Impairment losses (note 3) 193 – – 193
Share of profit of associate and joint venture 27 – – 27
Share of net assets of associate and joint venture 163 – – 163

2007

Platinum Corporateii Exploration Total
Analysis by business group $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales 1,941 – – 1,941
Operating profit / (loss) 880 (63) (23) 794
Segment total assets 3,211 41 686 3,938
Segment total liabilities (1,066) (339) (173) (1,578)
Capital expenditurei 353 – 19 372
Depreciation and amortisation 87 – – 87
Impairment losses (note 3) 5 – – 5
Share of profit of associate and joint venture 18 – – 18
Share of net assets of associate and joint venture 131 – – 131

2008

South Africa UK Other Total
Analysis by geographical location $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales 2,231 – – 2,231
Segment total assets 4,091 10 34 4,135
Capital expenditurei 425 – – 425

2007

South Africa UK Other Total
Analysis by geographical location $m $m $m $m

Revenue – external sales 1,941 – – 1,941
Segment total assets 3,867 41 30 3,938
Capital expenditurei 372 – – 372

Footnotes:
i Capital expenditure includes additions to plant, property and equipment (including capitalised interest), intangible assets and goodwilI in accordance with

IAS 14 – Segment Reporting.

ii The corporate segment consists of the London head office and the Johannesburg office (including marketing and the capital programme group).

Revenue by destination is analysed by geographical area below:
2008 2007
$m $m

The Americas 580 419
Asia 798 705
Europe 349 314
South Africa 496 482
Zimbabwe 8 21

2,231 1,941
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3 Special items
‘Special items’ are those items of financial performance that the Group believes should be separately disclosed on the face of the income
statement to assist in the understanding of the financial performance achieved by the Group and for consistency with prior years.

2008 2007
$m $m

Operating profit: (199) (2)
– Sale of housesi – 1
– Sale of subsidiaryii 2 –
– Pensionsiii (9) 2
– Defence costsiv (18) –
– Impairmentv (174) (5)

Impairment of available for sale financial assetsvi (19) –

Finance costs:
– Movement in fair value of embedded derivativevii – (104)

Loss on special items before taxation (218) (106)
Taxation related to special items (note 7) 109 (42)

Special loss before minority interest (109) (148)
Minority interest 14 9

Special loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc (95) (139)

Footnotes:
i The Company is selling houses to employees to encourage home-ownership. Any profits or losses from such sales are not deemed to represent underlying

earnings.

ii During the period, the Group disposed of a subsidiary, Southern Era Mining Exploration South Africa (Pty) Limited, for consideration of $3 million resulting in a
profit before tax of $2 million.

iii During 2008 the Group settled the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme (LSS) and incurred a $9 million charge. No further expense relating to the LSS is
expected in future periods. In 2007 the Group finalised the winding up of the SUITS pension scheme which was settled in 2004. During the prior year a
$1 million provision was made for the purchase of additional benefits for members of the scheme which was offset by a $3 million refund on final settlement.

iv In 2008 the Group incurred $18 million of defence costs relating to a takeover bid that occurred.

v Impairment charges primarily comprised the write down of property, plant and equipment of $89 million for Baobab shaft at Limpopo together with
$73 million of smelting synergies recognised as goodwill recognised at acquisition and $7 million relating to the remaining carrying value of the Messina
concentrate off-take contract. This impairment has arisen as a result of reduced reserves and weaker short-term pricing now anticipated. In 2008 the income
statement has been presented to incorporate these charges within depreciation, amortisation and impairment. In the prior year the Group carried out a review
of non-mining investments resulting in a $5 million impairment charge to the income statement. This charge was not separated out in line with the 2008
presentation of the income statement on the grounds of materiality.

vi Certain available for sale financial assets have been marked to market and have fallen below original acquisition costs resulting in $19 million of impairment
charges being taken to the income statement.

vii In the prior period convertible bonds existed that contained an embedded derivative which, because of the cash settlement option, was held at fair value with
movements in fair value taken to the income statement. Fluctuations of fair value were mainly due to share price and as they were not considered underlying
they were reported as special. The convertible bonds were fully redeemed during the 2007 fiscal year with the movement in fair value from the previous year
end to the date of redemption being reported as special.
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4 Group operating profit
Group operating profit is arrived at as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Revenue 2,231 1,941
Cost of sales (1,121) (1,017)

Gross profit 1,110 924
Administration expenses (120) (105)
Exploration (27) (23)
Special costs (note 3) (199) (2)

Group operating profit 764 794

Group operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2008 2007
$m $m

Operating lease charges – land and buildings 1 1
Depreciation and amortisation 96 87
Employee benefits of key management excluding share-based paymentsi 15 12
Special items (note 3) 199 2
Share-based payments 6 22
Foreign exchange gains (13) (7)

Footnote:
i Included within employee benefits of key management excluding share-based payments is $9 million (2007 – $7 million) in respect of Directors.

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates included in operating costs:

2008 2007
$m $m

UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for
the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 – 0.3 0.2 – 0.2

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and
its associates for other services:

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries
pursuant to legislation 0.3 1.2 1.5 0.3 0.8 1.1
Other services pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2
Tax services – 0.2 0.2 – 0.4 0.4
Sustainability assurance services – 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 0.1
IT assurance services – 0.5 0.5 – 0.2 0.2
Accounting and other advice 0.4 0.1 0.5 0.3 0.4 0.7

1.1 2.2 3.3 0.9 2.0 2.9
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5 Employees
The average number of employees and Directors during the year was as follows:

2008 2007
No. No.

South Africa 25,274 24,072
Europe 36 38
Rest of world 52 12

25,362 24,122

The aggregate payroll costs of employees, key management and Directors were as follows:

2008 2007
Employee costs $m $m

Wages and salaries 501 419
Social security costs 14 18
Pension costs 36 33
Share-based payments 6 22

557 492

2008 2007
Key management compensation $m $m

Short-term employee benefits 9 9
Termination payments 5 2
Post-employment benefits 1 1

Key management costs excluding share-based payments 15 12
Share-based payments 3 8

18 20

The key management compensation analysed above represents amounts in respect of the Chief Executive Committee (CEC) which
comprised the three executive Directors and eight other senior managers (2007 – three executive Directors and eight other senior
managers).

The sterling equivalents of total Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the highest paid Director together with full details of
Directors’ remuneration, pensions and benefits in kind are given in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 37 to 54.
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6 Net finance costs

2008 2007
$m $m

Finance income: 13 25
Interest receivable 5 16
Expected return on defined benefit pension scheme assets – 8
Movement in fair value of other receivables 1 1
Other interest receivable 7 –

Finance expenses: (6) (28)
On bank loans and overdrafts (22) (40)
Bank fees (1) (5)
Capitalised interest 23 23
Unwind of discounting on provisions (4) (3)
Unwind of discounting on convertible bonds – (3)
Exchange differences on other receivables (4) –
Exchange differences on net debt 2 7
Pension scheme interest payable – (7)

Special items: – (104)
Movement in fair values of derivative financial instruments (note 3) – (104)

Total finance expenses (6) (132)

Net finance income / (expense) 7 (107)

Interest expenses incurred have been capitalised on a group basis to the extent that there is an appropriate qualifying asset.
The weighted average interest rate used by the Group for capitalisation is 4.7% (2007 – 6.0%).
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7 Taxation

2008 2007
$m $m

United Kingdom:
Current tax expense at 28% (2007 – 30%) 126 42
Less amount of the benefit arising from double tax relief available (126) (42)

Total UK tax expense – –

Overseas:
Current tax expense at 28% (2007 – 29%) 261 200
Corporate tax expense 224 186
Tax on dividends remitted 37 14

Deferred tax expense: 61 55
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 49 55
Tax on dividends unremitted 12 –

Special items – UK and overseas: (109) 42
Utilisation of losses from prior years to offset deferred tax liabilityi (2) (9)
Exchange on current taxationii (19) 10
Exchange on deferred taxationii (69) 41
Change in tax rateiii (19) –

Actual tax charge 213 297

Tax charge excluding special items 322 255

Effective tax rate 27% 42%

Effective tax rate excluding special items 32% 31%
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7 Taxation (continued)
A reconciliation of the standard tax charge to the tax charge was as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2007
$m $m

Tax charge at standard tax rate 28% 218 29% 204
Overseas taxes on dividends remitted by subsidiary companies 5% 37 2% 14
Overseas taxes on dividends unremitted by subsidiary companies 2% 12 – –
Special items as defined above (14%) (109) 6% 42
Tax effect of impairment relating to Baobab shaft at Limpopo 6% 49 – –
Tax effect of impairment of available for sale financial assets – 5 – –
Tax effect of movements in the fair values of financial instruments – – 4% 31
Tax effect of other timing differences – 1 1% 6

Actual tax charge 27% 213 42% 297

The Group’s primary operations are based in South Africa. Therefore, the relevant standard tax rate for the Group was the South
African statutory tax rate of 28% (2007 – 29%). The secondary tax rate on dividends remitted by South African companies was 10.0%
(2007 – 12.5%).

Footnotes:
i The Group holds a number of available for sale financial assets which are marked to market. In the prior year the value of these investments increased

significantly resulting in the recognition of unrealised gains through the statement of recognised income and expense. This resulted in the recognition of an
associated deferred tax liability except to the extent that there were available losses which, in the opinion of the Directors, could be utilised to offset against
such gains. In the current year most of the investments decreased in value resulting in the unwind of the associated deferred tax balances. Losses below initial
carrying value have not created deferred tax assets because future profits arising in relevant statutory entities are not considered sufficiently certain.

ii Overseas tax charges are predominantly calculated based on Rand financial statements. As the Group’s functional currency is US Dollar this leads to a variety
of foreign exchange impacts being the retranslation of current and deferred tax balances and monetary assets, as well as other translation differences. The
Rand denominated deferred tax balance in US Dollars at 30 September 2008 is $373 million (30 September 2007 – $391 million).

iii The corporation tax rate changed to 28% for the current financial year (2007 – 29%). This resulted in a net release of deferred tax liabilities of $19 million. This
tax saving has been reported as special.

8 Earnings per share
Earnings per share have been calculated on the profit attributable to equity shareholders amounting to $455 million (2007 – $314 million)
using a weighted average number of 156,311,052 ordinary shares in issue (2007 – 153,097,437 ordinary shares).

Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted by dilutive outstanding
share options and shares issuable. In the prior year shares issuable on conversion of the convertible bonds were anti-dilutive and so
were excluded from diluted earnings per share in accordance with IAS 33 – Earnings Per Share.

2008 2007

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS 455 156,311,052 291.1 314 153,097,437 205.1
Share option schemes – 496,389 (0.9) – 1,324,642 (1.8)

Diluted EPS 455 156,807,441 290.2 314 154,422,079 203.3

2008 2007

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Underlying EPS 550 156,311,052 351.9 453 153,097,437 295.9
Share option schemes – 496,389 (1.2) – 1,324,642 (2.5)

Diluted Underlying EPS 550 156,807,441 350.7 453 154,422,079 293.4
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8 Earnings per share (continued)
Underlying earnings per share has been presented as the Directors consider it important to present the underlying results of the
business. Underlying earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders adjusted to exclude special items
(as defined in note 3) as follows:

2008 2007

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS 455 156,311,052 291.1 314 153,097,437 205.1
Special items (note 3) 95 – 60.8 139 – 90.8

Underlying EPS 550 156,311,052 351.9 453 153,097,437 295.9

Headline earnings and the resultant headline earnings per share are specific disclosures defined and required by the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange. These are calculated as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September

2008 2007
$m $m

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (IAS 33 earnings) 455 314
Less profit on sale of subsidiary (note 3) (2) –
Less profit on sale of available for sale financial assets – (2)
Add back impairment of assets (note 3) 193 5
Tax related to the above items 1 (1)

Headline earnings 647 316

2008 2007

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Headline EPS 647 156,311,052 413.9 316 153,097,437 206.4
Diluted EPS – 496,389 (1.3) – 1,324,642 (1.8)

Diluted Headline EPS 647 156,807,441 412.6 316 154,422,079 204.6

9 Dividends

2008 2007

$m Cents per share $m Cents per share

Prior year final dividend paid in the year 94 60.0 85 55.0
Interim dividend paid in the year 92 59.0 86 55.0

Total dividend paid in the year 186 119.0 171 110.0

Interim dividend paid in the year 92 59.0 86 55.0
Proposed final dividend for the year – 0.0 94 60.0

Total dividend in respect of the year 92 59.0 180 115.0
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10 Goodwill

2008 2007
$m $m

Cost:
As at 1 October 186 113
Additions – 73

As at 30 September 186 186

Impairment:
As at 1 October – –
Charge in the year 73 –

As at 30 September 73 –

NBV at 30 September 113 186

There are two cash generating units (CGUs) in the Group relevant for the purposes of evaluating goodwill. The Marikana CGU
operates as a single business and mines and processes substantially all of the ore produced by the Group. The Akanani CGU is
located in a separate geographic area and includes the Akanani asset acquired on the purchase of AfriOre Limited.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined using the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell.
In determining the recoverable amounts for the Marikana and Akanani CGUs the key assumptions have been set out in the

Group’s impairment policy (see note 1).
At 30 September 2008 goodwill is allocated as follows:

• $40 million is allocated to the Marikana CGU (2007 – $40 million). This arose on the acquisition of a further 9.11% of the principal
mining operations of the Group in 2004.

• $73 million ‘tax goodwill’ is allocated to the Akanani CGU (2007 – $73 million) as explained in note 33.

At 30 September 2007 $73 million of goodwill was allocated to the Marikana CGU which represented smelting synergies that
arose upon the acquisition of Messina Platinum Mines Limited. These synergies existed because the chemical composition of the ore
produced from Messina’s Baobab shaft allowed for increased yields from the processing facilities at Marikana. As explained in note 3
the Baobab shaft is not considered to be economically viable at present and an impairment was calculated on a value in use basis.
As a result this goodwill has been written off to the income statement.
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11 Intangible assets

2008 2007

Exploration Exploration
and Mineral and Mineral

evaluation rights Other Total evaluation rights Other Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost:
At 1 October 630 337 47 1,014 – 337 47 384
Additions 36 – – 36 19 – – 19
Acquisition (note 33) – – – – 611 – – 611

At 30 September 666 337 47 1,050 630 337 47 1,014

Amortisation:
At 1 October – 64 14 78 – 53 3 56
Charge for the year – 9 7 16 – 11 11 22
Impairment – – 7 7 – – – –

At 30 September – 73 28 101 – 64 14 78

Net book value:
At 30 September 666 264 19 949 630 273 33 936

The net book value of other intangible assets at 30 September 2008 represented:
• capitalised software development costs $19 million (2007 – $22 million);
• Messina concentrate off-take contract $nil (2007 – $11 million). During the year $4 million was depreciated (2007 – $4 million) and

$7 million was impaired at the year end following the impairment of the Baobab shaft as explained in note 10.

Additions to exploration and evaluation assets include $12 million of capitalised interest (2007 – $13 million).
The Group has exploration and evaluation assets of $666 million relating to the exploration operations at Akanani. $611 million

arose at acquisition in February 2007.
The Group has no indefinite life intangible assets other than goodwill (see note 10).
The Group’s approach to assessing the intangible assets, including exploration and evaluation assets, for impairment is set out in

the accounting policies note (see note 1).
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12 Property, plant and equipment

Capital work Leasehold Shafts and Other plant
in progress Short term underground Metallurgical Infrastructure and equipment Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost or deemed cost:
At 1 October 2007 310 1 975 503 312 77 2,178
Additions 226 – 105 7 35 16 389
Transfers (154) – 104 26 24 – –

At 30 September 2008 382 1 1,184 536 371 93 2,567

Depreciation:
At 1 October 2007 – – 243 134 113 15 505
Charge for the year – – 36 20 23 1 80
Impairment charge – – 71 – 18 – 89

At 30 September 2008 – – 350 154 154 16 674

Net book value:
At 30 September 2008 382 1 834 382 217 77 1,893

At 30 September 2007 310 1 732 369 199 62 1,673

Capital work Leasehold Shafts and Other plant
in progress Short term underground Metallurgical Infrastructure and equipment Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost or deemed cost:
At 1 October 2006 102 1 983 501 239 82 1,908
Additions 208 – 25 4 32 11 280
Transfers to assets held for sale – – – – – (10) (10)
Transfers – – (33) (2) 41 (6) –

At 30 September 2007 310 1 975 503 312 77 2,178

Depreciation:
At 1 October 2006 – – 222 115 84 24 445
Charge for the year – – 31 19 12 3 65
Transfers to assets held for sale – – – – – (5) (5)
Transfers – – (10) – 17 (7) –

At 30 September 2007 – – 243 134 113 15 505

Net book value:
At 30 September 2007 310 1 732 369 199 62 1,673

At 30 September 2006 102 1 761 386 155 58 1,463

Interest capitalised during 2008 amounted to $11 million (2007 – $10 million). In accordance with the Group accounting policies no
depreciation has been provided on surface mining land having a book value of $13 million (2007 – $13 million).

As explained in note 3, impairment reviews of the Baobab shaft at Limpopo operations have resulted in the impairment charges
to property, plant and equipment of $89 million. The remaining assets that relate to the Baobab shaft at Limpopo which have a
carrying value of $40 million have not been impaired because they can be used in the business.
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13 Associates and Joint Venture
The Group owns 23.56% of its associate, Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited which is incorporated in South Africa. The functional
currency of Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited is the South African Rand. As a result any foreign exchange translation gains or losses
on the net assets of the Company are recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense.

The Group also owns 42.5% of the Pandora joint venture whose operations are in South Africa. The Group equity accounts for
the joint venture as a jointly controlled entity.

2008 2007

Group Group
share of share of

net assets Goodwill Total net assets Goodwill Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Net book value at 1 October 125 6 131 107 6 113
Share of profits 27 – 27 18 – 18
Foreign exchange 5 – 5 – – –

Net book value at 30 September 157 6 163 125 6 131

Our share of the associate and joint venture net assets comprises the following:

2008 2007

Associate Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets 137 11 148 137 11 148
Current assets 6 44 50 21 30 51
Current liabilities (1) (12) (13) (28) (13) (41)
Non-current liabilities (25) (3) (28) (27) (6) (33)

Net Assets 117 40 157 103 22 125

Amounts recognised by the Group in respect of the associate and joint venture comprised:

2008 2007

Associate Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Share of net assets 117 40 157 103 22 125
Goodwill 6 – 6 6 – 6

123 40 163 109 22 131

Our share of the associate and joint venture profit comprises the following:

2008 2007

Associate Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue/Income 15 42 57 8 33 41
Expenses including taxation (6) (24) (30) (2) (21) (23)

Profit 9 18 27 6 12 18
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14 Financial assets

Available Other
for sale receivables Total

$m $m $m

At 1 October 2007 226 22 248
Additions 17 – 17
Disposals (1) – (1)
Movement in fair value (127) 1 (126)
Impairment loss (19) – (19)
Exchange differences – (4) (4)

At 30 September 2008 96 19 115

Available Other
for sale receivables Total

$m $m $m

At 1 October 2006 98 19 117
Additions 72 – 72
Disposals (51) – (51)
Movement in fair value 111 1 112
Impairment loss (5) – (5)
Exchange differences 1 2 3

At 30 September 2007 226 22 248

Available for sale financial assets are held at fair value using the market price where available. Where market price is not available the
Directors’ best estimates of market value are used.

Available for sale financial assets includes a 21% shareholding in Platmin Limited. This has not been treated as an associate as,
in the opinion of the Directors, the Group does not exert, or have the ability to exert, significant influence over the company.

Other receivables at 30 September 2008 represents loans advanced to fellow investors in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited. These
loans expire in between one and three years. The loans are held at fair value calculated using future cash flows discounted at the
South African prime interest rate.

2008 2007
$m $m

Listed investments 85 214

Listed investments include a 21% shareholding in Platmin Limited (2007 – 22%) which was listed on the AIM on 10 August 2006.
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15 Employee benefits
The overseas schemes are all defined contribution plans whilst in the UK there was both a defined contribution scheme and a defined
benefit scheme, the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme (LSS) which was settled during the year (see note 3). There were no accrued
obligations under defined contribution plans.

The total pension cost for the Group was $36 million (2007 – $33 million), $34 million of which related to overseas schemes
(2007 – $31 million).

The Lonmin Superannuation Scheme
On 11 July 2008 the Company and the trustees entered into an agreement to wind up the scheme which was valued historically
using the following major assumptions:

Discount rate 5.8% per annum (2007 – 5.8% per annum)
Inflation assumptions 3.4% per annum (2007 – 3.4% per annum)
Rate of increase in salaries n/a (2007 – n/a)
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.0-3.4% per annum (2007 – 3.0-3.4% per annum)
Contribution rate in the year 40.8% per annum (2007 – 40.8% per annum)
Expected future contribution rate n/a (2007 – n/a)

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due
to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.

For its UK pension arrangements the Group has, for the purpose of calculating its liabilities as at 11 July 2008 used PA 92 c2010
tables based on year of birth (as published by the Institute of Actuaries) for pre-retirement mortality (30 September 2007 – PA 92
c2010) and PA 92 c2020 for post-retirement mortality (30 September 2007 – PA 92 c2020).

The fair value of the scheme’s assets are detailed in the table below:

2008 2007
Expected return Expected return

% $m % $m

Insurance policies – – 5.8 63
Equities – – n/a –
Bonds – – 5.0 97

Total market value of assets – 160
Unrecognised assets – (25)

Value of plan assets – 135
Fair value of scheme liabilities – (135)

Net pension asset – –

There were no material changes to the value of plan assets and obligations between 30 September 2007 and the date of settlement.

An analysis of the amounts that have been charged to operating profit is as follows:
2008 2007
$m $m

Curtailment gain – 1
Cost of settlement 9 –

Total operating charge 9 1

An analysis of the amounts that have been charged to interest is as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Expected return on pension scheme assets – 8
Interest on pension scheme liabilities – (7)

Net return – 1

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense is
a loss of $14 million (2007 – $14 million).
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15 Employee benefits (continued)
An analysis of the amounts that have been recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE) is
as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets – (3)
Movement on unrecognised assets – (20)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities
(increase to the discount rate) – 12

Actuarial loss recognised in the SORIE – (11)

When setting the overall expected rate of return on plan assets, historical markets are studied and long-term historical relationships
between equities and bonds are preserved. This is consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with
higher volatility generate a greater return over time. Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before
expected return assumptions are determined for each asset class. The overall expected return is established with proper
consideration of diversification and rebalancing. Peer data and historical returns are reviewed to check they are reasonable
and appropriate.

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

$m

Value of plan assets at 1 October 2006 142
Expected return on assets 8
Actuarial loss (3)
Employer contribution 3
Exchange gain 10
Benefits paid and expenses (5)
Unrecognised assets (20)

Value of plan assets at 30 September 2007 135
Settlement (135)

Value of plan assets at 30 September 2008 –

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

$m

Defined benefit obligations at 30 September 2006 136
Interest cost 7
Exchange loss 10
Actuarial gain (11)
Curtailment gain (1)
Benefits paid (6)

Defined benefit obligations at 30 September 2007 135
Settlement (135)

Defined benefit obligations at 30 September 2008 –

An analysis of the history of experience gains and losses is as follows:

2008 2007 2006
$m $m $m

Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets – (3) 2
Experience gains on scheme liabilities – – 1
Total amount recognised in SORIE – (11) (6)
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15 Employee benefits (continued)
Non-current liabilities
The Group runs a number of employee benefit share scheme plans. The balances held on the balance sheet as employee benefits at
the year end were as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Cash settled share options (13) (16)
Social security on share options (8) (8)

(21) (24)

16 Inventories

2008 2007
$m $m

Raw materials and consumables 36 31
Work in progress 276 154
Finished goods 7 1

319 186

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to $1,041 million (2007 – $952 million).

17 Trade and other receivables

2008 2007
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 249 287
Other receivables 74 47
Prepayments and accrued income 3 4

326 338

18 Assets held for sale

2008 2007
$m $m

At 1 October 7 6
Transfer from property, plant and equipment – 5
Disposals (1) (4)

At 30 September 6 7

Assets held for sale represent houses the Group is selling to employees, within twelve months of the balance sheet date, to
encourage home ownership. These assets are held in the Platinum business segment and the South African geographical region.
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19 Trade and other payables

2008 2007
$m $m

Trade payables 149 104
Accruals 98 128
Indirect taxation and social security 4 3
Other payables 95 51

346 286

20 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2008 2007
$m $m

Short-term loans:
Bank loans – unsecured – 237
Long-term loans:
Bank loans – unsecured 529 359

529 596

The maturity profile of interest bearing loans and borrowings is disclosed in note 22c.

21 Derivative financial instruments

2008 2007
Cash flow hedges $m $m

Derivative financial instruments (asset) 20 8

The Group does not undertake trading activity in financial instruments. Forward sales may be undertaken where the Board
determines that it is in the Group’s interests to hedge a proportion of future cash flows as they mitigate exposure to future price
fluctuations. For both 2008 and 2007 such forward sales contracts have only been made to hedge the prices of nickel and copper
by-products and such contracts are typically settled within one year.
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22 Financial risk management
For the narrative policies regarding financial risk management refer to the Financial Review on pages 12 to 15.

22a Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2008 2007
$m $m

Non-current assets:
Other receivables 19 22

Current assets:
Trade receivables 249 287
Other receivables 74 47
Derivative financial instruments 20 8
Cash and cash equivalents 226 222

588 586

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic location was:

2008 2007
$m $m

The Americas 123 132
Asia 58 49
Europe 28 47
South Africa 40 59

249 287

22b Credit risk – Trade receivables
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was as follows:

2008 2007

Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Not past due 246 – 246 254 – 254
Past due 0-30 days – – – 17 – 17
Past due 31-60 days – – – 5 – 5
Past due 61-90 days 13 10 3 11 – 11

259 10 249 287 – 287

The movement in the provision in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Opening balance at 1 October – –
New provision recognisedi 10 –

Closing balance at 30 September 10 –
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22 Financial risk management (continued)
22b Credit risk – Trade receivables (continued)

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date that are past their due date and have not been provided for was as follows:

2008 2007
$m $m

Less than 30 days past due – 17
Between 31 and 60 days past due – 5
Between 61 and 90 days past due 3 11

3 33

22c Liquidity risk – Maturity of financial liabilities
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting
agreements

Carrying Contractual < 1 1 to 2 2 to 5 > 5
amount cash flows year years years years

30 September 2008 $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Unsecured bank loans 529 (577) (17) (286) (274) –
Trade and other payables 346 (346) (346) – – –

Carrying Contractual < 1 1 to 2 2 to 5 > 5
amount cash flows year years years years

30 September 2007 $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Unsecured bank loans 596 (664) (260) (73) (222) (109)
Trade and other payables 286 (286) (286) – – –
Bank overdraft 1 (1) (1) – – –
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22 Financial risk management (continued)
22d Currency exposures

Lonmin’s operations are based predominantly in South Africa with the entire income stream arising in US Dollars. Cash held in
South Africa is mostly in US Dollars and is normally remitted on a regular basis to the UK. When short-term working capital
facilities are required in South Africa these are in US Dollars or South African Rand as appropriate.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the
functional currency. Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of such assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement.

2008 2007

SA rand Sterling Euro Total SA rand Sterling Euro Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets:
Other receivables 19 – – 19 22 – – 22

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 40 2 – 42 59 12 – 71
Cash and cash equivalents 34 – – 34 11 4 1 16
Tax recoverable 5 – – 5 3 – – 3

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (262) (19) – (281) (225) (14) – (239)
Tax payable (55) – – (55) (40) – – (40)

(219) (17) – (236) (170) 2 1 (167)

22e Interest rate risk
Based on contracted maturities the following amounts are exposed to interest rate risk over the future as shown below:

Weighted average
interest rate in 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

% $m $m $m $m

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.3 226 – – –

Liabilities
Loansi 4.7 529 300 195 105

Non-interest bearing At floating interest rates

2008 2007 2008 2007
$m $m $m $m

Financial assets
US Dollar 400 501 192 206
SA Rand 59 81 34 11
Sterling 2 12 – 4
Euro – – – 1

461 594 226 222
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22 Financial risk management (continued)
22e Interest rate risk (continued)

2008 2007
$m $m

The financial assets of the Group comprised:
Trade and other receivables 326 338
Cash and short-term deposits 226 222
Loans receivable 19 22
Available for sale financial assets 96 226
Derivative financial instruments 20 8

687 816

Non-interest bearing At floating interest rates

2008 2007 2008 2007
$m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities:
US Dollar 65 47 529 597
SA Rand 262 225 – –
Sterling 19 14 – –

346 286 529 597

2008 2007
$m $m

The financial liabilities of the Group comprised:
Trade and other payables 346 286
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 529 596
Overdraft – 1

875 883

Footnotes:
i Figures are based on facilities outstanding at the balance sheet date.
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22 Financial risk management (continued)
22f Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

2008 2007

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

$m $m $m $m

Available for sale financial assets 96 96 226 226
Other non-current receivables 19 19 22 22
Trade and other receivables 326 326 338 338
Cash and cash equivalents 226 226 222 222
Derivative financial instruments 20 20 8 8
Bank overdraft – – (1) (1)
Trade and other payables (346) (346) (286) (286)
Unsecured bank loans (529) (529) (596) (596)

(188) (188) (67) (67)

Available for sale financial assets and derivative financial instruments are marked to market.
Other non-current receivables are carried at fair value as described in note 14.
For bank overdraft and cash and cash equivalents the carrying value is equal to fair value.
For trade and other receivables and trade and other payables these are typically due within one month and therefore the carrying

amount is fair value.
For unsecured bank loans there is considered to be no material difference between the carrying amount and fair value.

23 Deferred tax assets / (liabilities)

Deferred Deferred Net Deferred Deferred Net
tax assets tax liabilities balance tax assets tax liabilities balance

2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Exploration and evaluation assets – (167) (167) – (173) (173)
Property, plant and equipment – (393) (393) – (414) (414)
Provisions 31 – 31 19 – 19
Deferred tax on unrecognised gains
on available for sale financial assets – – – – (21) (21)
Deferred tax on dividends payable – (12) (12) – – –
Deferred tax on derivatives – (5) (5) – (2) (2)
Share-based payments 6 – 6 6 – 6

37 (577) (540) 25 (610) (585)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

At 1
Recognised in income

At 30
October Exchange Special Recognised September
2007 movements items Underlying in equity Acquisitions 2008
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Exploration and evaluation assets (173) – 6 – – – (167)
Property, plant and equipment (414) 71 14 (64) – – (393)
Provisions 19 (2) (1) 15 – – 31
Deferred tax on unrecognised gains
on available for sale financial assets (21) – 2 – 19 – –
Deferred tax on dividends payable – – – (12) – – (12)
Cash flow hedges (2) – – – (3) – (5)
Share-based payments 6 – – – – – 6

(585) 69 21 (61) 16 – (540)
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23 Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (continued)
Movement in temporary differences during the year (continued)

At 1
Recognised in income

At 30
October Exchange Special Recognised September
2006 movements items Underlying in equity Acquisitions 2007
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Exploration and evaluation assets – – – – – (173) (173)
Property, plant and equipment (319) (43) – (57) 5 – (414)
Provisions 15 2 – 2 – – 19
Deferred tax on unrealised gains
on available for sale financial assets – – 9 – (30) – (21)
Cash flow hedges – – – – (2) – (2)
Share-based payments 10 – – – (4) – 6

(294) (41) 9 (55) (31) (173) (585)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets / (liabilities)
Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2008 2007

Unrecognised Unrecognised
Timing deferred tax Timing deferred tax

differences assets differences assets
$m $m $m $m

Capital losses carried forward 779 215 893 250
Trading and other losses carried forward 146 41 111 31
Unredeemed capital expenditure 211 59 268 75
Share-based payments 21 6 46 13
Unremitted profits of overseas subsidiaries (1,418) (142) (1,030) (129)

(261) 179 288 240

The timing differences above, except for the unremitted profits from overseas subsidiaries, are subject to the local tax rate in the
United Kingdom at 28% (2007 – 30%), South Africa at 28% (2007 – 29%) and Canada at 18% (2007 – 18%). The unrecognised
deferred tax assets generated by the timing difference relating to unremitted profits of overseas subsidiaries has been calculated
using the South African secondary tax rate of 10.0% (2007 – 12.5%).

At 30 September 2008, the Group had an amount of $126 million (2007 – $144 million) of surplus Advanced Corporation Tax
(ACT) available, subject to certain restrictions, for set-off against future United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities. ‘Shadow ACT’
amounted to $286 million (2007 – $280 million) and must be set-off prior to the utilisation of surplus ACT.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the operating losses and the capital losses where it is not considered
more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of any of the underlying differences can be
deducted.

Deferred tax is provided on unremitted foreign profits when it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally retained earnings held in South Africa that have arisen in prior years are retained there in order to fund
capital expenditure requirements.
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24 Provisions

2008 2007
$m $m

At 1 October 46 39
Charge for the year 8 –
Unwinding of discount 4 3
Exchange differences (8) 4

At 30 September 50 46

Provisions represent site rehabilitation liabilities with the cash flows occurring in line with the environmental impact of the operations.

25 Contingent liabilities

2008 2007
$m $m

Third party guaranteesi 7 8
Indemnitiesii 74 95
Preference share capital put optionsiii 18 15
Vantage Capital Investmentsiv 18 19
Outstanding legal claims 2 –

Contingent liabilities 119 137

Footnotes:
i Third party guarantees relate to guarantees provided by the Group in connection with the sale of certain subsidiaries in 1996, 1997 and 1998 for which

amounts have been reasonably estimated but the liabilities are not probable and therefore the Group has not provided for such amounts in the accounts.

ii Indemnities represent the vendor financing indemnity given by Lonmin following the purchase of the additional 9.11% in Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL) and
Western Platinum Limited (WPL) and the investment in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited (Incwala). Lonmin agreed to indemnify Impala Platinum Holdings
Limited (Impala) against any non-payment on the relevant due date of any principal amount owing to Impala by any HDSA (historically disadvantaged South
African) investor in relation to loans made by Impala to HDSA investors for their purchase of shares in EPL and WPL. The value of this indemnity is the US
Dollar equivalent of R615 million ($74 million of which $53 million expires on 30 September 2009 and $21 million expires on 30 September 2011). A counter-
indemnity has been given by each HDSA investor which is secured on that HDSA investor’s shares in Incwala.

iii Various preference share capital put option agreements were entered into by Lonmin with a number of banks who subscribed for preference shares in HDSAs
investing in Incwala. These options, which amount to the US Dollar equivalent of R151 million ($18 million), can be put upon Lonmin by the banks in the event
that the HDSAs default on payment. A counter-indemnity has been given by each HDSA investor which is secured on that HDSA investor’s shares in Incwala.

iv Vantage Capital Investments:

1) In 2006, pursuant to a reorganisation of the HDSA shareholdings in Incwala, Lonmin Plc granted Standard Chartered Bank Johannesburg Branch a put
option in respect of 96 preference shares in Vantage Capital Investments (Pty) Ltd. During the year ended 30 September 2007 the bank sold 48 of these
put options to Thelo Incwala Investments (Pty) Limited (Thelo). The value of the put option granted by Lonmin Plc outstanding at 30 September 2008 was
the US Dollar equivalent of R105 million ($13 million), (2007 – $13 million).

2) The Lonmin Employee Masakane Trust (LEMT) has a 25% shareholding in Thelo. Lonmin Plc has provided a guarantee to Sanlam Capital Markets
Limited, on behalf of LEMT, over their 25% share of the Thelo funding to acquire the put option in respect of 48 preference shares in Vantage Capital.
The value of this guarantee at 30 September 2008 was the US Dollar equivalent of R39 million ($5 million), (2007 – $6 million).



2008 Annual Report and Accounts / Lonmin Plc

www.lonmin.com

99Notes to the accounts

26 Called up share capital and share premium account

Number $m

Ordinary shares of $1 each:
Authorised – 2008 and 2007 252,735,000 253
Issued and fully paid – 2008 156,383,233 156
Issued and fully paid – 2007 156,151,895 156

Deferred shares of £1 each:
Authorised, issued and fully paid – 2008 and 2007 50,000 –

Paid up Share
Issued and fully paid amount premium

Number $m $m

At 1 October 2007:
Ordinary shares of $1 each 156,151,895 156 299
The issue of shares pursuant to:
(i) exercises under the Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme 202,880 – 6
(ii) exercises under the Lonmin Share Option Scheme 8,508 – –
(iii) exercises under the Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994 3,024 – –
(iv) exercises under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 16,926 – –

At 30 September 2008:
Ordinary shares of $1 each 156,383,233 156 305

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s shares together with other information required by Section 992 of the
Companies Act 1985 can be found in the Directors’ Report on page 26 of this document.
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27 Share plans
At 30 September 2008, the following options and awards were outstanding:

Weighted
average Weighted Weighted
exercise average average
price of remaining fair value

Number outstanding contracted of options
of shares options (pence) life (years) granted (£)

Share Plans

Executive Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 30.09.07 523,077 1,085.15 – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Exercised during the year 197,188 1,092.87 – –
Lapsed during the year 76,153 1,138.42 – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 249,736 1,064.51 4.26 2.07
Exercisable at the end of the year 249,736 1,064.51 – –

Lonmin Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 30.09.07 27,034 1,150.00 – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Exercised during the year 14,200 1,150.00 – –
Lapsed during the year – – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 12,834 1,150.00 3.75 2.07
Exercisable at the end of the year 12,834 1,150.00 – –

Savings Related Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 30.09.07 24,973 833.95 – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Exercised during the year 3,024 790.57 – –
Lapsed during the year 2,253 950.39 – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 19,696 827.30 1.36 3.18
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Long Term Incentive Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.07 448,098 – – –
Granted during the year 108,059 – – –
Exercised during the year 45,200 – – –
Lapsed during the year 10,985 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 499,972 – 1.56 20.26
Exercisable at the end of the year 131,384 – – –

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.07 109,872 – – –
Granted during the year 20,662 – – –
Exercised during the year 35,966 – – –
Lapsed during the year 21,375 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 73,193 – 1.18 19.88
Exercisable at the end of the year 25,877 – – –

Co Investment Plan (Matched Award)
Outstanding at 30.09.07 126,360 – – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Rolled over during the year – – – –
Vested during the year – – – –
Lapsed during the year – – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 126,360 – 1.63 26.69
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –
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27 Share plans (continued)
Weighted
average Weighted Weighted
exercise average average
price of remaining fair value

Number outstanding contracted of options
of shares options (pence) life (years) granted (£)

Cash Settled Plans

Stay & Prosper Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.07 780,953 – – –
Granted during the year 866,340 – – –
Exercised during the year 120,751 – – –
Lapsed during the year 284,728 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 1,241,814 – 2.32 21.60
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Scarce Skills Retention Plan
Outstanding at 30.09.07 109,000 – – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Exercised during the year – – – –
Lapsed during the year 27,000 – – –
Outstanding at 30.09.08 82,000 – 0.79 22.74
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Further information about each of the above plans including the performance conditions can be found in the Remuneration
Committee Report in pages 37 to 54.

Lonmin Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”)
At 30 September 2008 the Trust held 103,661 shares (beneficially and as bare trustee) (2007 – 183,025 shares). The market value of
these shares at the year end was $2 million (2007 – $7 million). Where not waived, dividends payable on these shares are held by the
Trust on behalf of the participants. Each of the executive Directors are deemed to have a beneficial interest, to the extent disclosed in
the table of Directors’ share interest, and non-beneficial interest in the balance.

Details of options granted in period
The fair value of both equity-settled and cash-settled options granted in the period have been measured using the weighted average
inputs below and the following valuation models:

SAYE Black-Scholes
LTIP Monte Carlo
DABP Monte Carlo
Stay and Prosper Monte Carlo
Scarce Skills Black-Scholes

2008 2007

Range of share price at date of grant (£) 23.92 – 34.08 29.15 – 38.75
Exercise price (£) – –
Expected option life (years) 3 3
Volatility 23 – 65% 33 – 42%
Dividend yield 2.7% 1.5%
Risk free interest rate 2.9 – 3.0% 4.7 – 5.5%

Volatility was calculated with reference to the Group’s historic share price volatility up to the grant date. The number of years of
historic data used is equal to the term of each option.

The liability in respect of the cash-settled elements of the schemes shown above and reported within non-current employee
benefits at 30 September 2008 is $13 million (2007 – $16 million).
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28 Total equity

Equity shareholders’ funds

Called Share
up share premium Other Retained Minority Total
capital account reserves earnings Total interests equity

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2007 156 299 96 1,417 1,968 392 2,360
Total recognised income and expense – – 4 348 352 120 472
Dividends – – – (186) (186) (65) (251)
Share-based payments – – – 7 7 – 7
Shares issued on exercise of share optionsi – 6 – – 6 – 6

At 30 September 2008 156 305 100 1,586 2,147 447 2,594

At 1 October 2006 143 26 84 836 1,089 223 1,312
Total recognised income and expense – – 12 380 392 96 488
Dividends – – – (171) (171) (41) (212)
Conversion of the convertible bondsii 11 205 – – 216 – 216
Embedded derivative movementiii – – – 371 371 – 371
Deferred tax on share-based payments – – – (3) (3) (1) (4)
Other – – – 4 4 2 6
Shares issued on exercise of share optionsi 1 32 – – 33 – 33
Shares issued under the IFC
option agreementiv 1 36 – – 37 – 37
Minority interest arising on
business acquisition – – – – – 113 113

At 30 September 2007 156 299 96 1,417 1,968 392 2,360

Footnotes:
i During the year 231,338 share options were exercised (2007 – 1,876,433) on which $6 million of cash was received (2007 – $33 million).

ii In November 2006 the Company issued notice regarding the redemption of all outstanding convertible bonds. Conversion of the convertible bonds resulted in
the issuance of 10,576,900 shares with an associated nominal share capital of $11 million and the recognition of $205 million share premium.

iii As explained in note 3, the convertible bonds contained an embedded derivative, movements in the fair value of which were recognised through the income
statement. On conversion of the convertible bonds the embedded derivative was extinguished with all cumulative prior movements in fair value which had
been taken through the income statement reversing in equity.

iv During the prior year 586,730 share options were exercised under the International Finance Corporation option agreement. As the shares were issued at a
discount only $35 million of cash was received.

Other reserves represent the capital redemption reserve of $88 million (2007 – $88 million) and a $12 million hedging reserve net of
deferred tax (2007 – $8 million).

Minority interests represent an 18% shareholding in Eastern Platinum Limited, Western Platinum Limited and Messina Limited
throughout the year 2008 and 2007 and, from 1 February 2007, a 26% shareholding in Akanani Mining (Pty) Limited.
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29 Related party transactions
The Group’s related party transactions are summarised below:

2008 2007
$m $m

Purchases from joint venture – Pandora 99 78
Amounts due to joint venture – Pandora 5 12
Royalties payable to Bapo tribei 14 8
Amounts due to Bapo tribe 11 11
Subscription paid to the Platinum Jewellery Development Associationii 12 13
Amounts due from Historically Disadvantaged South African investors in Incwala 19 24

All related party transactions are priced on an arm’s length basis.

Footnotes:
i The Bapo ba Mogale tribe own the land on which the Eastern Platinum mine is based.

ii The subscription paid by Lonmin is material to the Platinum Jewellery Development Association.

30 Capital commitments

2008 2007
$m $m

Contracted for but not yet provided 73 98

31 Operating and finance leases
The full aggregate lease payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below:

Land and buildings

2008 2007
$m $m

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 1 1
Between one and five years 2 3

3 4
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32 Net debt as defined by the Group

As at Foreign exchange As at
1 October Subsidiary and non cash 30 September

2007 acquired Cash flow movements 2008
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents 222 – 2 2 226
Overdrafts (1) – 1 – –

221 – 3 2 226
Current borrowings (237) – 237 – –
Non-current borrowings (359) – (170) – (529)

Net debt as defined by the Group (375) – 70 2 (303)

As at Foreign exchange As at
1 October Subsidiary and non cash 30 September

2006 acquired Cash flow movements 2007
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents 61 20 134 7 222
Overdrafts (18) – 17 – (1)

43 20 151 7 221
Current borrowings – – (237) – (237)
Non-current borrowings (288) – (71) – (359)
Convertible bonds (213) – – 213 –

Net debt as defined by the Group (458) 20 (157) 220 (375)

Net debt as defined by the Group comprises cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts repayable on demand, interest bearing
loans and borrowings and convertible bonds.

On 15 November 2006 Lonmin Plc gave notice to force redemption of all outstanding convertible bonds at their principal amount.
This led to the issuance of 10,576,900 shares and a reduction in net debt as defined by the Group of $213 million.
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33 Business combinations
On 26 January 2007 the Group acquired 94% of AfriOre Limited. This increased to 96.5% on 8 February 2007 and to 100% on
16 February 2007. AfriOre’s primary asset is a 74% stake in Akanani Mining (Pty) Limited which owns the Akanani PGM deposit.
The acquisition was accounted for with an effective date of 1 February 2007 using the acquisition method of accounting. Since its
acquisition AfriOre has only incurred exploration and evaluation expenditure which has been capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy.

The assets and liabilities of AfriOre Limited and the fair values attributed to these were as follows:

Accounting
Book value policy Fair value Fair value

on acquisition adjustment adjustment 2007
$m $m $m $m

Intangible assets 13 (13) 611 611
Trade and other payables (5) – – (5)
Cash and cash equivalents 20 – – 20
Deferred tax liability – – (173) (173)

Total assets of acquired entity 28 (13) 438 453
Minority interest (113)

Fair value of assets acquired 340
Goodwill 73

Consideration paid 413

The fair value exercise recognised the assets of the AfriOre Limited Group at the fair value they would carry if they held tax benefits.
This resulted in the need to recognise a deferred tax liability of $173 million which in turn caused the creation of a goodwill balance
of $73 million. The total consideration paid for the acquisition of AfriOre Limited amounted to $413 million comprising cash
consideration of $409 million, and expenses on the transaction of $4 million, all paid in the period. Cash acquired with the entity
amounted to $20 million resulting in net consideration paid of $393 million. There have been no new business combinations in the
12 months to 30 September 2008.

34 Principal Group companies
The following companies have been consolidated in the Group accounts and materially contributed to the assets and/or results of the
Group and are classified according to their main activity.

Interest in
ordinary

Country of share capital
Company incorporation % Principal activities

Eastern Platinum Ltd. South Africa 82.0 Subsidiary Platinum mining
Western Platinum Ltd. South Africa 82.0 Subsidiary Platinum mining and refining
Messina Platinum Mines Ltd South Africa 82.0 Subsidiary Platinum mining
Akanani Mining (Pty) Limited South Africa 74.0 Subsidiary Mineral exploration

A full list of Group companies will be included in the annual return registered with Companies House.
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106 Lonmin Plc Company balance sheet
as at 30 September

2008 2007
Note $m $m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 36 1 1
Investments: 1,452 1,467
Shares in subsidiary undertakings 37 1,427 1,438
Other investments 38 25 29

Total fixed assets 1,453 1,468

Current assets
Debtors 39 403 371
Cash at bank and in hand 15 12

Total current assets 418 383

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 40 (721) (966)

Net current liabilities (303) (583)

Total assets less current liabilities 1,150 885

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 40 (243) (67)
Bank loans and overdrafts (230) (59)
Other creditors (13) (8)

Net assets 907 818

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 41 156 156
Share premium account 41 305 299
Capital redemption reserve 41 88 88
Profit and loss account 41 358 275

Total shareholders’ funds (equity) 41 907 818

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 November 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir John Craven Chairman

Alan Ferguson Chief Financial Officer
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Notes to the Company accounts

35 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The Lonmin Plc (the Company) balance sheet and related notes have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom generally
accepted accounting practice (UK GAAP) and in accordance with United Kingdom company law. The financial information has been
prepared on a historic cost basis as modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments. The accounts have been prepared on
a going concern basis. The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are
considered material in relation to the Company’s financial statements.

The Company’s functional currency is the US Dollar. The reporting currency is also the US Dollar.
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in Section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 from presenting its

own profit and loss account.

Changes in accounting policies
Financial Reporting Standard 29 Financial Instruments – Disclosures (FRS 29) is applicable to the Company for the year ended
30 September 2008. The Company is exempt from presenting FRS 29 disclosures as full equivalent disclosures are presented on a
Group basis within the consolidated financial statements.

Fixed Asset Investments
Investments are held at fair value. Where no market value is available, the carrying value of net assets less impairment is used.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost or valuation, which are not updated under the transitional arrangements of FRS 15 –
Tangible Fixed Assets, less depreciation. Depreciation on fixed assets is provided on a straight line basis. Assets are depreciated over
their estimated useful economic lives to residual value. Depreciation rates for the principal assets of the Company are as follows:

Method Rate

Short term leasehold property Straight line Over the life of the lease (3 – 5 years)
Fixtures and Fittings Straight line 10% – 33% per annum (3 – 10 years)

Tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the net present
value of expected future cash flows of the relevant income generating unit or disposal value if higher in accordance with FRS 11.

Financial instruments
The Company’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, investments, cash and short-term deposits.

Bank loans were initially recorded at fair value, and have subsequently been recorded at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Investment in Subsidiaries
The Company’s investment in shares in group companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment.

The principal subsidiaries of the Company are LSA (UK) Limited and AfriOre Limited. LSA (UK) Limited holds the investments in
Western Platinum Limited, Eastern Platinum Limited, and Messina Platinum Mines Limited. AfriOre Limited holds the investment in
Akanani (Pty) Limited. For more information see note 34 to the Group financial statements.

Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in borrowings. Operating
lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Current Tax
The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes account of the taxation deferred because of timing differences
between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided for on timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date on a non-
discounted basis. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is more likely than not there will be suitable taxable
profits from which future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits
The Company operates two types of pension schemes. Firstly, there is a defined benefit retirement scheme for which the amount
recognised in the balance sheet in respect of net assets or liabilities represents the present value of the obligations offset by the fair
value of the plan assets. The cost of providing for the scheme is charged to the income statement over the periods relating to the
employees’ service. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside
of the profit and loss account in retained earnings and presented in the reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
(note 41). This scheme has been closed to new entrants with effect from 6 April 2006.

For employees who do not participate in the above scheme the Company makes payments in respect of pensions directly to the
employee. These employees have the option to invest in a defined contribution scheme which the Group has set up or they may
make their own arrangements.
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35 Accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments
From the grant date the fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to
payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are
recognised as a personnel expense in the income statement.

The fair value of each option or share appreciation right is determined using either a Black-Scholes option pricing model or a
Monte Carlo projection model, depending on the type of the award. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the fair
value of the share. Non-market related performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of
awards expected to vest; the final charge made reflects the numbers actually vested on the basis that non-market conditions are met.

Share options and own shares held
In accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 25 – National Insurance Contributions on Share Option Gains (UITF 25) the
Company provides in full for the employer’s national insurance liability estimated to arise on the future exercise of share options
granted.

As required under Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 38 – Accounting for ESOP Trusts (UITF 38) the cost to the Company of own
shares held is shown as a deduction from shareholders funds within the profit and loss account. Consideration paid or received for
the purchase or sale of the Company’s own shares in the ESOP trust is shown separately in the reconciliation of movements in
shareholders’ funds.

Dividend reinvestment program
Under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan, shareholders can elect for the whole of their cash dividends to be reinvested in
Lonmin Plc shares which are purchased on their behalf in the market. All cash dividends are paid to the Registrars who use the
dividends of participants in the plan to fund these purchases. Accordingly, no new shares are issued, dividends are paid and
accounted for in the normal way, and there are no special accounting requirements for the programme.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group entities using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historic rate. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit and loss, except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available for sale equity instruments, or qualifying cash hedges, which are recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Research and development
Research expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.

Development expenditure which meets the recognition criteria for an intangible asset under IAS 38 – Intangible Assets, is
capitalised and then amortised over the useful economic life of the developed asset, otherwise it is charged to the profit and loss
account as incurred. Borrowing costs related to the development of qualifying assets are capitalised. Other development expenditure
is recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses
where it can be demonstrated that the expenditure will result in completion of an asset available for use or sale which will result in
future economic benefit arising for the Group.
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36 Tangible fixed assets

Fixtures and
fittings

$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2007 and 30 September 2008 3

Depreciation:
At 1 October 2007 and 30 September 2008 2

Net book value:
At 1 October 2007 and 30 September 2008 1

37 Investments in subsidiary undertakings

$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2007 1,527
Additions 1

At 30 September 2008 1,528

Provisions:
At 1 October 2007 89
Increase 12

At 30 September 2008 101

Net book value:
At 30 September 2008 1,427

At 1 October 2007 1,438

$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2006 1,080
Additions 447

At 30 September 2007 1,527

Provisions:
At 1 October 2006 81
Increase 8

At 30 September 2007 89

Net book value:
At 30 September 2007 1,438

At 1 October 2006 999
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38 Fixed asset investments

Investments Loans receivable Total
$m $m $m

At 1 October 2007 7 22 29
Additions 17 – 17
Movement in fair value (5) 1 (4)
Exchange loss – (4) (4)
Impairment (13) – (13)

At 30 September 2008 6 19 25

Investments Loans receivable Total
$m $m $m

At 1 October 2006 8 19 27
Movement in fair value 3 1 4
Exchange gains 1 2 3
Impairment (5) – (5)

At 30 September 2007 7 22 29

The investment in Platmin has been marked to market and has fallen below original acquisition cost resulting in a $13 million
impairment charge to the profit and loss account. In the prior year the company carried out a review of non-mining investments
resulting in a $5 million impairment charge to the profit and loss account.

2008 2007
$m $m

Listed investments 6 5

The listed investment is in Platmin Limited which was listed on the Alternative Investment Market on 10 August 2006.

39 Debtors

2008 2007
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary companies 397 357
Other debtors 5 13
Prepayments and accrued income 1 1

403 371
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40 Creditors

2008 2007
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts due to subsidiary companies 697 700
Unsecured bank loans and overdrafts – 237
Other creditors 5 10
Accruals and deferred income 19 14
Tax payable – 5

721 966

2008 2007
$m $m

Amounts falling due within 1 to 2 years:
Unsecured bank loans 230 59

Amounts falling due within 2 to 5 years:
Other creditors 13 8

243 67

Details of the loans are shown in note 20 to the Group accounts.
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41 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds

Issued Share Capital
share premium redemption Profit and
capital account reserve loss account Total

$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2007 156 299 88 275 818
Profit for the financial year – – – 267 267
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets – – – (5) (5)
Share-based payments – – – 7 7
Shares issued on exercise of share optionsi – 6 – – 6
Dividends – – – (186) (186)

At 30 September 2008 156 305 88 358 907

Issued Share Capital
share premium redemption Profit and
capital account reserve loss account Total

$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2006 143 26 88 231 488
Loss for the financial year – – – (161) (161)
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets – – – 3 3
Conversion of the convertible bondsii 11 205 – – 216
Embedded derivative movementiii – – – 371 371
Share-based payments – – – 13 13
Actuarial losses on post retirement benefit plan – – – (11) (11)
Shares issued on exercise of share options 1 32 – – 33
Shares issued under the IFC option agreementiv 1 36 – – 37
Dividends – – – (171) (171)

At 30 September 2007 156 299 88 275 818

Footnotes:
i During the year 231,338 share options were exercised (2007 – 1,876,433) on which $6 million of cash was received (2007 – $33 million).

ii In November 2006 the Company issued notice regarding the redemption of all outstanding convertible bonds. Conversion of the convertible bonds resulted in
the issuance of 10,576,900 shares with an associated nominal share capital of $11 million and the recognition of $205 million share premium.

iii As explained in note 3 of the Group accounts, the convertible bonds contained an embedded derivative, movements in the fair value of which were
recognised through the profit and loss account. On conversion of the convertible bonds the embedded derivative was extinguished with all cumulative prior
movements in fair value which had been taken through the profit and loss account reversing in equity.

iv During the prior year 586,730 share options were exercised under the International Finance Corporation option agreement. As the shares were issued at a
discount only $35 million of cash was received.

The audit fee in respect of the parent company was $0.3 million (2007 – $0.2 million). Further details can be found in note 4 to the
Group accounts.

The profit of the Company for the 2008 financial year amounted to $267 million (2007 – loss of $161 million).
Further details of called up share capital and share premium can be found in note 26 to the Group accounts.
Details of shares held in the employee share ownership plan (ESOP) can be found in note 27 to the Group accounts.
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42 Pensions
The movements in the scheme surplus during the year was as follows:

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$m $m $m $m $m

Surplus in scheme at the beginning of the year – 6 12 5 7
Movement in the year:
Current service cost – – (1) (1) (1)
Curtailment – 1 – – –
Contributions – 3 1 1 1
Return on investment – 8 – – –
Interest – (7) 2 1 1
Actuarial loss – (11) (6) 6 (3)
Translation exchange – – (2) – –

Surplus in scheme at the end of the year – – 6 12 5

See note 15 for further disclosures on the Company pension scheme.

43 Other information
Employees
The average number of employees of the Company at 30 September 2008 was 39 (2007 – 38). Total staff costs, excluding charges
for share options, were $19 million (2007 – $14 million).

The staff costs are made up of wages and salaries $12 million (2007 – $9 million), social security costs $2 million (2007 – $1 million),
pension payments $2 million (2007 – $2 million), and termination payments $3 million (2007 – $2 million).

Total Directors’ emoluments were $10 million (2007 – $8 million). These emoluments were paid for their services on behalf of
Lonmin Plc Group. No emoluments related specifically to their work in the Company.

For further details, see the Remuneration Committee report.

Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 – Related Party Disclosures, not to disclose related party
transactions between subsidiary companies.

The Company also has a related party relationship with its Directors and key management as disclosed in the Remuneration
Committee report.

Cashflow
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 1 – Cash Flow Statements and has not prepared a cash flow
statement.

Dividends
Details of the dividends paid in the year are included in note 9 to the Group financial statements.

Share-based payments
For details of the Company’s share plan and share option schemes, refer to note 27.

Unrecognised tax balances
The Company had an unrecognised deferred tax asset of $82 million at 30 September 2008 based on timing differences of $293
million (2007 – $94 million based on timing differences of $314 million). The Company had $74 million of unrecognised surplus ACT
at 30 September 2008 (2007 – $85 million). The Company had $286 million of unrecognised shadow ACT at 30 September 2008
(2007 – $280 million).

Contingent liabilities
Details of the contingent liabilities of the parent company are included in note 25 to the Group financial statements.
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114 Operating Statistics

5 year review

Units 2008 2007 20061 2005 2004

Tonnes mined Marikana Underground 000 10,226 11,211 11,484 10,921 11,053
Opencast 000 1,300 1,597 1,583 2,653 2,730

Limpopo Underground 000 523 757 857 212 N/A
Opencast 000 – – 14 – N/A

Pandora attributable2 Underground 000 124 128 100 54 7
Opencast 000 275 286 176 – –

Lonmin Platinum Underground 000 10,875 12,096 12,441 11,187 11,060
Opencast 000 1,575 1,883 1,772 2,653 2,730
Total 000 12,449 13,979 14,213 13,840 13,790

% tonnes mined from UG2 reef % 73.1 72.0 71.2 74.3 82.4

Tonnes milled3 Marikana Underground 000 10,206 11,216 11,502 10,975 11,103
Opencast 000 1,163 1,469 1,854 2,444 3,283

Limpopo Underground 000 534 781 887 214 N/A
Opencast 000 – – 14 – N/A

Pandora4 Underground 000 293 301 236 127 18
Opencast 000 595 649 394 – –

Ore Purchases5 Underground 000 – 75 14 – –
Opencast 000 30 20 18 – –

Lonmin Platinum Underground 000 11,033 12,373 12,639 11,316 11,121
Opencast 000 1,788 2,138 2,280 2,444 3,283
Total 000 12,821 14,511 14,919 13,760 14,404

Milled head grade Marikana Underground g/t 4.71 4.98 5.00 4.98 5.00
Opencast g/t 3.06 4.11 4.25 4.88 4.86

Limpopo Underground g/t 3.47 3.50 4.09 3.84 N/A
Opencast g/t – – 3.29 N/A N/A

Pandora Underground g/t 5.11 4.88 5.05 4.54 4.89
Opencast g/t 5.04 5.33 4.92 N/A N/A

Ore Purchases Underground g/t – 3.92 3.92 N/A N/A
Opencast g/t 2.90 5.16 4.14 N/A N/A

Lonmin Platinum Underground g/t 4.66 4.88 4.94 4.95 5.00
Opencast g/t 3.70 4.39 4.36 4.88 4.86
Total g/t 4.52 4.80 4.85 4.94 4.97

Metals in Lonmin Platinum Platinum oz 732,125 869,832 964,958 908,972 N/C
concentrate Palladium oz 342,081 404,535 447,894 397,546 N/C

Gold oz 18,932 25,030 31,973 22,269 N/C
Rhodium oz 99,173 114,601 125,379 115,436 N/C
Ruthenium oz 152,772 182,326 198,491 187,967 N/C
Iridium oz 31,562 41,157 41,284 38,465 N/C
Total PGMs oz 1,376,645 1,637,481 1,809,979 1,670,655 N/C
Nickel6 MT 3,549 4,636 5,120 4,042 N/C
Copper6 MT 2,216 2,814 3,104 2,498 N/C

Metallurgical Lonmin refined Platinum oz 699,942 695,842 799,070 796,082 771,913
production metal production Palladium oz 330,209 318,758 369,859 348,681 334,371

Gold oz 20,257 20,485 20,955 17,059 13,828
Rhodium oz 91,063 88,469 115,453 87,632 79,877
Ruthenium oz 158,424 135,873 174,639 172,610 144,004
Iridium oz 31,599 30,430 40,836 25,110 27,204
Total PGMs oz 1,331,493 1,289,857 1,520,812 1,447,174 1,371,197

Toll refined metal production Platinum oz – 93,609 – 46,354 61,909
Palladium oz – 43,274 – 21,115 24,334
Gold oz – – – 731 411
Rhodium oz – 12,966 – 7,133 10,135
Ruthenium oz – 20,439 – 11,524 20,436
Iridium oz – 4,090 – 2,263 3,338
Total PGMs oz – 174,378 – 89,120 120,563

Total refined PGMs Platinum oz 699,942 789,451 799,070 842,436 833,822
Palladium oz 330,209 362,032 369,859 369,796 358,705
Gold oz 20,257 20,485 20,955 17,790 14,239
Rhodium oz 91,063 101,435 115,453 94,765 90,012
Ruthenium oz 158,424 156,312 174,639 184,134 164,440
Iridium oz 31,599 34,520 40,836 27,373 30,542
Total PGMs oz 1,331,493 1,464,235 1,520,812 1,536,294 1,491,760

Base metals Nickel7 MT 3,483 4,522 4,342 4,187 3,098
Copper7 MT 2,009 2,466 2,452 2,547 1,965

Capital expenditure8 Rm 2,816 1,923 1,207 1,180 1,230
$m 378 276 182 190 187
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Units 2008 2007 20061 2005 2004

Sales Refined metal sales Platinum oz 706,492 786,552 803,471 838,859 858,211
Palladium oz 329,460 362,077 373,303 364,080 366,988
Gold oz 20,151 24,449 22,133 18,122 18,498
Rhodium oz 93,337 102,916 116,281 93,453 103,641
Ruthenium oz 158,477 162,853 179,557 183,372 192,635
Iridium oz 32,140 37,858 38,092 26,676 36,390
Total PGMs oz 1,340,057 1,476,705 1,532,837 1,524,562 1,576,363

Concentrate and other9 Platinum oz 20,425 7,032 136,183 71,396 80,032
Palladium oz 11,888 3,232 61,110 37,003 36,999
Gold oz 117 201 4,641 2,362 2,887
Rhodium oz 889 1,008 15,965 21,552 20,312
Ruthenium oz 26,205 1,942 26,137 20,517 25,814
Iridium oz 1,789 64 5,291 2,548 4,163
Total PGMs oz 61,313 13,479 249,327 155,377 170,207

Lonmin Platinum Platinum oz 726,918 793,584 939,654 910,255 938,243
Palladium oz 341,348 365,309 434,413 401,083 403,987
Gold oz 20,268 24,650 26,774 20,484 21,385
Rhodium oz 94,227 103,924 132,246 115,005 123,953
Ruthenium oz 184,682 164,795 205,694 203,889 218,449
Iridium oz 33,929 37,922 43,384 29,224 40,553
Total PGMs oz 1,401,371 1,490,184 1,782,164 1,679,939 1,746,570
Nickel MT 3,338 5,308 4,604 3,892 4,017
Copper MT 1,978 2,474 2,974 2,481 2,070

Average prices Platinum $/oz 1,655 1,213 1,091 852 818
Palladium $/oz 372 339 300 185 228
Gold $/oz 867 647 571 425 402
Rhodium $/oz 7,614 5,757 3,971 1,684 762
Ruthenium $/oz 340 404 134 66 46
Iridium $/oz 414 402 233 153 132
Basket price
of PGMs $/oz 1,529 1,196 972 668 590
Nickel $/MT 22,556 26,461 17,975 12,527 11,444
Copper $/MT 7,212 6,971 7,882 3,168 2,261

Cost per PGM ounce sold
Group:
Mining – Marikana R/oz 3,880 2,306 1,700 1,606 1,422
Mining – Limpopo R/oz 6,363 4,463 3,740 3,587 –
Mining (weighted average) R/oz 3,979 2,430 1,827 1,636 1,422
Concentrating – Marikana R/oz 724 470 330 283 274
Concentrating – Limpopo R/oz 1,743 1,506 847 814 –
Concentrating (weighted average) R/oz 761 526 361 291 274
Process division R/oz 686 600 406 269 242
Shared business services R/oz 845 612 463 345 316
Stock movement R/oz (863) 28 (9) 14 165

C1 cost per PGM ounce sold before base metal credits R/oz 5,408 4,196 3,048 2,555 2,419
Base metal credits R/oz (482) (762) (400) (242) (233)

C1 cost per PGM ounce sold after base metal credit R/oz 4,926 3,434 2,648 2,313 2,186
Amortisation R/oz 420 360 272 252 232
Other EBIT items R/oz – – – (28) –

C2 costs per PGM ounce sold R/oz 5,346 3,794 2,920 2,537 2,418

Pandora mining cost:
C1 Pandora mining cost (in joint venture) R/oz 3,223 2,453 1,795 N/C N/C
Pandora JV cost / ounce to Lonmin
(adjusting Lonmin share of profit) R/oz 6,200 4,225 3,110 N/C N/C
Exchange rates
Average rate for period10 R/$ 7.45 7.14 6.63 6.28 6.60

£/$ 0.51 0.51 0.55 0.54 0.56
Closing rate R/$ 8.27 6.83 7.77 6.36 6.48

£/$ 0.56 0.50 0.53 0.57 0.55

Footnotes:
1 2006 comprised an additional 7 days mining performance for WPL and EPL arising on the change of basis to report on a calendar month. The data has been restated to remove these extra

days and restate on a like for like basis.
2 Pandora attributable tonnes mined includes Lonmin's share (42.5%) of the total tonnes mined on the Pandora joint venture. Prior years have been restated.
3 Tonnes milled excludes slag milling.
4 Lonmin purchases 100% of the ore produced by the Pandora joint venture for onward processing which is included in downstream operating statistics.
5 Relates to the tonnes milled and derived metal in concentrate from third-party ore purchases.
6 Corresponds to contained base metals in concentrate.
7 Nickel is produced and sold as nickel sulphate crystals or solution and the volumes shown correspond to contained metal. Copper is produced as refined product but typically at LME grade C.
8 Capital expenditure is the aggregate of the purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as shown in the consolidated cash flow statement.
9 Concentrate and other sales have been adjusted to a saleable ounces basis using standard industry recovery rates. Prior years have been restated. During the fourth quarter of 2008 financial

year, 25,000 oz of refined Ruthenium and 1,500 oz of refined Iridium were bought and sold to meet contractual commitments. The metallurgy section of the above table excludes these
transactions as they relate to third party mined and processed metals but they are included in the sales section.

10 Exchange rates are based on the weighted average rates applicable over the course of the year on revenue between Rand and US Dollar.
N/A Not applicable
N/CNot calculated
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116 Consolidated Group five year financial record
for the year ended 30 September

Continuing operations excluding acquisitions

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
IFRS IFRS IFRS UKGAAPii UKGAAPi

$m $m $m $m $m

Income statement:
Revenue 2,231 1,941 1,855 1,128 1,030
Operating profit (excluding associate and joint venture) 764 794 842 350 304
Underlying operating profit (excluding associate and joint venture) 963 796 830 362 262
Profit before taxation 779 705 633 319 290
Underlying profit before taxation 997 811 827 339 290
Attributable profit for the year 455 314 313 158 125
Underlying attributable profit for the year 550 453 445 168 137
Basic earnings per share (cents) 291.1 205.1 219.5 111.5 88.4
Underlying earnings per share (cents) 351.9 295.9 312.1 118.5 96.9

Balance sheet:
Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment 1,893 1,673 1,463 1,339 1,370
Non-current assets – other 1,340 1,501 677 559 133
Net current assets 501 200 279 40 13
Net debt (303) (375) (458) (585) (275)
Equity shareholders’ funds 2,147 1,968 1,089 838 744
Equity shareholders’ funds per share (cents) 1,373 1,285 764 591 525
Cost of dividend paid 186 171 124 102 102
Dividends per share paid (cents) 119.0 110.0 87.0 72.0 72.0
Dividend for the year per share (cents) 59.0 115.0 100.0 72.0 72.0

Cashflow:
Cash flow from operating activities (trading cash flow) 706 692 506 279 324
Free cash flow 264 380 290 56 100
Trading cash flow per share (cents) 451.7 452.0 354.9 191.2 229.2
Free cash flow per share (cents) 168.9 248.2 203.4 39.5 70.7

Footnotes:
i For the year ended 30 September 2004, the information has been presented on a UK GAAP basis.

ii The balance sheet as at 30 September 2005 has been restated following the finalisation of fair values arising on the acquisition of Southern Platinum Corporation.
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Lonmin’s shares are quoted on the London and Johannesburg
stock exchanges, and American depositary receipts representing
Lonmin shares are also traded in an over-the-counter market in
the USA.

UK share register information
All holdings of the Company’s shares are maintained on the
Company’s UK share register, with the exception of those held
on the South African branch register. The register is administered
by Equiniti.

You can access information about your shareholding including
balance movements and dividend payments on Shareview, an
electronic communications service provided by Equiniti. It also
allows you to change your registered address details, set up a
dividend mandate, vote at general meetings and register to receive
Company communications electronically.

To register for this free service, visit www.shareview.co.uk and
follow the simple instructions. You will need your shareholder
reference number, which can be found on your share certificate or
dividend tax voucher.

South African branch register information
The South African branch register is administered by Link Market
Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd .

Contact details for both the UK and South African registrars
can be found in Corporate Information on page 117.

Dividends
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement on page 2, the Board does
not recommend the payment of a final dividend. The total dividend
for the year ended 30 September 2008 therefore comprises the
net interim dividend of 59 US cents paid on 8 August 2008.

Currency of dividends
The currency declares dividends in US Dollars. Any Dollar
dividends are paid in Sterling to UK shareholders (unless they elect
to receive US Dollars) and in Rand to shareholders on the South
African branch register.

Dividend payment to your bank account
The Company can pay UK registered shareholders’ dividends
direct to their bank or building society account. This means that
dividends will normally be in shareholders’ accounts on the same
day as the payment is made.

Shareholders wishing to adopt this method of payment should
contact the registrars.

Transcontinental Automated Payment System (TAPS)
TAPS permits shareholders resident in certain countries to receive
dividend payments to their local bank and in their local currency.
All eligible shareholders have been or will be sent information on
TAPS by Equiniti.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP)
A DRIP is available through which eligible shareholders may invest
the whole of their cash dividends in additional Lonmin Plc shares
at the time they are paid. Copies of the DRIP brochure and
application form are available from the registrars or can be
downloaded from the registrars’ website at www.shareview.co.uk.

Consolidated Tax Vouchers (UK-domiciled shareholders only)
In line with our commitment to communicate with shareholders in
a more environmentally friendly way, the Company issues one
consolidated tax voucher each year to those shareholders who
have their dividends paid directly to their bank account. If you
would prefer to receive tax vouchers each time a dividend is paid,
please contact our UK registrars on 0871 3842052.

Those shareholders who either participate in a DRIP or receive
payments by cheque to their registered address will continue to
receive a tax voucher with each payment. Consolidated tax
vouchers are not available to institutional shareholders.

American depository receipts (ADRs)
The Company has a sponsored Level 1 ADR programme for
which The Bank of New York Mellon acts as the depository. Each
ADR represents one ordinary share of the Company. The ADRs
trade in the over-the-counter (OTC) market under the symbol
LOMNY. When dividends are paid to shareholders, the depository
makes the equivalent payment in US Dollars to ADR holders.

Contact details can be found in Corporate Information on
page 117.

Further information for UK-domiciled shareholders
Capital Gains Tax
For Capital Gains Tax purposes, shareholders disposing of shares
in either Lonmin Plc or Lonrho Africa Plc after 7 May 1998, who
held shares prior to that date, should apportion the base cost of
their original Lonmin Plc shares between the two companies.
Based on the closing share prices on 7 May 1998 of Lonmin Plc
and Lonrho Africa Plc, this apportionment would be 80.498% for
Lonmin Plc and 19.502% for Lonrho Africa Plc.

The Company’s capital reduction was completed on
22 February 2002. For the purposes of assessing any liability to
capital gains tax, UK shareholders should apportion 13.33% of the
base cost of their original shareholding to the capital reduction and
the balance to their new holding of ordinary shares of $1 each.

The market price of Lonmin Plc ordinary shares at 31 March
1982 was 38.9 pence (as adjusted for subsequent capitalisation
issues), and 155.6 pence as adjusted for the consolidation of the
Company’s shares on 24 April 1998 and 125.3 pence as adjusted
for the de-merger of Lonrho Africa Plc on 7 May 1998.
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Lonmin Corporate Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Rensburg Sheppards Investment Management Limited offers the
Lonmin Corporate Stocks & Shares ISA for investment in Lonmin
Plc shares. UK registered shareholders may subscribe to the
Lonmin Corporate ISA up to a maximum currently of £7,200
annually in cash or by direct transfer of eligible employee shares
within 90 days of the release from a Sharesave scheme. Contact
details can be found in Corporate Information on page 117.
Rensburg Sheppards Investment Management Limited is
regulated by the FSA.

This is not a recommendation that shareholders should
subscribe to the ISA. The advantages of holding shares in an ISA
vary according to individual circumstances and shareholders who
are in any doubt should consult their financial adviser.

ShareGift
Lonmin is proud to support ShareGift, an independent charity
share donation scheme administered by the Orr Mackintosh
Foundation (registered charity number 1052686). Those
shareholders who hold only a small number of shares, the value of
which make them uneconomic to sell, can donate the shares to
ShareGift who will sell them and donate the proceeds to a wide
range of charities. Further information about ShareGift can be
obtained from their website at www.ShareGift.org and a ShareGift
transfer form can be downloaded from the Company’s website.

Warning to shareholders – Boiler room scams
Over the last year, many companies have become aware that their
shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matters. These are
typically from overseas based ‘brokers’ who target UK
shareholders, offering to sell them what often turn out to be
worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. These
operations are commonly known as ‘boiler rooms’. These
‘brokers’ can be very persistent and extremely persuasive, and a
2006 survey by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) has reported
that the average amount lost by investors is around £20,000.

It is not just the novice investor that has been duped in this way;
many of the victims had been successfully investing for several
years. Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited
advice, offers to buy shares at a discount, or, offers of free company
reports. If you receive any unsolicited investment advice:
• Make sure you get the correct name of the person and

organisation
• Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before

getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/register
• Report the matter to the FSA either by calling 0845 606 1234

or by visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk
• If the calls persist, hang up.

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible to
receive payment under the Financial Services Compensation
Scheme. The FSA can be contacted completing an online form at
www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/regluated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml

Details of any share dealing facilities that the Company
endorses will be included in Company mailings.

More detailed information on this or similar activity can be
found on the FSA website www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

www.lonmin.com
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January AGM & Q1 Production Report

April Q2/H1 Production Report

May Interim Results

July Q3 Production Report

October Q4 Production Report

November Final Results

This has been printed using inks made from vegetable oil and are non-hazardous from renewable sources. Over 90% of solvents are
recycled for further use and recycling initiatives are in place for all other waste associated with this production. The printers are FSC and
ISO 14001 certified with strict procedures in place to safeguard the environment through all their processes. They have also registered
and have had audits done by the Carbon Trust to reduce their Carbon Footprint.

The paper used in this report is made from 100% ECF (Elemental Chlorine Free) wood pulp sourced from sustainable and renewed
forest. The mill generates a proportion of its renewable power from water turbines. It is fully recyclable and is manufactured
within an ISO 14001 certified mill in the UK.

Designed and produced by MAGEE
www.magee.co.uk Printed by PUSH



Lonmin Charter

Our Mission

To grow and build our
portfolio of high quality assets.

To deliver the requirements
of the South African broad-
based socio-economic Mining
Charter and we welcome the
opportunity to transform our
business.

To build a value-based
culture, which is founded
on safe work, continuous
improvement, common
standards and procedures,
community involvement and
one that rewards employees
for high performance.

We are successful
when
Our employees live and work
safely and experience the
personal satisfaction that
comes with high performance
and recognition.

Our shareholders are realising
a superior total return on their
investment and support our
corporate sustainability values.

The communities in which we
operate value our relationships.

We are meeting our
commitments to all business
partners and our suppliers,
contractors, partners and
customers support our
Charter.

Our Values

Zero Harm
We are committed to zero
harm to people and the
environment.

Integrity, Honesty & Trust
We are committed ethical
people who do what we say
we will do.

Transparency
Open, honest communication
and free sharing of information.

Respect For Each Other
Embracing our diversity
enriched by openness,
sharing, trust, teamwork
and involvement.

High Performance
Stretching our individual and
team capabilities to achieve
innovative and superior
outcomes.

Employee Self-Worth
To enhance the quality of life
for our employees and their
families and promote self
esteem.

We are Lonmin, a primary producer of Platinum Group Metals. We create value by
the discovery, acquisition, development and marketing of minerals and metals.

We respect the communities and nations that host our operations and conduct
business in a sustainable, socially and environmentally responsible way.

Sir John Craven
Chairman

November 2008

Ian Farmer
Chief Executive
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Focused on
Operational Performance


